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Part I

Item 1. Business

Organization of Business
Aetna Inc. (a Pennsylvania corporation) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company”) constitutes one of the nation’s largest health benefits companies,
based on membership as of December 31, 2004. Prior to December 13, 2000, the Company (formerly Aetna U.S. Healthcare Inc.) was a subsidiary of a
Connecticut corporation named Aetna Inc. (“former Aetna”). On December 13, 2000, former Aetna spun the Company off to its shareholders and, as part of
the same transaction, the remaining entity, which contained former Aetna’s financial services and international businesses, was merged with a subsidiary of
ING Groep N.V. (“ING”). Aetna Inc. was incorporated in Pennsylvania in 1982 under the name of United States Health Care Systems, Inc.

Operating Segments
At December 31, 2004, the Company’s operations included three business segments: Health Care, Group Insurance and Large Case Pensions. The principal
products included in these segments are as follows:

 •  Health Care consists of medical and dental benefit products which include health maintenance organization (“HMO”), point-of-service (“POS”),
preferred provider organization (“PPO”) and indemnity benefit (“Indemnity”) products. These products are also sold with the Company’s consumer-
directed health plans, Aetna HealthFund ® and Health Savings Accounts (“HSA”). The Company also provides specialty products such as
pharmacy benefits management, dental, vision and behavioral health programs. The Company provides access to networks of independent dental
and vision participating providers through its Vital Savings by AetnaSM discount program.

 •  Group Insurance products include life, disability and long-term care insurance.

 •  Large Case Pensions manages a variety of retirement products (including pension and annuity products) primarily for defined benefit and defined
contribution plans.

The Company derives its revenues primarily from premiums earned on risk-based products, fees from administrative services contracts and investment and
other income. Revenue and profit information by business segment is presented in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations (“MD&A”) and is set forth in Note 20 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, which are incorporated herein by reference to the Annual
Report.

Evolution of the Health Insurance and Related Benefits Industry
The health insurance and related benefits industry continues to experience significant change. Employers, consumers and the government have increased focus
on health care costs which continue to drive changes in the structure of health and related insurance products and services. Product features continue to evolve
that are directed at containing rising health care costs, and, for employer based health coverage, shifting costs among employers and covered employee
members. These economic factors and greater consumer awareness are also leading to increased popularity of products that offer greater flexibility in design
features such as deductibles and co-payments, more consumer choice of health care providers, quality-based physician networks and other matters. The
industry is also subject to other factors including legislative and regulatory reforms, advances in medical technology, or industry consolidation that can affect
the competiveness of product and service offerings, the range of industry competitors and basis of competition.
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The Company believes that these factors will exist for some time, supporting an evolution in the industry. The Company places significant emphasis on
maintaining and developing its product and service offerings to serve new customer markets. In recent periods this focus has led to the introduction of new
products, such as the Company’s consumer-directed Aetna HealthFund® and recently introduced HSA plans, changes to deductibles, co-payments or other
features of its traditional health plans, and the introduction of Aexcel SM, the Company’s quality-based specialist physician network. As the Company
enhances its product capabilities and geographic presence, it continually evaluates targeted acquisitions and other transactions that represent key opportunities.
The Company has announced the following transactions in recent periods, and believes that its business development activities will continue:

Aetna Behavioral Health – In December 2004, the Company announced it will launch a full-service behavioral health business and end its contract with
Magellan Health Services (“Magellan”) for behavioral health services as of December 31, 2005. Pursuant to an existing agreement with Magellan, the
Company has decided to exercise its option to purchase the assets of Magellan that currently service the Company’s behavioral health business effective
December 31, 2005. The assets include certain dedicated behavioral health care service centers and a provider network to service the Company. The cost
to exercise the option is expected to be approximately $50 million, including the settlement of an existing $49 million note from Magellan to the Company
and a modest incremental cash payment to Magellan by the Company.

Aetna Specialty Pharmacy, LLC – In August 2004, the Company and Priority Healthcare Corporation (“PHCC”) formed a joint venture, Aetna Specialty
Pharmacy, LLC, which will be an Aetna-branded specialty pharmacy operation. This joint venture will complement the Company’s mail-order pharmacy
facility, which began operations in 2003. Neither the amount of Aetna’s funding nor the option purchase price is material to the Company’s financial
condition.

Strategic Resource Company (“SRC”) – In August 2004, the Company announced the acquisition of SRC, a privately held administrator of limited
benefit group products for part-time and hourly workers. The acquisition of SRC closed in January 2005. For approximately $252 million, financed
through available cash, Aetna acquired 100% of the stock of SRC and reinsured the insurance contracts administered by SRC. Approximately $72
million of the purchase price is held in escrow pending resolution of certain future events.

The Chickering Group (“Chickering”) – In December 2003, the Company purchased Chickering, which sells and services health benefits to students
enrolled in colleges and universities, for approximately $66 million.

During the year, the Company also completed other smaller targeted acquisitions that are not material to the Company’s financial condition.

Description of the Business

Health Care
Products and Services
Health Care consists of medical, dental and pharmacy benefits management plans offered on both a risk basis (where the Company assumes all or a majority
of the financial risk for health care costs) (“Risk”) and an employer-funded basis (where the plan sponsor under an administrative services contract (“ASC”)
assumes all or a majority of this risk). Health plans include HMO, POS, PPO and Indemnity products. Health plans also include HSAs and Aetna
HealthFund®, consumer-directed health plans that combine traditional POS, PPO and/or dental coverage, subject to a deductible, with an accumulating benefit
account. The principal commercial health products (excluding Medicare and Medicaid products, herein after referred to as “Commercial”), are described in the
following paragraphs.
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HMO Plans
HMO plans offer comprehensive benefits generally through contracts with participating network physicians, hospitals and other providers. When an
individual enrolls in one of the Company’s HMOs, he or she may select a primary care physician (“PCP”) from among the physicians participating in
our network. PCPs generally are family practitioners, internists, general practitioners or pediatricians who provide necessary preventive and primary
medical and dental care, and are generally responsible for coordinating other necessary health care, including making referrals to participating network
specialists. The Company also offers an open access HMO plan in certain markets that provides for the full range of benefits available to HMO members
without the requirements of PCP selection or PCP referrals. The Company offers HMO plans with differing benefit designs and varying levels of co-
payments that result in different levels of premium rates, including to federal government employee groups under the Federal Employees Health Benefits
Program.

Indemnity Plans
Indemnity plans offer the member the ability to select any health care provider for covered services. Some care management features may be included in
these plans, such as inpatient precertification, disease management programs and benefits for preventive services. Coverage typically is subject to
deductibles and coinsurance. In these plans, as with the Company’s other health plans, member cost sharing for covered services generally is limited by
out-of-pocket maximums.

POS Plans
POS plans blend the characteristics of HMO and Indemnity plans. Members can have comprehensive HMO-style benefits for services received from
participating network providers with minimum co-payments, but also have coverage, generally at higher co-payment or co-insurance levels, for services
received outside the network. The Company also offers an open access POS plan in certain markets that provides in-network benefits without PCP
selection or referral.

PPO Plans
PPO plans offer coverage for services received from any health care provider, with benefits generally paid at a higher level when care is received from a
participating network provider. Coverage typically is subject to deductibles and co-payments or coinsurance.

Consumer-Directed Plans
The Company also offers several products that are designed to increase the direct involvement of consumers in the responsibility for accumulation and
spending of health benefit funds. The Company introduced Aetna HealthFund® in 2001 and in December 2004, the Company introduced plans
incorporating HSAs, as authorized by the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (the “Medicare Act”). Aetna
HeathFund® and HSA plans are consumer-directed plans that combine a traditional HMO, POS or PPO coverage, subject to a deductible, with an
accumulating benefit account (which may be funded by the plan sponsor or member in the case of HSAs), allowing members greater flexibility in
utilizing a portion of their benefit dollars.

Stop Loss Coverage
In connection with the administration of ASC plans, the Company offers full-risk stop loss coverage for certain employers. This coverage transfers to the
Company the costs associated with large individual claims and/or aggregate loss experience within the ASC plan above a pre-set annual threshold.

Vital Savings by AetnaSM
The Vital Savings discount program provides members access to networks of independent dental and vision participating providers. Vital Savings is not
an insurance product.

In addition to commercial health products, in select markets the Company also offers HMO-based coverage for Medicare beneficiaries, participates in a
subsidized children’s health insurance program (“CHIP”) and has a Medicaid and a CHIP ASC arrangement. Such coverages include the following:
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Medicare
Through annual contracts with the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”), certain of the Company’s HMOs offer coverage for Medicare-
eligible individuals in certain geographic areas through the Medicare Advantage (formerly Medicare+Choice) program. Generally, services must be
obtained through participating network providers, with the exception of emergency and urgent care. Members historically have received enhanced benefits
over standard Medicare fee-for-service coverage, including vision and certain pharmacy coverage. In addition, as part of the CMS Medicare Advantage
Demonstration Project, the Company expanded its open access Medicare Advantage plan (the Aetna Golden ChoiceTM Plan) by offering it in 2004 in two
counties in New York and Pennsylvania. These Medicare plans are offered on a Risk basis. Medicare membership totaled .1 million as of December 31,
2004, 2003 and 2002. Given recent changes in Medicare resulting from the Medicare Act, the Company has elected to expand its Medicare Advantage and
other Medicare programs in select markets in 2005.

Medicaid and CHIP
The Company participates on a Risk basis in a CHIP contract in Pennsylvania, and provides administrative services in connection with a hospital-based
Medicaid and CHIP contract in Texas.

The Company offers a variety of other health care coverages either as supplements to health products or as stand-alone products. Such coverages, which are
offered on a Risk or an employer-funded basis, include indemnity and managed dental plans, pharmacy benefit management, vision and behavioral health
programs. The Company is one of the nation’s largest providers of dental coverage, based on membership at December 31, 2004. As of December 31, 2004,
dental membership totaled 11.9 million compared to 10.9 million as of December 31, 2003 and 11.8 million as of December 31, 2002.

As noted above, in December 2004, the Company announced that it plans to exercise its option to purchase the assets of Magellan that currently service the
Company’s behavioral health business, launch a full-service behavioral health business and end its contract with Magellan as of December 31, 2005.

In recent periods, the Company has been expanding upon its existing pharmacy benefits management capabilities. In February 2003, the Company completed
the purchase of a mail order pharmacy facility from Eckerd Health Services. In August 2004, the Company and Priority Healthcare Corporation (“PHCC”)
announced the formation of a new joint venture, Aetna Specialty Pharmacy, LLC, which will be an Aetna-branded specialty pharmacy operation.

Provider Networks
The Company contracts with physicians, hospitals and other health care providers for services provided to its health plan members. The participating
providers in the Company’s networks are independent contractors and are neither employees nor agents of the Company, except for providers in the
Company’s mail-order pharmacy facility.

The Company uses a variety of techniques designed to help reduce inappropriate utilization of medical resources and maintain affordability of quality
coverage. In addition to contracts with health care providers for negotiated rates of reimbursement, these techniques include the development and
implementation of standards for the appropriate utilization of health care resources and working with health care providers to review data in order to help them
improve consistency and quality. The Company also offers, directly or in cooperation with third parties, a variety of disease management programs related to
specific conditions such as asthma, diabetes, congestive heart failure and lower back pain.

At December 31, 2004, the Company had expansive nationwide provider networks of more than 655,000 health care providers, including over 390,000
primary care and specialist physicians and 3,937 hospitals.

Primary Care Physicians 
The Company compensates PCPs on both a fee-for-service and capitated basis, with capitation generally limited to HMO products. In a fee-for-service
arrangement, network physicians are paid for health care services provided to the member based upon a fee schedule. Under a capitation arrangement,
physicians receive a monthly fixed fee for each member, regardless of the medical services provided to the member.
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In recent years, the Company has eliminated or reduced the use of capitation arrangements in many areas. The percentage of health care costs related to
capitated arrangements was 9.1% for the year ended December 31, 2004 compared to 10.9% and 11.3% for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002,
respectively.

Specialist Physicians 
Specialist physicians participating in the Company’s networks are generally reimbursed at contracted rates per visit or procedure. In 2004, the Company
introduced AexcelSM, an innovative specialist network option within the customer’s health plan, in certain geographic areas.

Hospitals
The Company typically enters into contracts with hospitals that provide for per diem and/or per case rates, often with fixed rates for ambulatory surgery
and emergency room services. The Company also has hospital contracts that provide for reimbursement based on a percentage of billed charges.

The Company’s medical plans generally require notification of elective hospital admissions, and the Company monitors the length of hospital stays.
Participating physicians generally admit their HMO and POS patients to participating hospitals using referral procedures that direct the hospital to contact
the Company’s patient management unit, which confirms the patient’s membership status while obtaining pertinent data. This unit also assists members
and providers with related activities, including the subsequent transition to the home environment and home care, if necessary. Case management
assistance for complex or “catastrophic” cases is provided by a special case unit.

Other Providers
The Company’s HMO and POS plans typically employ capitated payment arrangements for most mental and behavioral health, substance abuse and
freestanding laboratory services. These services are generally reimbursed on a contracted, fee-for-service basis under the Company’s other products.

Quality Assessment
The Company’s quality assessment programs begin with the initial review of health care practitioners. Practitioners’ licenses and education are verified, and
their work history is collected by the Company or in some cases by the practitioner’s affiliated group or organization. A committee of participating practitioners
in each region reviews this information before the practitioner can participate in the network. Participating practitioners also periodically undergo a
recredentialing process. Participating hospitals are required to have accreditation by CMS and Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare Organizations
or undergo a detailed site assessment by the Company’s quality management staff.

Recredentialing of practitioners may include an analysis of member grievances filed with the Company, interviews, member surveys and analysis of drug
prescription and other utilization patterns. Committees composed of a peer group of participating practitioners review participating practitioners being
considered for recredentialing.

The Company also offers quality and outcome measurement programs, quality improvement programs and health care data analysis systems to providers and
purchasers of health care.

The Company seeks accreditation for most of its HMO plans from the National Committee for Quality Assurance (the “NCQA”), a national organization
established to review the quality and medical management systems of HMOs and certain other health care plans. NCQA accreditation is a nationally
recognized standard. As of December 31, 2004, approximately 98.5% of the Company’s HMO members participated in HMOs that had received accreditation
by the NCQA.
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The Company seeks accreditation for its PPO-based and other products from the American Accreditation HealthCare Commission (also known as “URAC”),
a national organization founded in 1990 to establish standards for the health care industry. Purchasers and consumers look to URAC’s accreditation as an
indication that a health care organization has the necessary structures and processes to promote high quality care and preserve patient rights. In addition,
regulators in over half of the states recognize URAC’s accreditation standards in the regulatory process. Aetna Life Insurance Company (“ALIC”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, has received URAC accreditation extending through May 1, 2006.

Principal Markets and Sales
The Company’s medical membership is dispersed throughout the United States. The Company offers a wide array of benefit plans, many of which are
available in all 50 states. Depending on the product, the Company markets to a range of customers from individuals and small employer groups to large,
multi-site national accounts.

The following table presents total medical membership by region and funding arrangement at December 31:

                                     
  2004   2003   2002  
(Thousands)  Risk  ASC  Total  Risk  ASC  Total  Risk  ASC  Total 
Northeast   1,143   1,298   2,441   1,054   1,221   2,275   1,126   1,267   2,393 
Mid-Atlantic   1,043   1,470   2,513   927   1,457   2,384   942   1,506   2,448 
Southeast   809   1,433   2,242   779   1,415   2,194   847   1,395   2,242 
North Central   471   2,079   2,550   413   2,009   2,422   487   2,032   2,519 
Southwest   557   1,376   1,933   529   1,294   1,823   6 6 9   1,247   1,916 
West   673   1,211   1,884   693   1,144   1,837   888   1,201   2,089 
Other   85   8   93   63   4   67   6 6   5   71 
Total medical membership   4,781   8,875   13,656   4,458   8,544   13,002   5,025   8,653   13,678 

For membership composition of Health Care’s products by funding arrangement, refer to Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations (“MD&A”) - Health Care - Membership in the Annual Report, which is incorporated herein by reference.

Both Risk and ASC products and services are marketed primarily to employers for the benefit of employees and their dependents. Frequently, employers offer
employees a choice of coverages, from which the employee makes his or her selection during a designated annual open enrollment period. Employers pay all of
the monthly premiums to the Company and, through payroll deductions, obtain reimbursement from employees for a percentage, as determined by the
employer, of such monthly premium.

Within Risk products, Medicare coverage is sold on an individual basis as well as through employer groups to their retirees. Medicaid and subsidized CHIP
arrangements are marketed on an individual basis.

Health Care products are sold through the Company’s sales personnel, as well as independent brokers and consultants who assist in the production and
servicing of business. Sales representatives also sell to employers on a direct basis. For large plan sponsors, independent consultants and brokers are
frequently involved in employer health plan selection decisions and sales. Marketing and sales efforts are promoted by an advertising program which includes
television, radio, billboards and print media, supported by market research and direct marketing efforts.

Health Pricing
For Commercial Risk plans, employer group contracts are generally established in advance of the policy period, typically for a duration of one year. In
determining the premium rates to be charged to the employer group, prospective, experience-rated and retrospective rating methodologies may be used. Some
states may prohibit the use of one or more of these rating methods, including for particular business segments, such as small employer groups.
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Under prospective rating, a fixed premium rate is determined at the beginning of the policy period. Unanticipated increases in medical costs cannot be
recovered in the current policy year; however, prior experience for a product in the aggregate may be considered, among other factors, in determining premium
rates for future periods. Where required by law, the Company establishes premium rates prior to contract inception without regard to actual utilization of
services incurred by individual members, using approved rating methods. State laws, in some of the states in which the Company operates plans, require the
filing with and approval by the state of plan premium rates. In addition to reviewing anticipated medical costs, some states also review anticipated
administrative costs as part of the approval process. Future results of the Company could be adversely affected if the premium rates requested by the
Company are not approved or are adjusted downward by state regulators.

Under retrospective rating, a premium rate is determined at the beginning of the policy period. After the policy period has ended, the actual experience is
reviewed. If the experience is positive (i.e., actual claim costs and other expenses are less than those expected) then a refund may be credited to the policy. If the
experience is negative, then the resulting deficit may, in certain instances, be recovered through contractual provisions; otherwise the deficit is considered in
setting future premium levels. If a customer elects to terminate coverage, these deficits generally cannot be recovered. Retrospective rating is often used for
employer-funded POS, PPO and Indemnity plans that cover more than 300 lives.

Premium rates generally for “experience-rated” plans give consideration to the individual plan sponsor’s historical and anticipated claim experience. With
regard to smaller employer groups, however, the group may not be large enough for the use of experience rating to be appropriate, and another rating method is
used.

The Company has contracts with CMS to provide HMO Medicare Advantage coverage to Medicare beneficiaries who choose health care coverage through an
HMO. Under these annual contracts, CMS pays the HMO at a capitated rate based on membership and adjusted for demographic factors. Inflation, changes
in utilization patterns and benefit plans, demographic factors such as age and gender, and both local county and national fee for service average per capita
Medicare costs are considered in the rate calculation process. Amounts payable under Medicare arrangements are subject to annual revision by CMS, and the
Company elects to participate in each Medicare service area on an annual basis. In addition to premiums received from CMS, most of the Medicare products
offered by the Company require a supplemental premium to be paid by the member. Under Medicare Advantage arrangements, the Company assumes the risk
of higher than expected medical expenses. Medicare contracts generate higher per member per month revenues, but also generate higher per member per month
medical expenses, than typical Commercial plans.

The Company also has HMO contracts to serve a variety of federal government employee groups under the Federal Employees Health Benefit Program.
Premium rates are subject to federal government review and audit, which can result in retroactive and prospective premium adjustments.

Contracts with plan sponsors to provide administrative services for employer-funded plans are generally for a period of one year. Some of the Company’s
contracts include guarantees with respect to certain functions such as customer service response time, claim processing accuracy and claim processing
turnaround time as well as certain guarantees that claim expenses to be incurred by plan sponsors will fall within a specified range. With any of these
guarantees, the Company is financially at risk if the conditions of the arrangements are not met, although the maximum at risk is typically 10% - 30% of fees
for the customer involved.

Competition
Competition in the health care industry is intense, primarily due to a large number of competitors, aggressive marketing and pricing, and a proliferation of
competing products, including new products that are continually being introduced into the market. New entrants into the marketplace as well as significant
consolidation within the industry have contributed to the intense competitive environment.
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The Company believes that the significant factors that distinguish competing health plans are perceived overall quality (including accreditation status), quality
of service, comprehensiveness of coverage, cost (including both premium and member out-of-pocket costs), product design, financial stability, the geographic
scope of provider networks, and the providers available in such networks. The Company believes that it is competitive in each of these areas. The ability to
increase the number of persons covered by the Company’s plans or to increase revenues is affected by competition in any particular area. In addition, the
ability to increase the number of persons enrolled in Risk products is affected by the desire and ability of employers to self fund their health coverage.
Competition may also affect the availability of services from health care providers, including primary care physicians, specialists and hospitals.

Within Risk products, the Company competes with local and regional managed care plans, in addition to managed care plans sponsored by large health
insurance companies and Blue Cross/Blue Shield plans. Additional competitors include other types of medical and dental provider organizations, various
specialty service providers, integrated health care delivery organizations, and in certain plans, programs sponsored by the federal or state governments.

With regard to employer-funded plans, the Company competes primarily with other commercial health benefit companies, Blue Cross/Blue Shield plans and
third party administrators.

Factors Affecting Forward-Looking Information
Information regarding certain important factors that may materially affect Health Care’s business is incorporated herein by reference to the MD&A - Forward-
Looking Information/Risk Factors and the MD&A – Overview in the Annual Report.

Group Insurance
Principal Products
Group Insurance products consist primarily of the following:

 •  Life Insurance Products consist principally of renewable term coverages, the amounts of which may be fixed or linked to individual employee wage
levels. Basic and supplemental term, spouse and dependent coverages, and group universal life and accidental death and dismemberment coverages
are also available. Life products are offered on a Risk basis. As of December 31, 2004, Life product membership totaled 10.9 million compared to
10.0 million as of December 31, 2003 and 9.3 million as of December 31, 2002.

 
 •  Disability Insurance Products provide employee income replacement benefits for both short-term and long-term disability. The Company also offers

disability products with additional case management features. Similar to Health Care products, Disability benefits are offered on both a Risk and
employer-funded basis. As of December 31, 2004, disability membership totaled 2.3 million compared to 2.1 million as of December 31, 2003 and
2.2 million as of December 31, 2002.

 
 •  Long-Term Care Insurance Products provide benefits for long-term, custodial care expenses in a nursing home, adult day care or home setting.

Long term care benefits are offered primarily on a Risk basis. The product is available on both a service reimbursement and disability basis. Long-
term care membership totaled .2 million as of December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002.

Group Insurance members may utilize more than one Company product and such cases have been counted in membership totals for each product description
above.

Principal Markets and Sales
Products offered by Group Insurance are available in 49 states (Group Insurance products are not offered in New Mexico) as well as the District of Columbia,
Guam, Puerto Rico and Canada. Depending on the product, the Company markets to a range of customers from small employer groups to large, multi-site
and/or multi-state employer programs.
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Group Insurance products and services are marketed primarily to employers for the benefit of employees and their dependents. Frequently, employers offer
employees a choice of benefits, from which the employee makes his or her selection during a designated annual open enrollment period. Typically, employers
pay all of the monthly premiums to the Company and, through payroll deductions, obtain reimbursement from employees for a percentage, as determined by
the employer, of such monthly premium. Some products are sold on a fully employee-paid basis, and some billing is done on a direct basis.

Group Insurance products are sold through the Company’s sales personnel, as well as independent brokers and consultants who assist in the production and
servicing of business. Sales representatives also sell to employers on a direct basis. For large plan sponsors, independent consultants and brokers are
frequently involved in employer plan selection decisions and sales. Marketing and sales efforts are promoted by an advertising program that may include
television, radio, billboards and print media, supported by market research and direct marketing efforts.

Pricing
For Risk Group Insurance plans, employer group contracts are generally established in advance of the policy period. In determining the premium rates to be
charged to the employer group, prospective and retrospective rating methodologies are used.

Under prospective rating, a fixed premium rate is determined at the beginning of the policy period. Unanticipated increases in mortality or morbidity costs
cannot be recovered in the current policy period; however, prior experience for the specific customer and/or the product in aggregate is considered, among other
factors, in determining premium rates for future policy periods.

Under retrospective rating, a premium rate is determined at the beginning of a policy period. After the policy period has ended, the actual experience is
reviewed. If the experience is positive (i.e., actual claim costs and other expenses are less than expected) then a refund may be credited to the policy. If the
experience is negative, then the resulting deficit is considered in setting future premium levels; otherwise, in certain circumstances, the deficit may be recovered
through contractual provisions. Such deficits may be used as offsets against refund credits that develop for future policy periods. If a customer elects to
terminate coverage, deficits may not be recovered. Retrospective rating is most often used for insured employer funded plans that cover more than 3,000 lives
and $500,000 in premiums.

Competition
For the group insurance industry, the Company believes that the most significant factors which distinguish competing companies are price, quality of service,
comprehensiveness of coverage, and product array and design. Specialty carriers have increased market penetration in the life and disability business. The
deeply penetrated group life market remains highly competitive.

Reinsurance
The Company uses reinsurance agreements with nonaffiliated insurers to control its exposure to large losses and certain other risks for Group Insurance
products. For long-term disability products there are excess of loss arrangements that provide protection against large claims. Additional reinsurance
arrangements include quota share treaties on several large cases that are established on a case by case basis. The Company carries excess professional liability
insurance.

Group Life Insurance In Force and Other Statistical Data
The following table summarizes changes in group life insurance in force before deductions for reinsurance ceded to other companies for the years indicated:

             
(Dollars in Millions)  2004  2003  2002 
In force, end of year  $513,452  $473,483  $407,942 
Terminations (lapses and all other)  $ 50,602  $ 51,983  $ 61,628 
Number of policies and contracts in force, end of year:             

Group Life Contracts (1)   14,243   11,791   11,510 
Group Conversion Policies (2)   23,160   24,448   25,546 

(1)  Due to the diversity of coverages and size of covered groups, statistics are not provided for average size of policies in force.
(2) Reflects conversion privileges exercised by insureds under group life policies to replace those policies with individual life policies.
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Factors Affecting Forward-Looking Information
Information regarding certain important factors that may materially affect Group Insurance’s business is incorporated herein by reference to the MD&A -
Forward-Looking Information/Risk Factors and the MD&A – Overview in the Annual Report.

Large Case Pensions
Principal Products
Large Case Pensions manages a variety of retirement products (including pension and annuity products) primarily for Internal Revenue Code Section 401
qualified defined benefit and defined contribution plans. Contracts provide non-guaranteed, experience-rated and guaranteed investment options through general
and separate account products. Large Case Pensions’ products that use separate accounts provide contract holders with a vehicle for investments under which
the contract holders assume the investment risk. Large Case Pensions earns a management fee on these separate accounts.

In 1993, the Company discontinued its fully guaranteed Large Case Pensions products. Information regarding these products is incorporated herein by
reference to the MD&A - Large Case Pensions - Discontinued Products, in the Annual Report.

Factors Affecting Forward-Looking Information
Information regarding certain important factors that may materially affect Large Case Pensions’ business is incorporated herein by reference to the MD&A
Overview in the Annual Report.

Other Matters

Access to Reports
Aetna’s reports to the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), including its Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q,
Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports, if any, are available without charge on the Company’s website at http://www.aetna.com as
soon as practicable after they are electronically filed or furnished to the SEC. Copies are also available, without charge, from Aetna’s Investor Relations
Department, 151 Farmington Avenue, Hartford, CT 06156.

Regulation
Information regarding significant regulations affecting the Company is incorporated herein by reference to the MD&A - Regulatory Environment and Forward-
Looking Information/Risk Factors, in the Annual Report.

Trademarks
The trademark Aetna® together with the corresponding design logo, are owned by the Company. The Company considers this trademark and its other
trademarks and trade names important in the operation of its business. However, the business of the Company, including that of each of its individual
segments, is not dependent on any individual trademark or trade name.

Ratings
Information regarding the Company’s ratings is incorporated herein by reference to the ratings table in the MD&A - Liquidity and Capital Resources – Ratings
in the Annual Report.

Miscellaneous
The Company had approximately 26,700 domestic employees at December 31, 2004.
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The Federal government is a significant customer of the Health Care segment and the Company, with premiums and fees accounting for approximately 10.3%
of the Health Care segment’s revenue in 2004. Contracts with CMS for coverage of Medicare-eligible individuals accounted for 53% of these premiums and
fees, with the balance from Federal employee related benefit programs. No other individual customer, in any of the Company’s segments, accounted for 10%
or more of the Company’s consolidated revenues in 2004. The Company’s segments are not dependent upon a single customer or a few customers, the loss of
which would have a significant effect on the earnings of a segment. The loss of business from any one, or a few, independent brokers or agents would not
have a material adverse effect on the earnings of the Company or any of its segments. Refer to Note 20 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, which is
incorporated herein by reference to the Annual Report, regarding segment information.

Item 2. Properties

The home office of the Company is a building complex located at 151 Farmington Avenue, Hartford, Connecticut that is approximately 1.2 million square feet
in size. The home office is used by all the Company’s business segments. The Company also owns or leases other space in the greater Hartford area; Blue
Bell, Pennsylvania; and various field locations throughout the country. Such properties are primarily used by the Company’s Health Care segment. The
Company believes its properties are adequate and suitable for its business as presently conducted.

The foregoing does not include numerous investment properties held by the Company in its general and separate accounts.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Managed Care Class Action Litigation
Since 1999, the Company has been involved in purported class action lawsuits that are part of a wave of similar actions targeting the health care payor
industry and, in particular, the conduct of business by managed care companies.

The Judicial Panel on Multi-district Litigation transferred all of the federal actions, including several actions originally filed in state courts, to the United States
District Court for the Southern District of Florida (the “Florida Federal Court”) for consolidated pretrial proceedings. The Florida Federal Court created a
separate track for all cases brought on behalf of health care providers (the “Provider Cases”).

Thirteen Provider Cases were presided over by the Florida Federal Court, and a similar action is pending in Louisiana state court, on behalf of purported
classes of physicians. These Provider Cases alleged generally that the Company and each of the other defendant managed care organizations employed coercive
economic power to force physicians to enter into economically unfavorable contracts, imposed unnecessary administrative burdens on providers and
improperly denied claims in whole or in part, and that the defendants did not pay claims timely or did not pay claims at proper rates. These Provider Cases
further charged that the Company and the other defendant managed care organizations conspired and aided and abetted one another in the alleged wrongdoing.
These actions alleged violations of the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act, the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, state unfair
trade statutes, state consumer fraud statutes, state laws regarding the timely payment of claims, and various common law doctrines and sought various forms
of relief, including unspecified damages, treble damages, punitive damages and injunctive relief.

Effective May 21, 2003, the Company and representatives of over 900,000 physicians, state and other medical societies entered into an agreement (the
“Physician Settlement Agreement”) settling the lead physician Provider Case pending in the Florida Federal Court. Judicial approval of the Physician
Settlement Agreement became final on January 18, 2005. The Company believes that the Physician Settlement Agreement resolves all pending Provider Cases
filed on behalf of physicians that did not opt out of the settlement, including the Louisiana state court action. During the second quarter of 2003, the Company
recorded an after-tax charge of $75 million ($115 million pretax) (included in other operating expenses) in connection with the Physician Settlement
Agreement, net of an estimated insurance recoverable of $72 million pretax. The Company has not received any insurance recoveries as of December 31, 2004.
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A Provider Case brought on behalf of the American Dental Association made similar allegations on behalf of a purported class of dentists. Effective
August 22, 2003, the Company and representatives of approximately 150,000 dentists entered into an agreement (the “Dentist Settlement Agreement”) settling
the dentist action. The Dentist Settlement Agreement was approved by the Florida Federal Court on July 20, 2004. The approval of the Dentist Settlement
Agreement concludes this Provider Case. The cost of this settlement was not material to the Company and was included in the second quarter 2003 Physician
Settlement Agreement charge.

Several Provider Cases filed in 2003 on behalf of purported classes of chiropractors and/or all non-physician health care providers also make factual and legal
allegations similar to those contained in the other Provider Cases. These Provider Cases have been transferred to the Florida Federal Court for consolidated
pretrial proceedings. The Company intends to defend each of these new Provider Cases vigorously.

Securities Class Action Litigation
Laborers Tri-County Pension Fund, Goldplate Investment Partners Ltd. and Sheila Shafran filed a consolidated and amended purported class action
complaint (the “Securities Complaint”) on June 7, 2002 in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York (the “New York Federal
Court”). The Securities Complaint supplanted several complaints, filed beginning November 6, 2001, which have been voluntarily dismissed or
consolidated. Plaintiffs contend that the Company and two of its current or former officers and directors, William H. Donaldson and John W. Rowe, M.D.,
violated federal securities laws. Plaintiffs allege misrepresentations and omissions regarding, among other things, the Company’s ability to manage and control
medical costs and the appropriate reserve for medical costs as of December 31, 2000, for which they seek unspecified damages, among other remedies. On
October 15, 2002, the New York Federal Court heard argument on defendants’ motion to dismiss the Securities Complaint .

Effective February 9, 2005, the Company and class representatives entered into an agreement (the “Securities Settlement Agreement”) to settle the Securities
Complaint. The Securities Settlement Agreement is subject to court approval. The settlement amount is not material to the Company.

Insurance Industry Brokerage Practices Matters
The Company has received subpoenas for information from the New York Attorney General and the Connecticut Attorney General and requests for
information from various insurance regulators with respect to an industry wide investigation into certain insurance brokerage practices, including broker
compensation arrangements, bid quoting practices and potential antitrust violations. The Company is cooperating with these inquiries.

On October 20, 2004, Ronald Scott Shirley filed an action (the “Shirley Action”) in the United States District Court for the Southern District of California
against the Company, Universal Life Resources (“ULR”), a broker, and others, including other major insurance companies, alleging a conspiracy to
fraudulently market, sell and administer a variety of insurance products through employee benefit plans. By virtue of an amended complaint filed in the
Shirley Action, the Company was dismissed from that action in January 2005.

In connection with this industry wide review, the Company may receive additional subpoenas and requests for information from other attorneys general and
other regulators, and the Company could be named in other related litigation.

Other Litigation and Regulatory Proceedings
The Company is involved in numerous other lawsuits arising, for the most part, in the ordinary course of its business operations, including employment
litigation and claims of bad faith, medical malpractice, non-compliance with state regulatory regimes, marketing misconduct, failure to timely pay medical
claims, investment activities, intellectual property and other litigation in its Health Care and Group Insurance businesses. Some of these other lawsuits are or
are purported to be class actions. The Company intends to defend these matters vigorously.
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In addition, the Company’s current and past business practices are subject to review by, and the Company from time to time receives subpoenas and other
requests for information from, various state insurance and health care regulatory authorities and other state and federal authorities. There also continues to be
heightened review by regulatory authorities of the managed health care industry’s business practices, including utilization management, delegated arrangements
and claim payment practices. As a leading national managed care organization, the Company regularly is the subject of such reviews. These reviews may
result in changes to or clarifications of the Company’s business practices, and may result in fines, penalties or other sanctions.

The Company is unable to predict at this time the ultimate outcome of the remaining Provider Cases, the insurance industry brokerage practices investigations
or other litigation and regulatory proceedings, and it is reasonably possible that their outcome could be material to the Company.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

None.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF AETNA INC.*

The Chairman of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) is elected and all other executive officers listed below are appointed by the Board at its Annual Meeting,
and such persons hold office until the next Annual Meeting of the Board or until their successors are elected or appointed. None of these officers has a family
relationship with any other executive officer or Director. In addition, there exist no arrangements or understandings, other than those with Directors or officers
of the Company acting solely in their capacities as such, pursuant to which these executive officers were appointed.

       
Name of Executive Officer  Position  Age *
 
John W. Rowe, M.D.  Chairman and Chief Executive Officer   60 
       
Ronald A. Williams  President   5 5 
       
Alan M. Bennett  Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer   54 
       
Louis J. Briskman  Senior Vice President and General Counsel   5 6 
       
Craig R. Callen  Senior Vice President, Strategic Planning and Business Development   49 
       
Timothy A. Holt

 
Senior Vice President, Chief Investment Officer and Chief Enterprise
Risk Officer  

 51 

       
William C. Popik, M.D.  Senior Vice President and Chief Medical Officer   5 9 

*As of February 28, 2005

Executive Officers’ Business Experience During Past Five Years

John W. Rowe, M. D., became Chairman of the Board on April 1, 2001 and became Chief Executive Officer of the Company on September 15, 2000. He
served as President of the Company from September 15, 2000 to May 27, 2002. Prior to joining Aetna, Dr. Rowe served as President and Chief Executive
Officer of Mount Sinai NYU Health, a position he assumed in 1998 after overseeing the 1998 merger of the Mount Sinai and NYU Medical Centers.
Dr. Rowe joined The Mount Sinai Hospital and the Mount Sinai School of Medicine as President in 1988.
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Ronald A. Williams became President of the Company on May 27, 2002, having served as Executive Vice President and Chief of Health Operations since
March 15, 2001. Prior to joining Aetna, he served as Group President of the Large Group Division of WellPoint Health Networks, Inc., a position Mr.
Williams assumed in 1999, in addition to serving as President of WellPoint’s Blue Cross of California subsidiary beginning in 1995.

Alan M. Bennett became Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company on September 28, 2001. He served as Vice President and
Corporate Controller from December 2000 to November 2001. He became Vice President and Corporate Controller of former Aetna in March 1998 after having
served as Vice President and Director of Internal Audit from March 1997 to March 1998.

Louis J. Briskman became Senior Vice President and General Counsel of the Company on April 26, 2004. Prior to joining Aetna he served as Executive Vice
President and General Counsel of CBS Television, a subsidiary of Viacom Inc., from May 2000 to January 2002 and as Executive Vice President and General
Counsel of CBS Corporation (name changed from Westinghouse Electric Corporation) from December 1997 to May 2000.

Craig R. Callen became Senior Vice President, Strategic Planning and Business Development, of the Company on April 28, 2004. Prior to joining Aetna,
Mr. Callen served as a Managing Director of Credit Suisse First Boston (“CSFB”) and Head of U. S. Health Care in its Investment Banking Group, positions
he assumed in November 2000 after CSFB’s acquisition of Donaldson, Lufkin & Jenrette Securities Corporation (DLJ). Prior to that, he served as Managing
Director of DLJ and Co-Head of its Health Care Group, positions he assumed in 1994 and 1999, respectively.

Timothy A. Holt became Senior Vice President, Chief Investment Officer and Chief Enterprise Risk Officer of the Company on September 24, 2004. He
served as Senior Vice President and Chief Investment Officer from December 8, 2000 to September 24, 2004 having served as Senior Vice President and Chief
Investment Officer of former Aetna since January 1999. From October 1997 to January 1999 he served as Vice President and Chief Investment Officer of
former Aetna.

William C. Popik, M.D., became Senior Vice President and Chief Medical Officer of the Company on March 5, 2001. Prior to joining Aetna, he served as
Senior Vice President and National Medical Director of Cigna Corporation, a position he assumed in February 1996.

 

Part II

Item 5. Market Price for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Aetna Inc.’s common shares are listed on the New York Stock Exchange. They trade under the symbol AET. As of January 31, 2005, there were 12,706
record holders of Aetna Inc.’s common shares.

The Company declared, and subsequently paid, an annual cash dividend in the amount of $.04 per common share in each of 2004, 2003 and 2002. Refer to
the MD&A – Liquidity and Capital Resources – Dividends in the Annual Report, incorporated herein by reference, for additional information regarding
dividend payments. Information regarding restrictions on the Company’s present and future ability to pay dividends is incorporated herein by reference to
Note 17 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and the MD&A - Liquidity and Capital Resources in the Annual Report. Information regarding
quarterly common stock prices is incorporated herein by reference to the Quarterly Data (unaudited) included in the Annual Report.
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The following table provides information about the monthly share repurchases by the Company as part of publicly announced programs for the three months
ended December 31, 2004:

                 
          Total Number of  Approximate Dollar 
          Shares Purchased  Value of Shares that 
          as Part of Publicly  May Yet Be 
  Total Number of  Average Price  Announced  Purchased Under 
(Millions, except per share amounts)  Shares Purchased  Paid Per Share  Programs  Programs 
October 1, 2004 – October 31, 2004   —  $ —   —  $ 1,076 
November 1, 2004 – November 30, 2004   1.8  $ 107.62   1.8  $ 878 
December 1, 2004 – December 31, 2004   1.0  $ 121.95   1.0  $ 750 

For the three months ended December 31, 2004, the Company repurchased 2.8 million shares of common stock at a cost of $326 million, completing a
publicly announced repurchase program authorized by the Board and announced on April 30, 2004. Under this authorization, the Company was authorized to
repurchase up to $750 million of common stock. As of December 31, 2004, the Company has authorization to repurchase up to $750 million of common
stock remaining under a September 24, 2004 Board authorization (which was announced September 24, 2004).

On February 25, 2005, the Company announced that its Board of Directors authorized the Company to repurchase up to $750 million of common stock.
This authorization is in addition to the amount remaining under the September 24, 2004 authorization.

On February 9, 2005, the Company’s Board of Directors declared a two-for-one stock split of the Company’s common stock to be effected in the form of a
100% common stock dividend. All shareholders of record at the close of business on February 25, 2005 (“Shareholders of Record”) will receive one additional
share of common stock for each share held on that date. The additional share of common stock will be distributed to Shareholders of Record in the form of a
stock dividend on March 11, 2005.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The information contained in Selected Financial Data in the Annual Report is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The information contained in the MD&A in the Annual Report is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The information contained in the MD&A - Investments in the Annual Report is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The information contained in Consolidated Financial Statements, Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Report of Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm and Quarterly Data (unaudited) are incorporated herein by reference to the Annual Report.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures
The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures, which are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the
reports it files or submits under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), is recorded, processed, summarized and reported
within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated
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and communicated to the Company’s management , including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure.

An evaluation of the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2004 was conducted under the supervision and
with the participation of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. Based on that evaluation, the Company’s Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were adequate and designed to ensure that material
information relating to Aetna Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries would be made known to the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer by others
within those entities, particularly during the periods when periodic reports under the Exchange Act are being prepared. Refer to the Certifications by the
Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer filed as Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 to this report.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and the Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting are incorporated herein by reference to the Annual Report.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There has been no change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting, identified in connection with the evaluation of such control, that occurred
during the Company’s last fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

Executive officers named in the Company’s Proxy Statement (“Named Officers”) are paid annual bonuses under the Aetna Inc. Annual Incentive Plan (the
“Plan”), based on performance goals established by the Company’s Board of Directors’ Committee on Compensation and Organization (the “Compensation
Committee”) and the Compensation Committee’s discretion. On February 25, 2005, the Compensation Committee established the 2005 performance goals for
the Plan, which are based primarily on consolidated net income and secondarily on consolidated revenue, each for the year ended December 31, 2005. The
maximum bonus payable to a Named Officer under the Plan is $3 million. The Compensation Committee will determine individual bonus amounts in early
2006 based on a review of corporate and individual performance. The Compensation Committee reserves the right to reduce the maximum amount of any
bonus payment under the Plan based on its discretion.

Director Matters
Pursuant to the Company’s Corporate Governance Guidelines regarding retirement age, Jack D. Kuehler, age 72, will be retiring from the Board of Directors
effective at the 2005 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

Judith Rodin has also notified the Company that she will not be standing for re-election to the Board of Directors at the 2005 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

Part III

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

Information concerning Executive Officers of Aetna Inc. is included in Part I pursuant to General Instruction G to Form 10-K.

Information concerning Directors compliance with Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Company’s Code of Conduct (its written code of
ethics), its audit committee financial experts, governance guidelines and related matters is incorporated herein by reference to the information under the
captions “Nominees for Directorships”, “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance”, “Aetna’s Corporate Governance Guidelines”, “Aetna’s
Code of Conduct”, “Board and Committee Membership; Committee Descriptions” and “Certain Transactions and Relationships” in the Proxy Statement.
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Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information under the captions “Nonmanagement Director Compensation in 2004,” “Other Information Regarding Directors” and “Executive
Compensation” in the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

The information under the caption “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners, Directors, Nominees and Executive Officers” in the Proxy Statement is
incorporated herein by reference.

The following table gives information about the Company’s common shares that may be issued upon the exercise of options, warrants and rights under all of
the Company’s equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2004.

             
  (a)  (b)  (c) 
          Number of securities 
  Number of securities      remaining available for 
  to be issued upon  Weighted-average  future issuance under 
  exercise of  exercise price of  equity compensation plans  
  outstanding options,  outstanding options,  (excluding securities 
  warrants and rights  warrants and rights  reflected in column (a)) 
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders (1)   13,509,083  $ 41.99   14,714,495 
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders (2)   3,674,348  $ 55.69   3,308,570 
Total   17,183,431       18,023,065 
(1)  Includes the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan and the Employee Stock Purchase Plan
(2) Includes the 2002 Stock Incentive Plan and the Non-Employee Director Compensation Plan

2002 Stock Incentive Plan
The 2002 Stock Incentive Plan is designed to promote the interests of the Company and its shareholders and to further align the interests of shareholders and
employees by tying awards to total return to shareholders, enabling plan participants to acquire additional equity interests in the Company and providing
compensation opportunities dependent upon the Company’s performance. The plan has not been submitted to shareholders for approval.

Under the plan, eligible participants may be granted stock options to purchase shares of common stock, stock appreciation rights, time vesting and/or
performance vesting Incentive Stock or Incentive Units and other stock-based awards. The maximum number of shares of common stock that may be
awarded under the plan is 7.5 million shares, subject to adjustment for corporate transactions. If an award is paid solely in cash, no shares shall be deducted
from the number of shares available for issuance.

Non-Employee Director Compensation Plan
The Non-Employee Director Compensation Plan permits eligible directors of the Company to receive shares of common stock in recognition of their
contributions to the Company. The plan has not been submitted to shareholders for approval.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The information under the captions “Other Information Regarding Directors” and “Certain Transactions and Relationships” in the Proxy Statement is
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information under the captions “Fees Incurred for 2004 and 2003 Services Performed by the Independent Accountants” and “Nonaudit Services and Other
Relationships Between the Company and the Independent Accountants” in the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.
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Part IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

The following documents are filed as part of this report:

Financial statements
The Consolidated Financial Statements, Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm are
incorporated herein by reference to the Annual Report.

Financial statement schedule
The supporting schedule of the consolidated entity is included in this Item 15. Refer to Index to Financial Statement Schedules below.

Exhibits*
Exhibits to the Form 10-K are as follows:
3  Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws
 
3.1  Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Aetna Inc., incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Aetna Inc.’s Form 10-Q filed on July 31,

2003.
 
3.2  Amended and Restated By-Laws of Aetna Inc., incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Aetna Inc.’s Form 10-Q filed on July 31, 2003.

4  Instruments defining the rights of security holders, including indentures
 
4.1  Form of Aetna Inc. Common Share certificate, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Aetna Inc.’s Amendment No. 2 to Registration Statement

on Form 10 filed on December 1, 2000.
 
4.2  Form of Senior Indenture between Aetna Inc. and State Street Bank and Trust Company, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Aetna Inc.’s

Registration Statement on Form S-3 filed on January 19, 2001.
 
4.3  Form of Subordinated Indenture between Aetna Inc. and State Street Bank and Trust Company, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Aetna

Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-3 filed on January 19, 2001.
 
4.4  Form of Subordinated Indenture between Aetna Inc. and State Street Bank and Trust Company, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Aetna

Inc.’s Form 10-Q filed on March 31, 2001.
 
10  Material contracts
 
10.1  Form of Distribution Agreement between former Aetna and Aetna Inc., incorporated herein by reference to Annex C to former Aetna’s definitive proxy

statement on Schedule 14A filed on October 18, 2000.
 
10.2  Term Sheet for Agreement between former Aetna and Aetna Inc. in respect of the CityPlace property, situated at 185 Asylum Avenue, Hartford,

Connecticut 06103, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to Aetna Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form 10 filed on September 1, 2000.
 
10.3  $800,000,000 Five-Year Credit Agreement Dated as of November 19, 2004, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to Aetna Inc.’s Form 8-K

filed on November 23, 2004.
 
10.4  Amended and Restated Aetna Inc. 2000 Stock Incentive Plan, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to Aetna Inc.’s Form 10-K filed on

February 25, 2002. **
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10.5  Amended and Restated Aetna Inc. 2002 Stock Incentive Plan, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Aetna Inc.’s Form 10-Q filed on
October 30, 2003. **

 
10.6  Form of Aetna Inc. 2001 Annual Incentive Plan, incorporated herein by reference to Annex H to former Aetna’s definitive proxy statement on

Schedule 14A filed on October 18, 2000. **
 
10.7  Amended Aetna Inc. Non-Employee Director Compensation Plan, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Aetna Inc.’s Form 10-Q filed on

April 29, 2002. **
 
10.8  1999 Director Charitable Award Program, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to former Aetna’s Form 10-Q filed on April 28, 1999. **
 
10.9  Employment Agreement dated as of September 6, 2000 by and between former Aetna and John W. Rowe, M.D., incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibit 10.23 to Aetna Inc.’s Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement on Form 10 filed on October 18, 2000. **
 
10.10  Memorandum dated December 6, 2002, from Elease E. Wright to John W. Rowe, M.D., incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to Aetna

Inc.’s Form 10-K filed on February 28, 2003. **
 
10.11  Amendment to Employment Agreement dated as of June 27, 2003 between Aetna Inc. and John W. Rowe, M.D., incorporated herein by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 to Aetna Inc.’s Form 10-Q filed on July 31, 2003. **
 
10.12  Employment Agreement dated as of September 28, 2001 between Aetna Inc. and Alan M. Bennett, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to

Aetna Inc.’s Form 10-K filed on February 28, 2003.**
 
10.13  Letter agreement dated September 22, 2004 between Aetna Inc. and Alan M. Bennett, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of Aetna Inc.’s

Form 8-K filed on September 24, 2004. **
 
10.14  Letter agreement dated April 23, 2004 between Aetna Inc. and Craig R. Callen. **
 
10.15  Memorandum dated January 6, 1997 from Mary Ann Champlin to Timothy A. Holt, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to Aetna Inc.’s

Form 10-K filed on February 28, 2003. **
 
10.16  Memorandum dated July 20, 2000 from Elease E. Wright to Timothy A. Holt, incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to Aetna Inc.’s Form

10-K filed on February 28, 2003. **
 
10.17  Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated as of December 5, 2003 by and between Aetna Inc. and Ronald Williams, incorporated herein by

reference to Exhibit 10.24 to Aetna Inc.’s Form 10-K filed on February 28, 2003. **
 
10.18  Description of certain arrangements not embodied in formal documents, as described under the headings “Nonmanagement Director Compensation in

2004,” “Nonmanagement Director Compensation in 2005” and “Other Information Regarding Directors” are incorporated herein by reference to the
Proxy Statement. **

 
*  Exhibits other than those listed are omitted because they are not required to be listed or are not applicable. Copies of exhibits will be furnished without

charge upon written request to the Office of the Corporate Secretary, Aetna Inc., 151 Farmington Avenue, Hartford, Connecticut 06156.
 
**  Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
 
11  Statement re: computation of per share earnings
 
11.1  Incorporated herein by reference to Note 4 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the Annual Report.
 
12  Statement re: computation of ratios
 
12.1  Computation of ratios.
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13  Annual Report to security holders
 
13.1  Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, Selected Financial Data, Consolidated Financial Statements,

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, Management’s Responsibility for
Financial Statements, Audit Committee Oversight, Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting, Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm and Quarterly Data (unaudited) are incorporated herein by reference to the Annual
Report and filed herewith in electronic format.

14  Code of Ethics
 
14.1  Aetna Inc. Code of Conduct incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to Aetna Inc.’s Form 10-K filed on February 28, 2003.
 
21  Subsidiaries of the registrant
 
21.1  Subsidiaries of Aetna Inc.
 
23  Consents of experts and counsel
 
23.1  Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
 
24  Power of Attorney
 
24.1  Power of Attorney.
 
31  Rule 13a – 14(a)/15d – 14(e) Certifications
 
31.1  Certification.
 
31.2  Certification.
 
32  Section 1350 Certifications
 
32.1  Certification.
 
32.2  Certification.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Shareholders and Board of Directors
Aetna Inc.:

Under date of March 1, 2005, we reported on the consolidated balance sheets of Aetna Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related
consolidated statements of income, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2004, as contained in
the 2004 annual report to shareholders. These consolidated financial statements and our report thereon are incorporated by reference in the Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year 2004. In connection with our audits of the aforementioned consolidated financial statements, we also audited the related financial
statement schedule listed in the accompanying index. The financial statement schedule is the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on the financial statement schedule based on our audits.

In our opinion, such financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly,
in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Hartford, Connecticut
March 1, 2005
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Schedule I – Condensed Financial Information of Aetna Inc.

Aetna Inc.

Condensed Statements of Income
             
  For the Years Ended December 31,  
(Millions)  2004  2003  2002 
Service fees – affiliates  $ 60.4  $ 67.0  $ 1,090.7 
Net investment income   25.5   21.0   6.8 
Net realized capital gains (losses)   1.9   (.1)   35.1 

Total revenue   87.8   87.9   1,132.6 
Operating expenses (1)   120.9   194.1   1,476.0 
Interest expense   104.7   102.9   119.5 

Total expenses   225.6   297.0   1,595.5 
Loss before income tax benefit and equity in earnings of affiliates, net   (137.8)   (209.1)   (462.9)
Income tax benefit   38.8   76.0   155.2 
Equity in earnings of affiliates, net (2)   1,314.1   1,066.9   700.9 
Income from continuing operations   1,215.1   933.8   393.2 
Income from discontinued operations   1,030.0   —   50.0 
Cumulative effect adjustments, net of tax   —   —   (2,965.7)
Net income (loss)  $ 2,245.1  $ 933.8  $ (2,522.5)
(1)  Operating expenses for 2003 include a charge of $115 million pretax in connection with the settlement of a national class action case (refer to Note 19 of

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further information).
(2) Includes parent company amortization of other acquired intangible assets of $27.6 million after tax for 2004 and $33.0 million after tax for 2003 and

$85.0 million after tax for 2002.

Refer to accompanying Notes to Condensed Financial Statements.
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Aetna Inc.

Condensed Balance Sheets
         
  As of December 31,  
(Millions, except share data)  2004  2003 
Assets         
Current Assets:         

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 193.3  $ 438.6 
Investment securities   559.4   498.3 
Other receivables   137.0   139.4 
Income taxes receivable   107.4   — 
Deferred tax asset   —   72.3 
Other assets   42.7   42.0 

Total current assets   1,039.8   1,190.6 
Long-term investments   18.1   21.1 
Investment in affiliates (1)   10,314.2   9,526.6 
Deferred tax assets   261.5   249.6 
Other long-term assets   178.5   183.9 
Total assets  $11,812.1  $11,171.8 
         
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity         
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities  $ 438.0  $ 557.2 
Long-term debt   1,609.7   1,613.7 
Employee benefit liabilities   661.8   1,064.3 
Other long-term liabilities   21.2   12.6 
Total liabilities   2,730.7   3,247.8 
Shareholders’ equity         

Common stock and additional paid-in capital ($.01 par value, 732,492,499 shares authorized, 146,502,836 issued
and outstanding in 2004 and $.01 par value, 748,624,161 shares authorized, 152,578,251 issued and outstanding
in 2003)   3,076.5   4,024.8 

Retained earnings   6,546.4   4,307.2 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (541.5)   (408.0)

Total shareholders’ equity   9,081.4   7,924.0 
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  $11,812.1  $11,171.8 
(1) Includes parent company goodwill and other acquired intangible assets of $4.1 billion as of December 31, 2004 and $4.2 billion as of December 31,

2003.

Refer to accompanying Notes to Condensed Financial Statements.
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Aetna Inc.

Condensed Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
                         
  Number of  Common      Accumulated       
  Common  Stock and      Other  Total  Comprehensive 
  Stock Shares  Additional  Retained  Comprehensive  Shareholders’  Income 
(Millions, except per share data)  Outstanding  Paid-in Capital  Earnings  Income (Loss)  Equity  (Loss) 
Balance at December 31, 2001   144,265,912  $ 3,913.8  $ 5,908.0  $ 68.5  $ 9,890.3     
Common shares issued for benefit plans   9,320,601   322.3   —   —   322.3     
Repurchases of common shares   (3,620,431)   (165.2)   —   —   (165.2)     
Comprehensive income:                         

Net loss   —   —   (2,522.5)   —   (2,522.5)  $ (2,522.5)
Other comprehensive loss:                         

Net unrealized gains on securities (1)   —   —   —   215.4   215.4     
Net foreign currency gains   —   —   —   .5   .5     
Net derivative gains (1)   —   —   —   .4   .4     
Pension liability adjustment   —   —   —   (755.2)   (755.2)     
Other comprehensive loss   —   —   —   (538.9)   (538.9)   (538.9)
Total comprehensive loss                      $ (3,061.4)

Dividends ($.04 per share)   —   —   (6.0)   —   (6.0)     
                         
Balance at December 31, 2002   149,966,082   4,070.9   3,379.5   (470.4)   6,980.0     
Common shares issued for benefit plans   10,265,780   399.1   —   —   399.1     
Repurchases of common shares   (7,653,611)   (445.2)   —   —   (445.2)     
Comprehensive income:                         

Net income   —   —   933.8   —   933.8  $ 933.8 
Other comprehensive income:                         

Net unrealized gains on securities (1)   —   —   —   5.6   5.6     
Net foreign currency gains   —   —   —   4.3   4.3     
Net derivative gains (1)   —   —   —   .7   .7     
Pension liability adjustment   —   —   —   51.8   51.8     
Other comprehensive income   —   —   —   62.4   62.4   62.4 
Total comprehensive income                      $ 996.2 

Dividends ($.04 per share)   —   —   (6.1)   —   (6.1)     
 
Balance at December 31, 2003   152,578,251   4,024.8   4,307.2   (408.0)   7,924.0     
Common shares issued for benefit plans   10,056,247   546.5   —   —   546.5     
Repurchases of common shares   (16,131,662)   (1,494.8)   —   —   (1,494.8)     
Comprehensive income:                         

Net income   —   —   2,245.1   —   2,245.1  $ 2,245.1 
Other comprehensive loss:                         

Net unrealized losses on securities (1)   —   —   —   (41.9)   (41.9)     
Net foreign currency gains   —   —   —   1.5   1.5     
Net derivative gains (1)   —   —   —   1.2   1.2     
Pension liability adjustment   —   —   —   (94.3)   (94.3)     
Other comprehensive loss   —   —   —   (133.5)   (133.5)   (133.5)
Total comprehensive income                      $ 2,111.6 

Dividends ($.04 per share)   —   —   (5.9)   —   (5.9)     
 
Balance at December 31, 2004   146,502,836  $ 3,076.5  $ 6,546.4  $ (541.5)  $ 9,081.4     
(1) Net of reclassification adjustments.

Refer to accompanying Notes to Condensed Financial Statements.
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Aetna Inc.

Condensed Statements of Cash Flows
             
  For the Years Ended December 31,  
(Millions)  2004  2003  2002 
Cash flows from operating activities:             

Net income (loss)  $ 2,245.1  $ 933.8  $(2,522.5)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by (used for) operating activities:             

Income from discontinued operations   (1,030.0)   —   (50.0)
Cumulative effect adjustments, net   —   —   2,965.7 
Equity earnings of affiliates, net (1)   (1,314.1)   (1,066.9)   (700.9)
Net realized capital losses (gains)   (1.9)   .1   (35.1)
Net change in other assets and other liabilities   (95.5)   (628.4)   274.4 

Net cash used for operating activities of continuing operations   (196.4)   (761.4)   (68.4)
Discontinued operations, net (Note 8)   666.2   —   — 

Net cash provided by (used for) operating expenses   469.8   (761.4)   (68.4)
             
Cash flows from investing activities:             

Costs of investments, net   (61.1)   (263.9)   (205.7)
Dividends received from affiliates, net   528.9   1,007.4   624.8 
Other, net   —   .1   — 

Net cash provided by investing activities   467.8   743.6   419.1 
             
Cash flows from financing activities:             

Repayment of short-term debt   —   —   (109.7)
Common shares issued under benefit plans   316.0   293.6   233.5 
Common shares repurchased   (1,493.0)   (445.2)   (165.2)
Dividends paid to shareholders   (5.9)   (6.1)   (6.0)

Net cash used for financing activities   (1,182.9)   (157.7)   (47.4)
             
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents   (245.3)   (175.5)   303.3 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year   438.6   614.1   310.8 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year  $ 193.3  $ 438.6  $ 614.1 
             
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:             

Interest paid  $ 104.0  $ 103.5  $ 118.7 
Income taxes paid (refunded), net  $ (331.3)  $ 488.1  $ (65.0)

(1) Includes after tax parent company amortization of other acquired intangible assets of $27.6 million, $33.0 million and $85.0 million for the years
ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Refer to accompanying Notes to Condensed Financial Statements.
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Aetna Inc.

Notes to Condensed Financial Statements

1. Organization

The condensed financial statements reflects financial information for Aetna Inc. (a Pennsylvania corporation) only (the “Parent Company”). Effective
January 1, 2003, the Parent Company assigned substantially all of its administrative services agreements with certain affiliates to Aetna Health Management,
LLC (“AHM”), an affiliate of the Parent Company. In connection with the assignment, the Company transferred certain assets and liabilities associated with
the administrative services agreements to AHM. The condensed financial information presented herein includes the balance sheet of Aetna Inc. as of
December 31, 2004 and 2003 and the related statements of income, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and
2002. The accompanying condensed financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto in the
Annual Report. Certain reclassifications have been made to the 2003 financial information to conform to the 2004 presentation.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Refer to Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the Annual Report for the summary of significant accounting policies.

3. Acquisitions and Dispositions

Refer to Note 3 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the Annual Report for a description of acquisitions and dispositions.

4. Income Taxes

Refer to Note 12 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the Annual Report for a description of income taxes.

5. Minimum Pension Liability

Refer to Note 11 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the Annual Report for a description of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss). As
of December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Parent Company recognized minimum pension liability. Refer to Note 13 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in
the Annual Report for further information.

6. Debt

Refer to Note 14 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the Annual Report for a description of debt.

7. Service Arrangements

Effective January 1, 2003, the Parent Company assigned substantially all of its administrative services agreements with certain affiliates to Aetna Health
Management, LLC (“AHM”), an affiliate of the Parent Company. Under these agreements, the Parent Company provided certain administrative services,
including accounting and processing of premiums and claims.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf
by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

     
Date: March 1, 2005  AETNA INC.
     

 By /s/ Ronald M. Olejniczak
   Ronald M. Olejniczak
   Vice President and Controller

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and
in the capacities indicated on March 1, 2005.

   
/s/ John W. Rowe, M.D.

John W. Rowe, M.D., Chairman,
Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)  

* /s/ Michael H. Jordan

Michael H. Jordan, Director

   

 
* /s/ Jack D. Kuehler

* /s/ Betsy Z. Cohen
 

Jack D. Kuehler, Director

Betsy Z. Cohen, Director   
   

 
* /s/ Edward J. Ludwig

* /s/ Barbara Hackman Franklin
 

Edward J. Ludwig, Director

Barbara Hackman Franklin, Director   
   

 
* /s/ Joseph P. Newhouse

* /s/ Jeffrey E. Garten
 

Joseph P. Newhouse, Director

Jeffrey E. Garten, Director   
   
   

 
* /s/ Judith Rodin

* /s/ Earl G. Graves
 

Judith Rodin, Director

Earl G. Graves, Director   
   

 
/s/ Ronald A. Williams

* /s/ Gerald Greenwald
 

Ronald A. Williams, President and Director

Gerald Greenwald, Director   
   

 
/s/ Ronald M. Olejniczak

* /s/ Ellen M. Hancock

 

Ronald M. Olejniczak
Vice President and Controller
(Principal Accounting Officer)

Ellen M. Hancock, Director   
   
/s/ Alan M. Bennett

 
 

Alan M. Bennett, Senior Vice President   
and Chief Financial Officer   
(Principal Financial Officer)   
     
*By /s/ Ronald M. Olejniczak   



   
 (Attorney-in-Fact)   
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Exhibit 10.14

   

 

151 Farmington Avenue
Hartford, CT 06156

   

 

John W. Rowe, M.D.
Chairman & CEO
860-273-4455
Fax: 860-273-6872

April 23, 2004

Craig R. Callen
3 East 77th Street, Apt. 4A
New York, NY 10021

Dear Craig:

I am pleased to offer you the position of Senior Vice President, Strategic Planning and Business Development of Aetna Inc., reporting to me. In this role you
will serve as a member of the Office of the Chairman. This offer letter replaces and supercedes my offer letter of April 19, 2004.

We look forward to having you start work on or before Tuesday, June 1, 2004. Your base salary will be $575,000 per year, payable in accordance with the
company’s regular payroll practices (currently bi-weekly). Your salary will be reviewed periodically for a possible salary increase and the company may also
from time to time review and adjust salaries to reflect appropriate compensation for each position.

You will be eligible for consideration for an award under the company’s annual incentive program beginning with the 2004 performance year (payable in 2005
as long as the plan is in effect). Each year thereafter, while you are employed by the company, you will be eligible for consideration for additional awards
under the annual incentive program while the plan remains in effect. Your full-year annual target bonus opportunity will be 80% of your base salary.

We will recommend to the Board of Directors Committee on Compensation and Organization that you be granted an option to purchase sixty thousand (60,000)
shares of Aetna common stock. The option will be based on the closing price of Aetna common stock on the effective date of the grant (no earlier than the date
you begin work), in accordance with company option grant practices. This option will vest and be exercisable as described in the option award agreement
(which will include a one-year post-termination exercise period), and will be subject to you agreeing to the terms of the award agreement and the plan.

We will recommend to the Board of Directors Committee on Compensation and Organization that you be granted seven thousand (7,000) performance units in
our 2004-2005 long-term performance program. This award will vest on the performance criteria to be set forth in an award agreement and will be subject to
you agreeing to all of the terms of the award agreement and the plan.

We will recommend to the Board of Directors Committee on Compensation and Organization that you be granted restricted stock which we determine has a
value on the day of grant determined as follows: the amount will be calculated as the amount you forfeit under existing awards with your current employer
provided that (i) the date such forfeiture is calculated shall be a date no later than May 14, 2004 and (ii) the value of the restricted stock to be granted in no
event will exceed $2,000,000. The award will be subject to your agreeing to the terms of the award agreement and the plan. The restricted stock will vest over
three years, with one third vesting on each of the first, second and third anniversaries of your start of employment.

 



 

Craig R. Callen
April 23, 2004
Page 2

You will be eligible to participate in our contributory health and welfare benefit plan. Coverage for medical, dental, life, disability, flexible spending accounts
and accident benefits will become effective on the first of the month following the date you begin work. If you begin work on the first of the month, your
benefits will become effective immediately. Information on Aetna’s total benefits package (various benefit programs and services and associated costs), can be
accessed at www.Aetna.com/working (Benefits). Once you begin work, you can enroll for coverage through our Intranet site.

For the purpose of Paid Time Off (PTO) accrual only, you will earn PTO days as if you had ten (10) years of service. In your first partial calendar year of
employment, your PTO accrual will be pro-rated, based on your hire date. PTO includes time out of the office for vacation, personal time, family illness, and
incidental sick days.

In the event your employment is terminated by the Company other than for cause, you will be entitled to 52 weeks of base salary continuation in lieu of any
other severance or salary continuation benefit to which you might otherwise have been entitled under Company plans or programs then in effect, upon delivery
to the Company of a release of any employment-related claims in the Company’s customary form. In the event that your employment is terminated under
circumstances for which you are paid this base salary continuation by the Company, then your sign-on restricted stock will immediately vest. For these
purposes, cause shall mean (i) material and repeated failure to perform your responsibilities after reasonable notice to you and an opportunity to cure, (ii) your
engaging in misconduct that is injurious to the Company, (iii) your having been convicted of, or entered a plea of nolo contendere to, a crime that constitutes a
felony, (iv) the material breach by you of any restrictive covenants in the Company’s favor, (v) an act of fraud or embezzlement with respect to the Company,
or (vi) a breach or violation of the Company’s Code of Conduct, as amended from time to time, sufficient to warrant a for cause termination consistent with
the Company’s past practice.

To assist you with your expenses associated with establishing residence in the Hartford, CT area, the company will pay you $50,000. If you voluntarily
terminate your employment or are terminated for cause within 12 months of your start date, you will be responsible for repaying the full amount, after taxes. If
you voluntary terminate your employment or are terminated for cause after 12 months, but before 18 months of your start date, you will be responsible for
repaying 50% of this amount, after taxes.

As you were previously advised, a drug test is part of the standard pre-employment process. This job offer is contingent upon your passing a urinalysis drug
test before your start date. Your test must be scheduled and taken no later than two business days from the date you accept our offer of employment. If an
appointment has not been made yet, please phone Chris Berger (860.273.7963) upon receipt of this letter so that she may provide you with the information
necessary to schedule an appointment. The enclosed handout, “Drug Test Collection Procedure – What You Can Expect” should answer any questions you
may have about taking the test.

This offer is also contingent upon successful completion of a background check, references and a satisfactory review of documents that show you are legally
entitled to work in the United States. Federal law requires that we verify the employment authorization of all new employees. On your first day, you must bring
appropriate documentation to verify both your identity and employment eligibility. Please carefully review the enclosed materials that provide information about
certain documents (List of Acceptable Documents) that you must bring to work on your first day.

 



 

Craig R. Callen
April 24, 2004
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This offer is made based on your representation that you are not subject to any restrictive covenants with any present and/or former employers. In addition, as
a result of your previous employment, you may be subject to an obligation not to disclose confidential or proprietary information. We expect that you will
comply with any such obligation and that you will not breach any such obligation during the course of your employment with the company.

The continuation of your current outside board directorship will be subject to the company’s usual conflict of interest analysis and approval by the company’s
Board Committee of Compensation and Organization.

To protect the company’s proprietary information, as a condition of your employment, you will be required to sign and return the attached Non-Solicitation,
Confidentiality and Assignment Agreement. Please keep a copy for your records. Nothing in the documents or plans presently applicable to you is intended to
preclude you from being employed in or engaging in any aspect of the healthcare business if, as and when you are no longer employed by the Company.

This offer and your acceptance of that offer also are contingent upon your agreement to use the Company’s mandatory/binding arbitration program rather than
the courts to resolve employment-related legal disputes. In arbitration, an arbitrator instead of a judge or jury resolves the dispute, and the decision of the
arbitrator is final and binding. The enclosed materials should answer any questions you have about Aetna’s Employment Dispute Arbitration Program. WITH
RESPECT TO CLAIMS SUBJECT TO THE ARBITRATION REQUIREMENT, ARBITRATION REPLACES YOUR RIGHT AND THE COMPANY’S
RIGHT TO SUE OR PARTICIPATE IN A LAWSUIT. YOU ARE ADVISED TO, AND MAY TAKE THE OPPORTUNITY TO, OBTAIN LEGAL
ADVICE BEFORE FINAL ACCEPTANCE OF THE TERMS OF THIS OFFER. Please complete the enclosed Employment Dispute Arbitration
Acknowledgement form and return it to Chris Berger on or before your first day of employment. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in any document or
plan of the Company, any arbitration between you and the Company shall be held in New York City at the offices of the American Arbitration Association.

You should understand that this letter is not an employment contract. Aetna is an “at will” employer and makes no representation of continued employment.
While the company hopes that its employment relationship with its employees will be mutually enjoyable and lasting, employees may terminate their
employment at any time, with or without cause, or notice, and the company may do the same.

Your New Employee Orientation will be delivered via Aetna’s Intranet on your start date. Our orientation web-site will provide you with information which
allows you to sign-up for benefits, handle payroll administration functions, obtain your employee I.D. badge and parking hang tag (where applicable). Look
for the “Welcome to Aetna” e-mail that will start you on your orientation experience.
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Once again, I am delighted to extend this offer to you and look forward to your acceptance. Please acknowledge your acceptance of this offer by signing the
enclosed copy of this letter, signing the enclosed copy of the non-solicit/confidentiality/assignment agreement and completing the employment application and
returning each to Chris Berger at your earliest convenience. If you have any questions about the terms of this offer, please do not hesitate to call me.

Sincerely,

Aetna Inc.
     
   
 By:  /s/ John W. Rowe, M.D.   
  John W. Rowe, M.D.  
    
 
        
Accepted: /s/ Craig R. Callen  Date:   April 28, 2004  

Enclosures

 



 

NON-SOLICITATION, CONFIDENTIALITY AND ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT

WHEREAS, I, Craig R. Callen, as an executive of Aetna Inc. or one of its subsidiaries or affiliates (collectively, the “Company”), will be entrusted with
knowledge of the Company’s information and materials described below, and will be trained and instructed in the Company’s particular operational methods;
and

WHEREAS, I am desirous of being in the Company’s employment as an at-will employee;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of my employment with the Company, the Company providing to me Confidential Information as described below and
other good and sufficient consideration, I hereby covenant and agree as follows:

1.  I covenant and agree that for a period of twelve (12) months after my employment with the Company has been terminated for any reason, whether with or
without cause and whether voluntarily or involuntarily, I will not directly or indirectly (a) solicit or aid in the solicitation of any employee of the Company,
(b) solicit or aid in the solicitation on behalf of a Competitor of any customer of the Company with whom I have been personally involved, either directly or
indirectly, or (c) induce any health care supplier or provider, broker or agent of the Company to cease or curtail providing services to the Company. As
used in this Agreement, a “Competitor” is any company or organization that develops, administers, operates, offers or solicits offers regarding managed
care, health, pharmacy, dental, life, long-term care or disability coverages, networks, insurance or plans to employers, employees or individuals.

 
2.  The Company agrees to provide me with access to the Company’s trade secrets, confidential information, and proprietary materials which may include but

is not limited to the following categories of information and materials: methods, procedures, computer programs, databases, customer lists and identities,
provider lists and identities, employee lists and identities, processes, premium and other pricing information, research, payment rates, methodologies,
contractual forms, and other information which is not publicly available generally and which has been developed or acquired by the Company with
considerable effort and expense (“Confidential Information”). I covenant and agree to hold all of the foregoing trade secrets, confidential information and
proprietary materials in the strictest confidence and shall not disclose, divulge or reveal the same to any person or entity during the term of my employment
with the Company or at any time thereafter.

 
3.  I understand that I am an at-will employee and that either I or the Company may terminate our employment relationship at any time, with or without cause

or notice. Upon such termination, and prior to such termination upon request of the Company, I shall immediately return to the Company all Company
property, documentation, trade secrets, confidential information and proprietary materials in my possession, custody or control, and shall return any
copies thereof. After termination of my employment with the Company, I further agree to cooperate reasonably with all matters requested by the Company
within the scope of my employment with the Company.

 
4.  The purpose of this Agreement, among other things, is to protect the Company from unfair or inappropriate competition and to protect its trade secrets,

confidential information and business relationships. I agree that if the scope of enforcement of this Agreement is ever disputed, a court or other competent
trier of fact may modify and enforce it to the extent it believes is lawful and appropriate.

 
5.  I acknowledge that all original works of authorship that are made by me (solely or jointly with others) within the scope of my employment and which are

protectable by copyright are “works made for hire” as that term is defined in the United States Copyright Act (17 U.S.C., Section 101). I further
acknowledge that, while employed by the Company, I may develop ideas, inventions, innovations, procedures, methods, know-how or other works which
relate to the Company’s current or are reasonably expected to relate to the Company’s future business that may be patentable. To the extent any such works
may be patentable, I agree that the Company may file and prosecute any application for patents in my name and that I will, on request, assign to the
Company (and take all such further steps as may be reasonably necessary to perfect the Company’s sole and exclusive ownership of) any such application
and any patents resulting therefrom.
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6.  I acknowledge that compliance with this Agreement is necessary to protect the business and good will of the Company and that any actual or prospective
breach will cause injury or damage to the Company which may be irreparable and for which money damages may not be adequate. I therefore agree that if
I breach or attempt to breach this Agreement, the Company shall be entitled to obtain temporary, preliminary and permanent equitable relief, without bond,
to prevent irreparable harm or injury, and to money damages, together with any and all other remedies available under applicable law. I understand that I
shall be liable to pay the Company’s reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs in any successful action to enforce this agreement. The Company agrees not to
seek injunctive or other equitable relief for a period in excess of 12 months for a breach of any nonsolicitation provision contained in any other agreement
between us, including my performance unit award agreement, notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in such agreement.

 
7.  Any controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the breach, termination, or validity thereof, except for temporary, preliminary, or

permanent injunctive relief or any other form of equitable relief, shall be settled by binding arbitration administered by the American Arbitration
Association (“AAA”) in Hartford County, Connecticut and conducted by a sole arbitrator in accordance with the AAA’s Commercial Arbitration Rules
(“Rules”). The arbitration shall be governed by the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. §§ 1-16, to the exclusion of state laws inconsistent therewith or that
would produce a different result, and judgment on the award rendered by the arbitrator may be entered by any court having jurisdiction thereof. Except as
may be required by law or to the extent necessary in connection with a judicial challenge, or enforcement of an award, neither a party nor the arbitrator
may disclose the existence, content, record or results of an arbitration. Fourteen (14) calendar days before the hearing, the parties will exchange and
provide to the arbitrator (a) a list of witnesses they intend to call (including any experts) with a short description of the anticipated direct testimony of each
witness and an estimate of the length thereof, and (b) premarked copies of all exhibits they intend to use at the hearing. Depositions for discovery purposes
shall not be permitted. The arbitrator may award only monetary relief and is not empowered to award damages other than compensatory damages.

 
8.  This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Connecticut. The Company does not intend to enforce the restrictions in

Paragraph 1 above to the extent (a) such enforcement would violate applicable law or (b) the restrictions are invalid or void under applicable law. I hereby
irrevocably consent to the personal jurisdiction of the courts of the State of Connecticut, it being acknowledged that the Company maintains its
headquarters in said location.

 
9.  This Agreement constitutes the entire understanding and agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof, and no verbal or other

statements, inducements or representations have been made or relied upon by any party. No modifications or change hereby shall be binding upon any
party unless in writing executed by all parties.

 
10.  I acknowledge that the Company is relying upon my foregoing commitments and obligations in revealing trade secrets and confidential information to me,

in making any future annual bonus or salary increase and/or any other payments to me, and in otherwise employing me.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties, intending to be legally bound, state that they understand this agreement, enter into it freely, and have duly executed it
below.

      
Executed by:
Craig R. Callen  

Accepted by:
AETNA INC.

      
/s/ Craig R. Callen  By:  /s/ John W. Rowe, M.D.  
(Signature)    John W. Rowe, M.D.  
      
Craig R. Callen    April 27, 2004  
(Print Name)    (Date)  
      
(Department)      
      
April 28, 2004      
(Date)      
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Exhibit 12.1

Computation of Ratios

The computation of ratio of earnings to fixed charges for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, 2002, 2001 and 2000 are as follows:

                     
(Millions)  2004  2003  2002  2001  2000 

Pretax income (loss) from continuing operations  $1,898.9  $ 1,441.6  $ 544.8  $ (378.7)(1) $ (39.0)(2)

Add back fixed charges   165.5   161.1   178.3   218.8   360.9 
Income, as adjusted  $ 2,064.4  $1,602.7  $ 723.1  $ (159.9)  $ 321.9 
 

Fixed charges:                     
Interest on indebtedness  $ 104.7  $ 102.9  $ 119.5  $ 142.8  $ 248.2 
Portion of rents representative of interest factor   60.8   58.2   58.8   76.0   112.7 
Total fixed charges  $ 165.5  $ 161.1  $ 178.3  $ 218.8  $ 360.9 

Ratio of earnings to fixed charges   12.47   9.95   4.06   (0.73)(1)  0.89(2)

(1)
  Pretax loss from continuing operations reflects a severance and facilities charge of $192.5 million. Additional pretax income from continuing operations

necessary to achieve a ratio of earnings to fixed charges of 1.0 was approximately $378.7 million.
(2)

  Pretax loss from continuing operations reflects a goodwill write-off of $310.2 million, a severance and facilities charge of $142.5 million and $57.8 million
of change-in control related payments and other costs required to effect the spin-off of the Company from former Aetna. Additional pretax income from
continuing operations necessary to achieve a ratio of earnings to fixed charges of 1.0 was approximately $39.0 million.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”)

OVERVIEW

Aetna Inc. (with its subsidiaries, the “Company”) is one of the nation’s largest providers of health insurance and related benefits, based on membership as of
December 31, 2004. The Company’s products include health care, dental, pharmacy and group insurance (including life, disability and long-term care)
benefit products. As of December 31, 2004, the Company served approximately 13.7 million medical members, 11.9 million dental members, 8.4 million
pharmacy members and 13.5 million group insurance members. The Company’s operations are conducted in three business segments: Health Care, Group
Insurance and Large Case Pensions.

The following MD&A provides a review of the financial condition of the Company as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 and its results of operations for the
years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002. This Overview should be read in conjunction with the entire MD&A, which contains detailed information
that is important to understanding the Company’s results of operations and financial condition. Therefore, this Overview is qualified in its entirety by the full
MD&A.

During 2004, the Company completed its turnaround phase.

The period of 2002 to 2004 was one of financial turnaround for the Company. After recording operating losses in 2001, the Company returned to operating
profitability in 2002 due primarily to significant premium increases, addressing rising health care costs and reduction of membership with historically higher
medical cost ratios. The Company’s operating profit in 2003 primarily reflected continuing improvement in operating margins in the Company’s Health Care
segment, as premium increases outpaced increases in per member health care costs in Commercial Risk products. In summary, during 2002 and 2003, the
Company’s financial performance improved although its membership and total revenue declined. During 2004, the Company met its objective of achieving
profitable growth and increasing membership. Operating profit in 2004 reflects higher premium and fees in the Company’s Health Care segment driven by rate
increases for renewing membership as well as membership growth for both administrative services contract (“ASC”) business (employer-funded plans where
the plan sponsor assumes all or a majority of the risk for medical and dental care costs) and Risk business (where the Company assumes all or a majority of
the risk for medical and dental care costs), as well as reductions in general and administrative expenses.

The Company also generated strong cash flows from operations during 2003 and 2004 (refer to “Liquidity and Capital Resources”). In addition, the
Company’s cash position was further benefited from a tax refund of approximately $740 million, which was approved by the Congressional Joint Committee
on Taxation in 2004 (of which approximately $666 million was received in 2004). In addition, in 2004, the Company entered into a new unsecured five-year
revolving credit agreement, which provides for the granting of revolving loans and the issuance of letters of credit, up to a maximum aggregate amount
outstanding of $800 million (with an option to expand the commitments to $1 billion, subject to certain conditions).

The Company has also taken measures to improve its relationship with physicians and its market position. The Company has continued to focus on
improving its operating processes for claim payments and other matters affecting physicians and members. During 2003, the Company and representatives of
over 900,000 physicians, state and other medical societies entered into a settlement agreement resolving a national class action lawsuit as well as multiple state
court actions filed against the Company.

In 2003 and 2004, the Company also continued to introduce or further develop new products and services including further refinements to consumer-directed
health care plan initiatives such as the Aetna HealthFund ® and changes to its other health products and medical cost management programs.
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Summary of Consolidated Results

             
(Millions, except per share amounts)  2004  2003  2002 
Total revenues  $19,904.1  $17,976.4  $19,878.7 
 
Income from continuing operations   1,215.1   933.8   393.2 
 
Net income (loss)   2,245.1(1)  933.8   (2,522.5)(2)

 
Income from continuing operations per common share   7.74   5.91   2.57 
(1)

  Net income in 2004 includes income from discontinued operations of $1.03 billion related to the Congressional Joint Committee on Taxation’s approval of a
tax refund and the release of federal income tax reserves resulting from the resolution of certain Internal Revenue Service audits associated with businesses
sold by the Company’s predecessor (former Aetna) (refer to Note 22 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information).

(2)
  Net loss in 2002 includes income from discontinued operations of $50 million related to the release of federal income tax reserves resulting from the

resolution of several Internal Revenue Service audit issues and a cumulative effect charge of approximately $3 billion related to the adoption of Financial
Accounting Standard (“FAS”) No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets .

Certain other items included in income from continuing operations are as follows:

             
(Millions, after tax)  2004  2003  2002 
Net realized capital gains  $ 45.9  $ 42.0  $ 22.3 
Contribution to Aetna Foundation (1)   (29.3)   —   — 
Physician Class Action Settlement (2)   —   (75.0)   — 
Severance and facilities charges   —   —   (104.6)
Release of state income tax reserves (3)   —   —   19.8 
Reduction of reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products   —   —   5.4 
(1)

  In 2004, the Company made a $29 million ($45 million pretax) voluntary contribution to the Aetna Foundation Inc., a separate and distinct charitable
organization, an amount that is over and above the Company’s normal level of contributions.

(2)
  In 2003, the Company recorded an after tax charge of $75 million ($115 million pretax) in connection with the Physician Class Action Settlement, net of

an estimated insurance recoverable of $72 million pretax.
(3)

  In 2002, the Company released $19.8 million of state income tax related reserves as a result of the favorable conclusion of several state tax audits.

Given the Company’s progress on earnings, profitable growth of membership and its financial condition, the Company believes its financial turnaround is
complete.

During 2004, the Company managed its capital in support of both new and ongoing initiatives.

In 2003 and 2004, the Company deployed its capital in support of strategic initiatives including: repurchases of the Company’s common stock; annual cash
dividends; voluntary contributions to the Company’s pension plan; and funding of targeted acquisitions or joint ventures relevant to its strategy. Transactions
announced in 2004 included:

   Aetna Behavioral Health — The Company announced it will launch a full-service behavioral health business and end its contract with Magellan Health
Services (“Magellan”) for behavioral health services as of December 31, 2005. Pursuant to an existing agreement with Magellan, the Company has decided to
exercise its option to purchase the assets of Magellan that currently service the Company’s behavioral health business effective December 31, 2005. The cost
to exercise this option is expected to be approximately $50 million, including the settlement of an existing $49 million note from Magellan to the Company
and a modest incremental cash payment to Magellan by the Company.

 
   Aetna Specialty Pharmacy, LLC — The Company and Priority Healthcare Corporation formed a new joint venture, Aetna Specialty Pharmacy, LLC,

which will be an Aetna-branded specialty pharmacy. The Company funded a 40% ownership interest in this joint venture in 2004 and expects operations to
commence in 2005. This joint venture will complement the Company’s mail-order pharmacy facility, which began operations in 2003. Neither the amount of
Aetna’s funding nor the option purchase price is material to the Company’s financial position.
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   Strategic Resource Company (“SRC”) – In August 2004, the Company announced that it had agreed to acquire SRC, a privately-held administrator of
group limited benefit products for part-time and hourly workers. The transaction closed on January 6, 2005. For approximately $252 million, financed
through available cash, Aetna acquired 100% of the stock of SRC and reinsured the insurance contracts administered by SRC. Approximately $72 million
of the purchase price is held in escrow pending resolution of certain future events.

The Company believes these acquisitions will enhance existing product capabilities and future growth opportunities.

During 2004, the Company repurchased approximately 16.1 million shares of common stock at a cost of approximately $1.5 billion under share repurchase
programs authorized by the Company’s Board of Directors. Additionally, during 2004, the Company declared and paid a $6 million cash dividend to
shareholders.

Given its results, the Company believes it has established a foundation for profitable growth.

The Company is now striving to attain industry leadership. To reach this goal, the Company will focus its attention on profitably growing market share and
operating earnings; demonstrating superior medical cost, quality and clinical integration; achieving competitive administrative expenses; using technology to
enhance its competitive position; and delivering best-in-class service for all constituents. The Company’s 2005 outlook is as follows:

   Health Care membership growth is targeted for 2005. The Company continues to take actions to increase membership, including efforts to reach
customers via an integrated product approach in generating sales to new customers, as well as increased cross-sell penetration within the existing
membership base and targeted geographic marketing, to achieve substantial membership growth in 2005. These membership increases combined with price
increases, would contribute to higher revenue and operating earnings.

 
   Group Insurance operating earnings are expected to remain level with 2004. The Company expects its Group Insurance operating earnings in 2005 to

be generally level with that of 2004 as a result of maintaining key products and continued expense management initiatives.
 
   Large Case Pensions earnings are expected to reflect continued run-off of business. The Company expects earnings in its Large Case Pensions segment

will be lower than in 2004, consistent with the continued run-off of underlying liabilities and assets. However, operating earnings for Large Case Pensions
can vary from current expectations depending on, among other matters, future investment performance of the assets supporting existing liabilities.

 
   Operating expense ratio (operating expenses divided by revenue) targeted to improve. The Company continues to take actions to improve the efficiency

of its operations, including efforts to leverage existing infrastructure to support additional growth as well as improvements in systems and processes. The
Company will continue to target 2005 spending on operational improvements including self-service and administrative technologies that will yield future
benefits. The Company expects that 2005 should continue to reflect these efforts and projects its operating expense ratio will continue to decline for the full
year before the effect of expensing stock options beginning in the third quarter of 2005.

Refer to “Forward-Looking Information/Risk Factors” for information regarding other important factors that may materially affect the Company.

Discussion of Segment Results

The discussion of the Company’s results of operations that follows is presented based on the Company’s reportable segments in accordance with FAS
No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information , and is consistent with the disclosure of segment information in Note 20
of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. The measure of profit or loss presented within each segment’s discussion of results of operations is the measure
reported to the Chief Executive Officer for purposes of making decisions about allocating resources to the segment and assessing its performance.
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HEALTH CARE

Health Care consists of health and dental plans offered on both a Risk basis and an employer-funded basis. Health plans include health management
organization (“HMO”), point-of-service (“POS”), preferred provider organization (“PPO”) and indemnity benefit (“Indemnity”) products. Health plans also
include health savings accounts (“HSAs”) and Aetna HealthFund®, consumer-directed health plans that combine traditional POS, PPO and/or dental
coverage, subject to a deductible, with an accumulating benefit account.

Operating Summary

             
(Millions)  2004  2003  2002 
Premiums:             

Commercial Risk (1)  $ 13,924.1  $ 12,329.3  $ 14,014.6 
Medicare   938.7   906.2   1,013.1 
Medicaid   —   —   8.4 

Total premiums   14,862.8   13,235.5   15,036.1 
Administrative services contract fees   2,027.7   1,853.9   1,806.6 
Net investment income   262.1   244.6   295.7 
Other income   23.9   8.7   15.6 
Net realized capital gains   24.1   34.4   56.0 

Total revenue   17,200.6   15,377.1   17,210.0 
Health care costs (2)   11,637.7   10,135.8   12,452.8 
Operating expenses:             

Selling expenses   630.9   510.7   573.0 
General and administrative expenses (3)   3,155.0   3,408.7   3,461.5 

Amortization of other acquired intangible assets   42.5   50.8   130.8 
Severance and facilities charges   —   —   156.0 

Total benefits and expenses   15,466.1   14,106.0   16,774.1 
Income before income taxes and cumulative effect adjustments   1,734.5   1,271.1   435.9 
Income taxes   639.5   461.5   119.5 
Income before cumulative effect adjustments   1,095.0   809.6   316.4 
Cumulative effect adjustments, net of tax   —   —   (2,965.7)
Net income (loss)  $ 1,095.0  $ 809.6  $ (2,649.3)
 

Net realized capital gains, net of tax (included above)  $ 15.6  $ 22.2  $ 36.4 
(1)  Commercial Risk includes all medical and dental risk products, except Medicare and Medicaid.
(2)  The percentage of health care costs related to capitated arrangements (a fee arrangement where the Company pays providers a monthly fixed fee for each

member, regardless of the medical services provided to the member) was 9.1% for 2004 compared to 10.9% for 2003 and 11.3% for 2002.
(3)  Includes salaries and related benefit expenses of $1.9 billion in 2004, $2.0 billion in 2003 and $2.1 billion in 2002.

Health Care Results

The table presented below identifies certain items which, although they may recur, are excluded from net income (loss), to arrive at operating earnings, and
reconciles operating earnings to net income (loss) reported in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). Management believes
excluding these items to arrive at operating earnings provides useful information as to the Company’s underlying business performance. In addition,
management uses operating earnings to assess performance and make operating decisions.

Realized capital gains and losses arise from various types of transactions primarily in the course of managing a portfolio of assets that support the payment of
liabilities, but these transactions do not directly relate to the underwriting or servicing of products for customers and are not directly related to the core
performance of the Company’s business operations. The Physician Class Action Settlement relates to the settlement of significant litigation not in the ordinary
course of business and the cumulative effect adjustments relate to the Company’s adoption of new accounting standards, which do not reflect the underlying
performance of the Company’s business. The severance and facilities charges represent an estimate of costs related to reductions of staff or exiting of facilities
and are not direct expenses supporting ongoing business operations. The release of state income tax reserves was the result of the favorable conclusion of
several state tax audits relating to prior periods, accordingly, this reserve release does not reflect the underlying performance of the Company’s business. The
Company also displays medical cost ratios excluding changes to prior-period health care cost estimates to better reflect the underlying current period health care
costs and the favorable resolution of a prior period contract matter to better reflect the premiums generated from underlying current period performance.
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(Millions, after tax)  2004  2003  2002 
Net income (loss)  $1,095.0  $ 809.6  $(2,649.3)
Other items included in net income (loss):             

Net realized capital gains   (15.6)   (22.2)   (36.4)
Physician Class Action Settlement   —   75.0   — 
Severance and facilities charges   —   —   101.4 
Release of state income tax reserves   —   —   (19.8)
Cumulative effect adjustments, net   —   —   2,965.7 

Operating earnings  $ 1,079.4  $ 862.4  $ 361.6 

Expanding underwriting margins and lower general and administrative expenses contributed to continued improvement in results for 2004

Operating earnings for 2004 reflect an increase of $217 million from 2003. The increase in operating earnings reflects higher total underwriting margins
(premiums less health care costs), higher ASC fees and lower general and administrative expenses. The total underwriting margin reflects growth in premiums,
a higher Commercial Risk medical cost ratio, as further discussed below, and less favorable development of prior period health care costs in 2004
($57 million after tax ($90 million pretax)) when compared to 2003 ($148 million after tax ($228 million pretax)). The growth in premiums and ASC fees
resulted from rate increases for renewing membership and increases in membership levels (refer to “Membership”). General and administrative expenses were
lower primarily due to lower employee-related performance-based compensation, lower pension costs and lower rent expense due to an $18 million pretax
expense in 2003 that was not present in 2004, associated with the exit of a real estate facility no longer being used in the Company’s operations. Lower expenses
were offset in part by a voluntary contribution of $29 million ($45 million pretax) to the Aetna Foundation Inc., a separate and distinct charitable
organization, in 2004. The increase in operating earnings for 2004 was partially offset by increased selling expenses consistent with higher overall premiums
and a higher proportion of premiums in certain customer markets which have higher selling costs. Operating expenses also include a curtailment benefit of
$21 million after tax ($32 million pretax) recorded in the first quarter of 2004 related to the elimination of the dental subsidy for all retirees.

2003 results reflect a substantial improvement from 2002

Operating earnings for 2003 reflect an increase of $501 million from 2002. The increase in operating earnings is due primarily to improved underwriting
margins as premium rate increases outpaced increases in per member health care costs for Commercial Risk, as well as the favorable development of prior
period health care cost estimates of approximately $148 million after tax ($228 million pretax) for 2003, compared to approximately $46 million after tax
($71 million pretax) for 2002. The increase in operating earnings was partially offset by lower Medicare results due to lower membership levels, increases in
per member health care costs outpacing premium rate increases and a decrease in net investment income primarily due to the lower interest rate environment. In
addition, membership levels for 2003 were lower than those in 2002, resulting in both lower premiums and health care costs.

Operating earnings for 2003 also reflect a decrease in total general and administrative expenses, including salaries and related benefits, due to lower
membership levels and expense reduction initiatives, including workforce reductions, lower expenses for outside consultant services and lower claim
processing costs and broker commissions consistent with lower membership levels. Operating earnings for 2003 also include a curtailment benefit of
$22 million after tax ($34 million pretax) in the first quarter of 2003 related to the phase out of the retiree medical subsidy for active employees (refer to Note 13
of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information). The decrease in operating expenses was partially offset by higher pension costs and
an $18 million pretax expense associated with the exit of a real estate facility no longer being used in the Company’s operations.

The performance of our Commercial Risk business improved in 2004 and 2003

Commercial Risk premiums increased approximately $1.6 billion in 2004, when compared to 2003, but decreased approximately $1.7 billion in 2003, when
compared to 2002. The increase in 2004 reflects premium rate increases on renewing business and increases in membership levels (refer to “Membership”).
The decrease in 2003 reflects membership reductions, partially offset by premium rate increases on renewing business.
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The Commercial Risk medical cost ratio (health care costs divided by premiums) was 77.8% for 2004, 76.0% for 2003 and 82.9% for 2002. Commercial
Risk health care costs for 2004, 2003 and 2002 reflect favorable development of prior period health care cost estimates, on a pretax basis, of approximately
$78 million, $215 million, and $36 million, respectively. The favorable development of prior period health care cost estimates recognized primarily relates to
health care costs incurred in the preceding year and considers the actual claims experience that emerged in the year, as well as lower than expected health care
cost trends. The actual claim submission time (i.e., the period of time from the date medical services were provided to members to the date the Company
received the medical claim from the provider) was shorter than the Company had anticipated in determining its health care costs payable at December of the
preceding year. Such acceleration was not evident until subsequent to year end, when the majority of the remaining claims for services included in health care
costs payable as of December of the preceding year were paid. As a result, the volume of claims incurred but not reported was estimated higher than the
Company actually experienced, resulting in the favorable development of prior period health care estimates recognized in 2004, 2003 and 2002 (refer to
discussion of Health Care Costs Payable below for more information). Premiums for 2002 also include a benefit of approximately $32 million pretax from the
favorable resolution of prior period contract matters for a large customer.

Excluding the favorable development of prior period health care cost estimates in 2004, 2003 and 2002 and the favorable resolution of prior period contract
matters for a large customer in 2002, the adjusted Commercial Risk medical cost ratio was 78.3% for 2004, 77.7% for 2003 and 83.3% for 2002 (refer to the
reconciliations of Commercial Risk premiums and health care costs to adjusted Commercial Risk premiums and health care costs below). The increase in the
medical cost ratio in 2004, when compared to 2003, reflects a percentage increase in health care costs that slightly outpaced the percentage increase in per
member premiums. The increase in per member health care costs was due primarily to increases in costs related to inpatient, pharmacy, outpatient and
physician services. The decrease in the medical cost ratio in 2003, when compared to 2002, was the result of per member premium rate increases outpacing per
member health care cost increases reflecting a moderation in utilization trends, primarily pharmacy, physician, inpatient and outpatient services. The
moderation in utilization trends was impacted by a number of external factors, including the effect of benefit design changes on medical expenditures, along
with the Company’s initiatives relating to disease management and case management, enhancements to pharmacy benefits management and underwriting
discipline.

             
(Millions)  2004  2003  2002 
Commercial Risk health care costs  $ 10,828.8  $9,365.4  $11,615.3 
Adjustments: approximate favorable development of prior period health care cost estimates   78.0   215.0   36.0 
Adjusted Commercial Risk health care costs  $10,906.8  $ 9,580.4  $11,651.3 
             
(Millions)  2004  2003  2002 
Commercial Risk premiums  $13,924.1  $12,329.3  $ 14,014.6 
Adjustments: favorable resolution of prior period contract matters for a large customer   —   —   (32.0)
Adjusted Commercial Risk premiums  $13,924.1  $12,329.3  $13,982.6 

Medicare experienced an increase in medical cost ratios in 2004 and 2003

The Company’s Medicare Advantage (formerly Medicare+Choice) contracts with the federal government are renewable for a one-year period each January 1.
The Company offered a Medicare Advantage option in 2004 in all of the markets it served in 2003 and intends to continue to offer such option in 2005. In
addition, as part of the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”) Medicare Advantage Demonstration Project, the Company expanded its open
access Medicare Advantage plan (the Aetna Golden Choice™ Plan) by offering it for 2004 in two additional counties in New York and Pennsylvania. In
February 2005, the Company filed a letter of intent with CMS to become a national provider of the new Medicare prescription drug plan, effective January 1,
2006. The Company expects CMS to award contracts by September 2005.
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Medicare premiums increased approximately $33 million in 2004, when compared to 2003, and decreased approximately $107 million in 2003, when
compared to 2002. The increase in 2004 reflect increases in premiums due to rate increases by CMS, partially offset by reductions in supplemental premiums
and decreases in membership. The decrease in 2003 reflects membership reductions, partially offset by increases in supplemental premiums and rate increases
by CMS.

The Medicare medical cost ratio for 2004 was 86.2%, compared to 85.2% for 2003 and 82.2% for 2002. Health care costs for 2004, 2003 and 2002 reflect
favorable development of prior period health care cost estimates on a pretax basis of approximately $12 million, $13 million and $35 million, respectively.
Excluding this favorable development of prior period health care cost estimates, the adjusted Medicare medical cost ratio was 87.5% for 2004 and 86.6% for
2003 and 85.6% for 2002 (refer to the reconciliations of Medicare health care costs to adjusted Medicare health care costs below). The increase in the medical
cost ratio for 2004, when compared to 2003, reflects a percentage increase in health care costs that slightly outpaced the percentage increase in per member
premiums. The increase in per member health care costs was primarily due to increases in costs related to inpatient, pharmacy, outpatient and physician
services. The increase in the medical cost ratio for 2003, when compared to 2002, reflects per member premium rate increases that were outpaced by increases
in per member health care costs due primarily to higher utilization.

             
(Millions)  2004  2003  2002 
Medicare health care costs (included in total health care costs above)  $ 809.0  $ 771.8  $ 832.6 
Adjustments: approximate favorable development of prior period health care cost estimates   12.0   13.0   35.0 
Adjusted Medicare health care costs  $ 821.0  $ 784.8  $ 867.6 

Health Care Costs Payable

Health care costs payable reflects estimates of the ultimate cost of claims that have been incurred but not yet reported and those which have been reported but
not yet paid. The Company develops such estimates using actuarial principles and assumptions that consider, among other things, historical and projected
claim submission patterns, historical and projected claim processing time, health care cost trends, utilization of health care services, claim inventory levels,
changes in membership and product mix, seasonality and other relevant factors. In developing its estimate of health care costs payable, the Company
consistently applies the actuarial principles and assumptions each period, with consideration to the variability of these factors.

Because the average life of most health care claims is less than three-months and a large portion of health care claims are not submitted to the Company until
after the end of the quarter in which services are rendered by providers to members, historical and projected claim submission, processing time and medical
cost trends are key assumptions in the Company’s estimate of health care costs payable. Given these assumptions, an extensive degree of judgment is used in
this estimation process, considerable variability is inherent in such estimates, and the adequacy of the estimates is highly sensitive to changes in medical
claims submission and payment patterns and changes in medical cost trends.

The Company believes its estimate of health care costs payable is reasonable and adequate to cover the Company’s obligations as of December 31, 2004;
however, actual claim payments may differ from established estimates. A worsening (or improvement) of medical cost trend (the rate of increase in per member
health care costs) or changes in claim submission and payment patterns from those that were assumed in estimating health care costs payable at December 31,
2004 would cause these estimates to change in the near term, and such a change could be material. For example, if changes in claim submission and/or
processing patterns resulted in a 100-basis point change in the estimated medical cost trend for Commercial Risk products, annual after tax results for 2004
would have changed by approximately $65 million. This estimation process is a critical accounting policy for the Company. Refer to “Critical Accounting
Policies” for more information.

Page 7



 

Each quarter, the Company re-examines previously established health care costs payable estimates based on actual claim payments for prior periods and other
changes in facts and circumstances. Given the extensive degree of judgment in this estimate, it is possible that estimates of health care costs payable could
develop either favorably or unfavorably. The Company includes the impacts of changes in estimates in earnings when they are identified. The changes in the
estimate of health care costs payable may relate to the prior fiscal quarter, prior fiscal year or earlier periods.

Health care costs payable as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 consisted of the following:

         
(Millions)  2004  2003 
Commercial Risk  $ 1,834.7  $1,785.7 
Medicare   92.4   103.0 
Total health care costs payable  $1,927.1  $ 1,888.7 

Other Revenue

ASC fees for 2004 increased $174 million compared to 2003, reflecting increases in rates and ASC membership levels (refer to “Membership”). ASC fees for
2003 increased $47 million compared to 2002, reflecting an increase in rates, partially offset by lower ASC membership levels.

Net realized capital gains of $16 million for 2004 primarily reflect gains on debt securities resulting from sales in a low interest rate environment partially
offset by losses from the write-down of other invested assets. Net realized capital gains of $22 million for 2003 primarily reflect net gains on debt securities
resulting from sales in a low interest rate environment. Net realized capital gains of $36 million for 2002 include a capital gain of $39 million after tax related
to the Company’s 1997 sale of its behavioral health subsidiary, Human Affairs International (“HAI”) and net gains from the sale of debt securities in a low
interest rate environment. The Company recorded capital gains relating to the HAI sale as they became realizable. Refer to “Behavioral Health Arrangements
with Magellan” below for further information on the $60 million pretax that was scheduled to be paid to the Company in February 2003 by the purchaser of
HAI, Magellan Health Services, Inc. (“Magellan”). These 2002 gains were partially offset by capital losses primarily due to the write-down of certain debt and
equity securities, the final resolution of matters related to the prior year sale of certain subsidiaries, the sale of the Company’s investment in an internet
technology-based connectivity company and losses from futures contracts used for managing the maturities of invested assets with the payment of expected
liabilities.

Income Taxes

Health Care’s effective tax rate was 36.9% in 2004, 36.3% in 2003 and 27.4% in 2002. In 2002, the Company released approximately $20 million of state
income tax related reserves as a result of the favorable conclusion of several state tax audits. Excluding this income tax benefit in 2002, and amortization of
other acquired intangible assets and net realized capital gains for all periods, the adjusted effective tax rates were 36.8% in 2004, 36.3% in 2003 and 32.4% in
2002 (refer to the reconciliations of the numerator and the denominator below). Management believes this presents a useful view of the effective tax rate relating
to Health Care’s underlying business performance. The fluctuations in the effective tax rate primarily reflect fluctuation in pretax income and a change in the
mix of state income taxes that apply to pretax income. The increase in the effective tax rate for 2003, compared to 2002, also reflects a dilution of benefit from
tax advantaged investment income due to substantially higher pretax operating earnings. The mix of state income taxes depends on the states in which the
Company’s earnings or losses are incurred and the level of such earnings or losses, due to differing tax rates and/or limitations of allowed losses in various
states.
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(Millions)  2004  2003  2002 
Numerator:             
Income taxes  $ 639.5  $ 461.5  $ 119.5 

Adjustments:             
Benefit from state income tax reserve release   —   —   19.8 
Amortization of other acquired intangible assets   14.9   17.8   45.8 
Net realized capital gains   (8.5)   (12.2)   (19.6)

Adjusted income taxes  $ 645.9  $ 467.1  $ 165.5 
 
Denominator:             
Income before income taxes and cumulative effect adjustments  $ 1,734.5  $ 1,271.1  $ 435.9 

Adjustments:             
Amortization of other acquired intangible assets   42.5   50.8   130.8 
Net realized capital gains   (24.1)   (34.4)   (56.0)

Adjusted income before income taxes and cumulative effect adjustments  $1,752.9  $1,287.5  $ 510.7 

Membership

Health Care’s membership as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 was as follows:
                         
  December 31, 2004   December 31, 2003  
(Thousands)  Risk  ASC  Total  Risk  ASC  Total 
Medical                         

Commercial   4,684   8,762   13,446   4,353   8,430   12,783 
Medicare   97   —   97   105   —   105 
Medicaid   —   113   113   —   114   114 

Total medical membership   4,781   8,875   13,656   4,458   8,544   13,002 
 

Dental   4,676   7,256   11,932   4,435   6,507   10,942 
Pharmacy (1)           8,447           7,521 
Aetna HealthFund® (2)           222           44 
(1)

  At December 31, 2004 and 2003, pharmacy members in thousands include 7,989 and 7,244 members, respectively, receiving pharmacy benefit
management services and 458 and 277 members, respectively, who purchased medications through the Company’s mail order pharmacy.

(2)
  Represents the Company’s consumer-directed membership included in Commercial medical membership.

Total medical and dental membership as of December 31, 2004 increased by approximately 654,000 and 990,000 members, respectively, compared to
December 31, 2003. The percentage of Risk and ASC medical membership at December 31, 2004 was approximately 35% and 65%, respectively, compared to
34% and 66%, respectively at December 31, 2003.

Behavioral Health Arrangements with Magellan

The Company recognized the final installment of contingent consideration under a long-term strategic provider relationship with Magellan of $60 million
pretax as a realized capital gain in 2002. This amount was due in February 2003 but was not paid. Magellan filed for protection under Chapter 11 of the
Federal Bankruptcy Code (“Chapter 11”) on March 11, 2003, and announced plans to reorganize and restructure its financial obligations. In January 2004,
Magellan completed its financial restructuring, exited from Chapter 11, paid the Company $15 million and provided the Company with a $45 million interest
bearing note. The Company extended its agreement with Magellan to continue providing behavioral health services to its members through December 31, 2005
in connection with a new strategic focus for its behavioral health programs designed to optimize service and improve access to care for members through a
closer integration of behavioral and medical health care. As part of the agreement, Magellan has established certain dedicated business sites designed solely to
serve the Company’s members and focus on clinical and network management. In addition, under the terms of the agreement, the Company may choose to
either further extend the contract with Magellan through December 31, 2006 or purchase certain of the dedicated business units on or after December 31, 2005.
In December 2004, the Company announced its intention to exercise the purchase option and end its contract with Magellan for behavioral health services
effective December 31, 2005.
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GROUP INSURANCE

Group Insurance includes group life insurance products offered on a risk basis, including basic term group life insurance, group universal life, supplemental
or voluntary programs and accidental death and dismemberment coverage. Group Insurance also includes disability products offered on both a risk and an
employer-funded basis which consist primarily of short-term and long-term disability insurance (and products which combine both), as well as long-term care
products, which provide benefits offered to cover the cost of care in private home settings, adult day care, assisted living or nursing facilities.

Operating Summary

             
(Millions)  2004  2003  2002 
Premiums:             

Life  $ 1,226.4  $ 1,146.7  $ 1,093.0 
Disability   315.1   287.3   300.0 
Long-term care   83.4   73.2   64.4 

Total premiums   1,624.9   1,507.2   1,457.4 
Administrative services contract fees   27.2   30.8   36.0 
Net investment income   274.1   268.7   269.5 
Other income   3.4   3.6   4.0 
Net realized capital gains (losses)   30.5   22.6   (21.6)

Total revenue   1,960.1   1,832.9   1,745.3 
Current and future benefits   1,531.1   1,406.2   1,380.5 
Operating expenses:             

Selling expenses   69.1   56.7   42.3 
General and administrative expenses (1)   153.9   159.5   134.9 
Severance and facilities charge   —   —   5.0 

Total benefits and expenses   1,754.1   1,622.4   1,562.7 
Income before income taxes   206.0   210.5   182.6 
Income taxes   59.7   61.2   57.6 
Net income  $ 146.3  $ 149.3  $ 125.0 
Net realized capital gains (losses), net of tax (included above)  $ 19.8  $ 14.5  $ (14.0)
(1)

  Includes salaries and related benefit expenses of $88.5 million in 2004, $90.5 million in 2003 and $73.3 million in 2002.

Group Insurance Results

The table presented below identifies certain items which, although they may recur, are excluded from net income to arrive at operating earnings, and reconciles
operating earnings to net income reported in accordance with GAAP. Realized capital gains and losses arise from various types of transactions primarily in the
course of managing a portfolio of assets that support the payment of liabilities, but these transactions do not directly relate to the underwriting or servicing of
products for customers and are not directly related to the core performance of the Company’s business operations. Severance and facilities charges represent an
estimate of costs related to reductions of staff or exiting of facilities that are not direct expenses supporting ongoing business operations. Management believes
excluding these items to arrive at operating earnings provides useful information as to the Company’s underlying business performance. In addition,
management uses operating earnings to assess performance and make operating decisions.
             
(Millions, after tax)  2004  2003  2002 
Net income  $ 146.3  $ 149.3  $ 125.0 
Other items included in net income:             

Net realized capital (gains) losses   (19.8)   (14.5)   14.0 
Severance and facilities charges   —   —   3.2 

Operating earnings  $ 126.5  $ 134.8  $ 142.2 
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Operating earnings for 2004 decreased $8 million, when compared to 2003, and operating earnings for 2003 decreased $7 million, when compared to 2002.
The decrease in operating earnings for 2004 reflects an increase in the benefit cost ratio (current and future benefits divided by premiums), higher selling
expenses and lower ASC fees, partially offset by lower general and administrative expenses and higher net investment income levels. The Group Insurance
benefit cost ratios were 94.2% for 2004, 93.3% for 2003 and 94.7% for 2002. The increase in the benefit cost ratio in 2004 reflects unfavorable prior year
disability reserve experience of approximately $4.5 million after tax related to a reinsurance agreement in which the Company no longer participates as well as
lower net favorable effects from changes in long-term disability and long-term care reserve assumptions when compared to 2003.

The decrease in operating earnings for 2003 reflects an increase in operating expenses (including salaries and related benefits) primarily resulting from an
increase in sales compensation, consistent with the Company’s growth strategy, partially offset by a lower benefit cost ratio and a lower effective tax rate
reflecting the impact of higher levels of tax advantaged investments on lower pretax operating earnings. The lower benefit cost ratio in 2003 reflects
approximately $4 million after tax in net favorable effects from changes in long-term disability and
long-term care reserve assumptions, when compared to 2002. The Company periodically reviews its reserve assumptions and updates its reserve estimates as
appropriate. Key assumptions for these reserves include claim incidence rates, disability claim recovery rates, governmental program offsets (e.g., social
security) and interest rates.

Net realized capital gains for 2004 reflect gains on debt securities resulting from sales in a low interest rate environment and gains on the sale of certain real
estate investments partially offset by losses from the write-down of other invested assets. Net realized capital gains for 2003 primarily reflect net gains on debt
securities resulting from sales in a low interest rate environment. Net realized capital losses for 2002 primarily reflect losses due to the write-down of certain
investments in debt and equity securities and losses on futures contracts. These losses were partially offset by capital gains from debt securities resulting from
sales in a low interest rate environment.

Membership

Group Insurance’s membership as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 was as follows:
         
(Thousands)  2004  2003

Life   10,930   10,000 
Disability   2,341   2,085 
Long-Term Care   223   203 
Total   13,494   12,288 

Total Group Insurance membership as of December 31, 2004 increased by 1.2 million members, compared to December 31, 2003. New membership in Group
Insurance was 2.3 million for both 2004 and 2003. Lapses and in-force membership reductions were 1.2 million for 2004, compared to 1.6 million for 2003.
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LARGE CASE PENSIONS

Large Case Pensions manages a variety of retirement products (including pension and annuity products) primarily for defined benefit and defined contribution
plans. These products provide a variety of funding and benefit payment distribution options and other services. The Large Case Pensions segment includes
certain discontinued products.

Operating Summary

             
(Millions)  2004  2003  2002 
Premiums  $ 189.0  $ 161.3  $ 219.2 
Net investment income   526.3   581.7   685.5 
Other income   11.9   15.2   18.8 
Net realized capital gains (losses)   16.2   8.2   (.1)

Total revenue   743.4   766.4   923.4 
Current and future benefits   660.4   684.6   865.0 
Salaries and related benefits   14.3   14.4   15.7 
General and administrative expenses   5.6   4.5   5.2 
Reduction of reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products   —   —   (8.3)

Total benefits and expenses   680.3   703.5   877.6 
Income before income taxes   63.1   62.9   45.8 
Income taxes   21.3   21.1   16.3 
Net income  $ 41.8  $ 41.8  $ 29.5 
 

Net realized capital gains (losses), net of tax (included above)  $ 10.5  $ 5.3  $ (.1)

Assets under management: (1)             
Fully guaranteed discontinued products  $ 4,584.2  $ 4,578.3  $ 4,784.2 
Experience-rated   4,509.4   5,146.1   5,764.2 
Non-guaranteed (2)   10,632.9   9,234.1   7,916.5 

Total assets under management  $19,726.5  $18,958.5  $18,464.9 
(1)

  Excludes net unrealized capital gains of $558.8 million at December 31, 2004, $537.6 million at December 31, 2003 and $511.0 million at December 31,
2002.

(2)
  The increase in non-guaranteed assets under management in 2004 and 2003 reflect additional deposits accepted from customers and investment

appreciation.

Large Case Pensions Results

Large Case Pensions’ net income was $42 million in both 2004 and 2003, and increased $12 million in 2003, when compared to 2002. Net income for 2002
includes a benefit from the reduction of the reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products for Large Case Pensions of $5 million after tax due
primarily to favorable mortality and retirement experience and certain reductions in administrative expenses, partially offset by lower portfolio returns.
Excluding the discontinued products reserve release and net realized capital gains (losses), operating earnings were $31 million in 2004, $37 million in 2003
and $24 million in 2002. Management believes excluding net realized capital gains and losses to arrive at operating earnings provides useful information for the
same reason noted above in Health Care. Management believes excluding any changes to the reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products
provides useful information as to the Company’s continuing products and is consistent with the treatment of the results of operations of the discontinued
products, which are credited/charged to the reserve and do not affect the Company’s results of operations.

Operating earnings decreased in 2004, when compared to 2003, reflecting the continued run-off of underlying assets and liabilities. Large Case Pensions’
operating earnings are expected to continue to decline in the future in keeping with the run-off nature of the business. The increase in operating earnings in
2003, when compared to 2002, is primarily due to higher interest margins resulting from increased investment income from limited partnership investments in
the continuing operations line of business. Premiums, along with current and future benefits, decreased in 2003, when compared to 2002, primarily due to less
activity relating to the funding of retirement incentive programs by an existing customer.
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General account assets supporting experience-rated products (where the contract holder, not the Company, assumes investment and other risks subject to,
among other things, certain minimum guarantees) may be subject to participant or contract holder withdrawal. For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003
and 2002, experience-rated contract holder and participant withdrawals were as follows:

             
(Millions)  2004  2003  2002 

Scheduled contract maturities and benefit payments (1)  $ 731.5  $ 768.0  $ 793.6 
Contract holder withdrawals other than scheduled contract maturities and benefit payments (2)   81.9   78.9   104.6 
Participant-directed withdrawals (2)   25.7   27.6   22.9 
(1)  Includes payments made upon contract maturity and other amounts distributed in accordance with contract schedules.
(2)

  Approximately $638.7 million, $644.1 million and $733.7 million at December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, of experience-rated pension
contracts allowed for unscheduled contract holder withdrawals, subject to timing restrictions and formula-based market value adjustments. Further,
approximately $339.0 million $700.7 million and $1.1 billion at December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, of experience-rated contracts supported
by general account assets could be withdrawn or transferred to other plan investment options at the direction of plan participants, without market value
adjustment, subject to plan, contractual and income tax provisions.

Discontinued Products

The Company discontinued the sale of its fully guaranteed large case pension products (single-premium annuities (“SPAs”) and guaranteed investment
contracts (“GICs”)) in 1993. The Company established a reserve for anticipated future losses on these products based on the present value of the difference
between the expected cash flows from the assets supporting these products and the cash flows expected to be required to meet the product obligations.

Results of operations of discontinued products, including net realized capital gains (losses), are credited (charged) to the reserve for anticipated future losses.
The Company’s results of operations would be adversely affected to the extent that future losses on the products are greater than anticipated and favorably
affected to the extent future losses are less than anticipated.

The factors contributing to changes in the reserve for anticipated future losses are: operating income or loss, realized capital gains or losses and mortality gains
or losses. Operating income or loss is equal to revenue less expenses. Realized capital gains or losses reflect the excess (deficit) of sales price over (below) the
carrying value of assets sold and any other-than-temporary impairments. Mortality gains or losses reflect the mortality and retirement experience related to
SPAs. A mortality gain (loss) occurs when an annuitant or a beneficiary dies sooner (later) than expected. A retirement gain (loss) occurs when an annuitant
retires later (earlier) than expected.

The results of discontinued products for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 were as follows:

             
(Millions)  2004  2003  2002 

Interest deficit (1)  $ (23.1)  $ (25.0)  $ (12.2)
Net realized capital gains (losses)   24.4   72.3   (37.2)
Interest earned on receivable from continuing products   19.6   18.4   17.4 
Other, net   9.2   21.8   10.8 
Results of discontinued products, after tax  $ 30.1  $ 87.5  $ (21.2)
Results of discontinued products, pretax  $ 44.0  $ 132.9  $ (33.7)
Net realized capital gains (losses) from bonds, after tax (included above)  $ 12.8  $ 53.8  $ (53.3)
(1)

  The interest deficit is the difference between earnings on invested assets and interest credited to contract holders.

Page 13



 

Net realized capital gains in 2004 reflect gains on the sale of debt securities in a low interest rate environment, receipt of mortgage loan equity participations,
gain on the sale of a real estate investment and gains from future contracts. Net realized capital gains in 2003 reflect gains on the sale of debt securities in a
declining interest rate environment, as well as a gain on the sale of a real estate investment and the sale of an equity investment which accounted for the
significant increase in net realized capital gains in 2003, partially offset by the write-down of certain debt and equity securities. Net realized capital losses in
2002 are due primarily to debt securities sales and the write-down of certain debt and equity securities, partially offset by the sale of an equity investment and
the collection of previously charged-off mortgage loans.

At the time of discontinuance, a receivable from Large Case Pensions’ continuing products equivalent to the net present value of the anticipated cash flow
shortfalls was established for the discontinued products. Interest on the receivable is accrued at the discount rate that was used to calculate the reserve. Total
assets supporting discontinued products and the reserve include a receivable from continuing products of $395 million at December 31, 2004 and
$375 million at December 31, 2003, net of related deferred taxes payable. These amounts were eliminated in consolidation.

The reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products represents the present value (at the risk-free rate at the time of discontinuance, consistent
with the duration of the liabilities) of the difference between the expected cash flows from the assets supporting discontinued products and the cash flows
expected to be required to meet the obligations of the outstanding contracts. Calculation of the reserve for anticipated future losses requires projection of both the
amount and the timing of cash flows over approximately the next 30 years, including consideration of, among other things, future investment results,
participant withdrawal and mortality rates, as well as the cost of asset management and customer service. Since 1993, there have been no significant changes
to the assumptions underlying the calculation of the reserve related to the projection of the amount and timing of cash flows.

The projection of future investment results considers assumptions for interest rates, bond discount rates and performance of mortgage loans and real estate.
Mortgage loan cash flow assumptions represent management’s best estimate of current and future levels of rent growth, vacancy and expenses based upon
market conditions at each reporting date. The performance of real estate assets has been consistently estimated using the most recent forecasts available. Since
1997, a bond default assumption has been included to reflect historical default experience, since the bond portfolio increased as a percentage of the overall
investment portfolio and reflected more bond credit risk, concurrent with declines in the commercial mortgage loan and real estate portfolios.

The previous years’ actual participant withdrawal experience is used for the current-year assumption. Prior to 1995, the Company used the 1983 Group
Annuitant Mortality table published by the Society of Actuaries (the “Society”). In 1995, the Society published the 1994 Uninsured Pensioner’s Mortality
table, which has been used since then.

The Company’s assumptions about the cost of asset management and customer service reflect actual investment and general expenses allocated over invested
assets.

The activity in the reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products was as follows (pretax):

             
(Millions)  2004  2003  2002 
Reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products, beginning of the period  $ 1,035.8  $ 902.9  $ 944.9 
Operating income (loss)   (6.6)   (3.3)   8.2 
Net realized capital gains (losses)   37.5   111.3   (57.5)
Mortality and other   13.1   24.9   15.6 
Reserve reduction   —   —   (8.3)
Reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products, end of the period  $ 1,079.8  $1,035.8  $ 902.9 

Management reviews the adequacy of the reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products quarterly. The reserve was found to be adequate, and
no release or charge was required during 2004 and 2003. The review in 2002 resulted in the release of $5 million ($8 million pretax) of the reserve primarily
due to favorable mortality and retirement experience and certain reductions in administrative expenses, partially offset by lower portfolio returns. The current
reserve reflects management’s best estimate of anticipated future losses.

Page 14



 

The anticipated run-off of the December 31, 2004 reserve balance (assuming that assets are held until maturity and that the reserve run-off is proportional to
the liability run-off) is as follows:

     
(Millions)     
2005  $ 40.3 
2006   40.6 
2007   40.7 
2008   41.0 
2009   41.3 
2010 - 2014   206.2 
2015 - 2019   188.7 
2020 - 2024   155.6 
2025 - 2029   119.5 
Thereafter   205.9 

The expected liability as of December 31, 1993 and actual liability balances at December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 for the GIC and SPA liabilities are as
follows:

                 
  Expected   Actual
(Millions)  GIC  SPA  GIC  SPA 
2002  $ 169.5  $4,114.6  $ 82.9  $ 4,361.1 
2003   51.7   3,984.7   35.2   4,217.9 
2004   31.8   3,849.1   24.0   4,065.6 

The GIC balances were lower than expected in each period, as several contract holders redeemed their contracts prior to contract maturity. The SPA balances in
each period were higher than expected because of additional amounts received under existing contracts.

The discontinued products investment portfolio at December 31, 2004 and 2003 was as follows:

                 
  2004   2003
(Millions)  Amount  Percent  Amount  Percent 
Debt securities available for sale  $ 3,383.6   68.3% $ 3,427.1   69.7%
Loaned securities (1)   322.8   6.5   180.2   3.7 
Total debt securities   3,706.4   74.8   3,607.3   73.4 
Mortgage loans   560.3   11.3   626.7   12.8 
Investment real estate   114.8   2.3   75.2   1.5 
Equity securities   57.2   1.2   49.9   1.0 
Other (2)   514.4   10.4   553.7   11.3 
Total  $4,953.1   100.0% $4,912.8   100.0%
(1)  Refer to Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion of the Company’s securities lending program.
(2)  Amount includes restricted debt securities on deposit as required by regulatory authorities of $20.9 million at December 31, 2004 and $121.8 million at

December 31, 2003 included in long-term investments on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The discontinued products investment portfolio has changed since inception. Mortgage loans have decreased from $5.4 billion (37% of the investment
portfolio) at December 31, 1993 to their current level. This was a result of maturities, prepayments and the securitization and sale of commercial mortgages.
Also, real estate decreased from $.5 billion (4% of the investment portfolio) at December 31, 1993 to its current level, primarily as a result of sales. The
resulting proceeds were primarily reinvested in debt and equity securities.

The change in the composition of the overall investment portfolio resulted in a change in the quality of the portfolio since 1993. As the Company’s exposure to
commercial mortgage loans and real estate has diminished, additional investment return has been achieved by increasing the risk in the bond portfolio. At
December 31, 1993, 60% of the debt securities had a quality rating of AAA or AA, and at December 31, 2004, 22.5% of the debt securities had a quality
rating of AAA or AA. However, management believes the level of risk in the total portfolio of assets supporting discontinued products was lower at
December 31, 2004 when compared to December 31, 1993 due to the reduction of the portfolio’s exposure to mortgage loan and real estate investments.
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Distributions on discontinued products for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 were as follows:

             
(Millions)  2004  2003  2002 
Scheduled contract maturities, settlements and benefit payments  $ 515.6  $ 566.9  $ 704.0 
Participant-directed withdrawals   .3   .2   3.6 

Cash required to fund these distributions was provided by earnings and scheduled payments on, and sales of, invested assets.

At December 31, 2004, scheduled maturities, future benefit payments and other expected payments, including future interest, were as follows:

     
(Millions)     
2005  $ 508.5 
2006   495.0 
2007   482.6 
2008   474.1 
2009   460.0 
2010 – 2014   2,076.6 
2015 – 2019   1,667.5 
2020 – 2024   1,256.0 
2025 – 2029   889.0 
Thereafter   1,293.9 

Refer to Note 21 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and “Investments” for additional information.

CORPORATE INTEREST

Corporate interest expense represents interest incurred on the Company’s long-term and short-term debt and is not recorded in the Company’s business
segments. After-tax interest expense was $68 million for 2004, $67 million for 2003 and $78 million for 2002. The decrease in interest expense for 2003,
compared to 2002, is primarily a result of interest rate swap agreements entered into in December 2001 and 2002 which provide a benefit in a lower interest rate
environment.

INVESTMENTS

Investments disclosed in this section relate to the Company’s total portfolio (including assets supporting discontinued products and experience-rated products).

Total investments at December 31, 2004 and 2003 were as follows:

                         
  2004   2003  
(Millions)  Current  Long-term  Total  Current  Long-term  Total 
Debt securities available for sale:                         

Available for use in current operations  $ 14,013.6  $ —  $ 14,013.6  $ 14,446.6  $ —  $ 14,446.6 
Loaned securities   1,150.1   —   1,150.1   810.6   —   810.6 
On deposit, as required by regulatory authorities   —   553.4   553.4   —   636.7   636.7 

Debt securities available for sale   15,163.7   553.4   15,717.1   15,257.2   636.7   15,893.9 
Equity securities available for sale   34.5   40.2   74.7   57.8   27.0   84.8 
Short-term investments   194.5   —   194.5   486.1   —   486.1 
Mortgage loans   52.7   1,348.2   1,400.9   98.1   1,353.1   1,451.2 
Investment real estate   —   274.8   274.8   —   270.4   270.4 
Other investments   5.0   1,124.5   1,129.5   5.0   857.8   862.8 
Total investments  $ 15,450.4  $ 3,341.1  $18,791.5  $ 15,904.2  $ 3,145.0  $ 19,049.2 
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Debt and Equity Securities

Debt securities represented 84% at December 31, 2004 and 83% at December 31, 2003 of the Company’s total general account invested assets and supported the
following types of products:
         
(Millions)  2004  2003 
Supporting discontinued products  $ 3,727.3  $ 3,729.1 
Supporting experience-rated products   2,083.9   2,238.2 
Supporting remaining products   9,905.9   9,926.6 
Total debt securities  $15,717.1  $15,893.9 

The debt securities in the Company’s portfolio are generally rated by external rating agencies and, if not externally rated, are rated by the Company on a basis
believed to be similar to that used by the rating agencies. The Company’s investments in debt securities had an average quality rating of A+ at December 31,
2004 and 2003 (36% were AAA at December 31, 2004 and 2003). “Below investment grade” debt securities carry a rating of below BBB-/Baa3. Total debt
securities include below investment grade securities of $927 million at December 31, 2004 and $963 million at December 31, 2003, of which 28% at
December 31, 2004 and 25% at December 31, 2003, support discontinued and experience-rated products. Refer to Note 8 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for disclosures related to debt securities by market sector.

Debt securities reflect net unrealized capital gains of $910 million (comprised of gross unrealized capital gains of $949 million and gross unrealized losses of
$39 million) at December 31, 2004 compared with net unrealized capital gains of $948 million (comprised of gross unrealized capital gains of $988 million
and gross unrealized losses of $40 million) at December 31, 2003. Of the net unrealized capital gains at December 31, 2004, $369 million relate to assets
supporting discontinued products and $177 million relate to experience-rated products. Of the net unrealized capital gains at December 31, 2003, $335 million
relate to assets supporting discontinued products and $177 million relate to experience-rated products.

Equity securities reflect net unrealized capital gains of $13 million (comprised entirely of gross unrealized capital gains) at December 31, 2004 compared with
net unrealized capital gains of $20 million (comprised of gross unrealized capital gains of $20 million and gross unrealized losses of $.2 million) at
December 31, 2003.

If management believes a decline in the value of a particular investment is temporary, the decline is recorded as an unrealized loss in Shareholders’ Equity. If
the decline is determined to be “other-than-temporary”, the carrying value of the investment is written down and a realized capital loss is recorded in the
Consolidated Statement of Income consistent with the guidance of FAS No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities . The
Company ‘s impairment analysis is discussed in more detail in “Capital Gains and Losses” below. As of December 31, 2004 and 2003 the amount of gross
unrealized losses and related fair value, by investment type included in Shareholders’ Equity were as follows:

                 
  2004   2003  
(Millions)  Fair Value  Unrealized Losses  Fair Value  Unrealized Losses 
Debt securities:                 

Supporting discontinued and experienced-rated products  $ 473.4  $ 9.5  $ 563.3  $ 15.2 
Supporting remaining products   2,682.2   29.9   1,502.6   24.4 

Total  $3,155.6  $ 39.4  $2,065.9  $ 39.6 
Equity securities:                 

Supporting discontinued and experienced-rated products  $ 4.3  $ —  $ 4.3  $ .1 
Supporting remaining products   —   —   .1   .1 

Total  $ 4.3  $ —  $ 4.4  $ .2 

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, debt and equity securities which were non-investment grade and non-rated represented approximately 6.2% and 6.4%,
respectively, of the total debt and equity security portfolio (5.3% and 4.6%, respectively, related to securities supporting experience-rated and discontinued
products). At December 31, 2004 and 2003 approximately 18.5% and 23.5%, respectively, of total unrealized losses related to securities which were non-
investment grade and non-rated (2.4% and 3.8%, respectively, related to securities supporting experience-rated and discontinued products).
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At December 31, 2004, the amount of unrealized losses and related fair value for debt and equity securities in an unrealized loss position for greater than twelve
months were $10 million and $252 million, respectively, and such amounts were $11 million and $139 million, respectively, at December 31, 2003. Based
on the Company’s evaluation of these investments during 2004 and 2003, no other-than-temporary impairments were deemed to have occurred. The Company
had no material unrealized losses on individual debt or equity securities at December 31, 2004 or 2003. Refer to Note 8 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for additional information.

The maturity dates for debt securities in an unrealized loss position at December 31, 2004 and 2003 were as follows:

                         
  2004
  Supporting discontinued   Supporting remaining     
  and experience-rated products   products   Total
  Fair  Unrealized  Fair  Unrealized  Fair  Unrealized 
(Millions)  Value  Losses  Value  Losses  Value  Losses 
Due to mature:                         

Less than one year  $ —  $ —  $ 203.6  $ .6  $ 203.6  $ .6 
One year through five years   80.5   2.8   1,101.8   8.1   1,182.3   10.9 
After five years through ten years   119.1   1.5   404.6   4.2   523.7   5.7 
Greater than ten years   240.5   5.0   495.6   12.8   736.1   17.8 
Mortgage-backed securities   33.3   .2   476.6   4.2   509.9   4.4 

Total  $ 473.4  $ 9.5  $2,682.2  $ 29.9  $3,155.6  $ 39.4 
                         
  2003
  Supporting discontinued   Supporting remaining     
  and experience-rated products   products   Total
  Fair  Unrealized  Fair  Unrealized  Fair  Unrealized 
(Millions)  Value  Losses  Value  Losses  Value  Losses 
Due to mature:                         

Less than one year  $ 4.3  $ .1  $ 40.1  $ —  $ 44.4  $ .1 
One year through five years   41.1   2.8   455.8   1.8   496.9   4.6 
After five years through ten years   131.7   1.7   318.7   3.5   450.4   5.2 
Greater than ten years   363.8   10.4   325.6   13.4   689.4   23.8 
Mortgage-backed securities   22.4   .2   362.4   5.7   384.8   5.9 

Total  $ 563.3  $ 15.2  $1,502.6  $ 24.4  $2,065.9  $ 39.6 

The Company has classified its debt and equity securities as available for sale and carries them at fair value. Fair values for such securities are based on
quoted market prices. Non-traded debt securities are priced independently by a third-party vendor and non-traded equity securities are priced based on an
internal analysis of the investment’s financial statements and cash flow projections. The carrying value of non-traded debt and equity securities at
December 31, 2004 and 2003 were as follows:

                         
  2004   2003
  Debt  Equity      Debt  Equity    
(Millions)  Securities  Securities  Total  Securities  Securities  Total 
Supporting discontinued and experience-rated products  $ 289.8  $ 39.9  $ 329.7  $ 389.1  $ 31.2  $ 420.3 
Supporting remaining products   10.3   .3   10.6   15.1   18.4   33.5 
Total non-traded securities  $ 300.1  $ 40.2  $ 340.3  $ 404.2  $ 49.6  $ 453.8 

Capital Gains and Losses

The Company periodically reviews its debt and equity securities to determine whether a decline in fair value below the carrying value is other than temporary.
If a decline in market value is considered other than temporary, the cost basis/carrying amount of the security is written down and the amount of the write-
down is included in earnings. The Company analyzes all relevant facts and circumstances for each investment when performing this analysis, in accordance
with the guidance of FAS No. 115 and the Securities and Exchange Commission’s Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 59, Accounting for Noncurrent
Marketable Equity Securities . The available guidance on the determination of whether a decline in the value of an investment is other-than-temporary requires
management to exercise significant diligence and judgment.
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Among the factors considered in evaluating whether a decline is other-than-temporary, management considers whether the decline in fair value results from a
change in the quality of the investment security itself, whether the decline results from a downward movement in the market as a whole, the prospects for
realizing the carrying value of the security based on the investee’s current and short-term prospects for recovery and other factors. For unrealized losses deemed
to be the result of market conditions (e.g., increasing interest rates, volatility due to conditions in the overall market, etc.) or industry-related events, the
Company determines if there exists an expectation for a reasonable market recovery and whether management has the intent and ability to hold the investment
until maturity or market recovery is realized. In such a case, an other-than-temporary impairment is generally not recognized.

The Company identifies other-than-temporary losses based on the valuation of an investment, including in-house credit analyst expectations of future
performance, the current market environment and current market values. Based on the Company’s evaluation, if any factors reviewed, individually or in
combination, indicate that a decline in fair value below an investment’s carrying value is other-than-temporary, the Company records an impairment charge in
earnings.

The risks inherent in assessing the impairment of an investment include the risk that market factors may differ from the Company’s expectations; facts and
circumstances factored into our assessment may change with the passage of time; or the Company may decide to subsequently sell the investment.

Net realized capital gains were $71 million ($46 million after tax) in 2004 and included net investment write-downs of $4 million ($3 million after tax). The
majority of these impairments related to other invested assets. For 2003, net realized capital gains were $65 million ($42 million after tax) and included net
investment write-downs of $4 million ($3 million after tax). The majority of these impairments related to the energy sector and asset backed securities. For
2002, net realized capital gains were $34 million ($22 million after tax) and included net investment write-downs of $83 million ($54 million after tax). The
majority of these impairments were taken in the telecommunications and transportation sectors. Throughout 2002, the market values of telecommunication
companies and assets declined precipitously, resulting in the bankruptcy of numerous companies and the Company’s decision to impair these investments.
Also, during 2002, impairments were taken in the transportation sector as the market values of companies in the airline industry declined significantly as a
result of widespread financial difficulties.

Mortgage Loans

The Company’s mortgage loan investments, net of impairment reserves, supported the following types of products:
         
(Millions)  2004  2003 
Supporting discontinued products  $ 560.3  $ 626.7 
Supporting experience-rated products   305.3   321.3 
Supporting remaining products   535.3   503.2 
Total mortgage loans  $1,400.9  $1,451.2 

The mortgage loan portfolio balance represented 7% and 8% of the Company’s total invested assets at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Problem,
restructured and potential problem loans included in mortgage loans were $20 million at December 31, 2004 and $85 million at December 31, 2003, of which
6% at December 31, 2004 and 89% at December 31, 2003 support discontinued and experience-rated products. Specific impairment reserves on these loans
were $4 million at December 31, 2004 and $19 million at December 31, 2003. Refer to Notes 2 and 8 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for
additional information.

At December 31, 2004 scheduled mortgage loan principal repayments were as follows:

     
(Millions)     
2005  $ 56.2 
2006   97.7 
2007   204.7 
2008   25.5 
2009   105.3 
Thereafter   915.0 
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Risk Management and Market-Sensitive Instruments

The Company manages interest rate risk by seeking to maintain a tight match between the durations of the Company’s assets and liabilities where appropriate,
while credit risk is managed by seeking to maintain high average quality ratings and diversified sector exposure within the debt securities portfolio. In
connection with its investment and risk management objectives, the Company also uses financial instruments whose market value is at least partially
determined by, among other things, levels of or changes in interest rates (short-term or long-term), duration, prepayment rates, equity markets or credit
ratings/spreads. The Company’s use of these derivatives is generally limited to hedging purposes and has principally consisted of using interest rate swap
agreements, warrants, forward contracts and futures contracts. These instruments, viewed separately, subject the Company to varying degrees of interest rate,
equity price and credit risk. However, when used for hedging, the expectation is that these instruments would reduce overall risk. Refer to “Liquidity and
Capital Resources - Long-term Debt” and Note 16 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

The Company regularly evaluates the risk of market-sensitive instruments by examining, among other things, levels of or changes in interest rates (short-term
or long-term), duration, prepayment rates, equity markets or credit ratings/spreads. The Company also regularly evaluates the appropriateness of investments
relative to its management-approved investment guidelines (and operates within those guidelines) and the business objective of the portfolios.

The risks associated with investments supporting experience-rated pension and annuity products in the Large Case Pensions business are assumed by those
contract holders and not by the Company (subject to, among other things, certain minimum guarantees). Anticipated future losses associated with investments
supporting discontinued fully guaranteed large case pension products are provided for in the reserve for anticipated future losses (refer to “Large Case Pensions
- Discontinued Products”).

Management also reviews, on a quarterly basis, the impact of hypothetical net losses in the Company’s consolidated near-term financial position, results of
operations and cash flows assuming certain reasonably possible changes in market rates and prices were to occur. The potential effect of interest rate risk on
near-term net income, cash flow and fair value was determined based on commonly used models. The models project the impact of interest rate changes on a
wide range of factors, including duration, prepayment, put options and call options. Fair value was estimated based on the net present value of cash flows or
duration estimates using a representative set of likely future interest rate scenarios. The assumptions used were as follows: an immediate increase of 100 basis
points in interest rates (which the Company believes represents a moderately adverse scenario and is approximately equal to the historical annual volatility of
interest rate movements for the Company’s intermediate-term available-for-sale debt securities) and an immediate decrease of 25% in prices for domestic equity
securities.

Based on the Company’s overall exposure to interest rate risk and equity price risk, the Company believes that these changes in market rates and prices would
not materially affect the consolidated near-term financial position, results of operations or cash flows of the Company as of December 31, 2004.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Cash Flows

Generally, the Company meets its operating requirements by maintaining appropriate levels of liquidity in its investment portfolio and using overall cash flows
from premiums, deposits and income received on investments. The Company monitors the duration of its debt securities portfolio (which is highly
marketable) and mortgage loans, and executes its purchases and sales of these investments with the objective of having adequate funds available to satisfy the
Company’s maturing liabilities. Overall cash flows are used primarily for claim and benefit payments, contract withdrawals and operating expenses.
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The following table for 2004, breaks out the operating cash flows of Health Care and Group Insurance and Large Case Pensions separately, as changes in
Large Case Pensions’ insurance reserves are funded from the sale of investments, which impacts cash flows from investing activities (and not operating cash
flows):

             
  Health Care       
  and Group  Large Case    
(Millions)  Insurance(1) Pensions  Total 
Cash flows from operating activities:             

Net income  $ 2,203.3  $ 41.8  $2,245.1 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by (used for) operating activities:             

Income from discontinued operations   (1,030.0)   —   (1,030.0)
Amortization of other acquired intangible assets   42.5   —   42.5 
Depreciation and other amortization   139.7   —   139.7 
Amortization of net investment premium   44.8   .7   45.5 
Net realized capital gains   (54.6)   (16.2)   (70.8)

Cash flow from operating activities before balance sheet changes   1,345.7   26.3   1,372.0 
Changes in assets and liabilities:             

Decrease in accrued investment income   .1   22.8   22.9 
Decrease (increase) in premiums due and other receivables   34.3   (.3)   34.0 
Net change in income taxes   329.4   21.5   350.9 
Net change in other assets and other liabilities   (601.9)   (19.8)   (621.7)
Net decrease in health care and insurance liabilities   (67.5)   (298.8)   (366.3)
Other, net   (2.7)   (18.5)   (21.2)

Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities of continuing operations   1,037.4   (266.8)   770.6 
Discontinued operations   666.2   —   666.2 

Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities  $ 1,703.6  $ (266.8)  $ 1,436.8 
(1)

  Includes corporate interest and income from discontinued operations.

Cash flows provided by operating activities of continuing operations were approximately $771 million for 2004. Cash flows provided by operating activities of
continuing operations for Health Care and Group Insurance were approximately $1.04 billion. Included in this amount were approximately $555 million
pretax for voluntary pension contributions, $41 million pretax of payments on prior year severance and facilities reserve actions and approximately
$52 million pretax of employee related performance-based compensation payments net of current year accruals, reflected in net change in other assets and
liabilities. Cash flows for 2004 also reflects the cash portion ($37 million) of a $45 million pretax voluntary contribution to the Aetna Foundation, a separate
and distinct charitable organization. Refer to the “Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows” for additional information.

On July 8, 2004, the Company was notified that the Congressional Joint Committee on Taxation approved a tax refund of approximately $740 million after
tax, including interest, relating to businesses that were sold in the 1990s by the Company’s predecessor. The tax refund was recorded as income from
discontinued operations in the Consolidated Statement of Income in 2004. The Company received approximately $666 million of the cash refund in 2004, and
expects to receive the remaining refund in 2005. The Company anticipates that it will use these monies to fund capital deployment initiatives, particularly
share repurchases. Refer to Note 22 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

In January 2005, the Company made a voluntary pension contribution of $180 million and currently intends to make an additional $65 million voluntary
contribution in 2005 to reduce the difference between the fair value of plan assets and the pension benefit obligation. The Company also made a payment of
$150 million pretax in January 2005 related to the Physician Class Action Settlement. In 2005, the Company intends to allocate funds to share repurchase
programs, invest in its business by funding internal growth and may also make certain acquisitions (refer to “Overview”).

Dividends

On September 24, 2004, the Board declared an annual cash dividend of $.04 per common share to shareholders of record at the close of business on
November 16, 2004. The dividend was paid on November 30, 2004. In connection with the stock split announced in February 2005 (refer to “Common Stock
Transaction”), the Company currently intends to maintain its dividend of $.04 per common share. The Board reviews the Company’s common stock
dividend annually. Among the factors considered by the Board in determining the amount of the dividend are the Company’s results of operations and the
capital requirements, growth and other characteristics of its businesses.
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Financings, Financing Capacity and Capitalization

At December 31, 2004, the Company’s borrowings consisted of $1.6 billion consisting entirely of senior notes due in 2006, 2011 and 2041. The Company’s
total debt to capital ratio (total debt divided by total debt and shareholders’ equity, adjusted to exclude minimum pension liability adjustments and net
unrealized gains or losses on investment securities (“Adjusted Shareholders’ Equity)), was 14.2% at December 31, 2004 (refer to reconciliation of total
shareholders’ equity to Adjusted Shareholders’ Equity below). Refer to Note 14 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.
     
(Millions)  2004 
Total Shareholders’ Equity  $9,081.4 
Minimum pension liability   797.7 
Net unrealized gains on available-for-sale investment securities   (245.7)
Adjusted Shareholders’ Equity  $9,633.4 

The Company continually monitors existing and alternative financing sources to support its capital and liquidity needs, including, but not limited to, debt
issuance, preferred or common stock issuance and pledging or selling of assets.

Long-Term Debt

The Company’s long-term debt consists of $450 million of 7.375% senior notes due in 2006, $450 million of 7.875% senior notes due in 2011 and
$700 million of 8.5% senior notes due in 2041.

In December 2001, the Company entered into an interest rate swap agreement to convert the fixed rate of 8.5% on $350 million of its senior notes to a variable
rate of three-month LIBOR plus 159.5 basis points (approximately 3.99% at December 31, 2004). In December 2002, the Company also entered into an
interest rate swap agreement to convert the fixed rate of 8.5% on an additional $200 million of its senior notes to a variable rate of three-month LIBOR plus
254.0 basis points (approximately 4.94% at December 31, 2004). As a result of these swap agreements, the Company’s effective interest rate on its long-term
debt was 6.27% during 2004. In accordance with the Company’s accounting policy for fair value hedges, the change in the fair value of the interest rate swaps
and the loss or gain on the hedged senior notes attributable to the hedged interest rate risk are recorded in current period earnings. No material changes in value
occurred during the year ended December 31, 2004. Because the terms of the interest rate swap agreements match the terms of the senior notes, the gain or loss
on the swaps and the senior notes will generally be offsetting. The swap agreements contain bilateral credit protection covenants which, depending on credit
ratings, obligate each party to post collateral equal to the fair value of the swaps. As of February 28, 2005, the Company was not required to post collateral.

Short-Term Debt

The Company has significant short-term liquidity supporting its businesses. The Company uses short-term borrowings from time to time to address timing
differences between cash receipts and disbursements. During 2004, there were no short-term borrowings outstanding. The Company’s short-term borrowings
consist of an $800 million credit facility which terminates in November 2009. The credit facility also provides for the issuance of letters of credit at the
Company’s request, up to $150 million, which count as usage of the available commitments under the facility. The credit facility permits the aggregate
commitments under the facility to be expanded to a maximum of $1 billion upon the agreement of the Company and one or more financial institutions. Various
interest rate options are available under the facility. Any revolving borrowings mature on the termination date of the credit facility. The Company pays facility
fees on the facility ranging from .08% to .225% per annum, depending upon its long-term senior unsecured debt rating. The facility fee at December 31, 2004
was at an annual rate of .11%.
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The Company’s revolving credit facility contains financial covenants. Under the terms of the facility, the Company is required to maintain a minimum level
of shareholders’ equity, excluding any minimum pension liability adjustment and any net unrealized capital gains and losses (“Adjusted Consolidated Net
Worth”), as of each fiscal quarter end. The required minimum level is increased by 50% of the Company’s consolidated net income each quarter beginning
with the quarter ending December 31, 2004. At December 31, 2004, the Company met its required minimum level of Adjusted Consolidated Net Worth of
approximately $6.9 billion. The Company is also required to maintain its ratio of total debt to consolidated capitalization as of each fiscal quarter end at or
below .4 to 1.0. For this purpose, consolidated capitalization is the sum of Adjusted Consolidated Net Worth and total debt (as defined in the facility). The
Company met this requirement at December 31, 2004.

Common Stock Transactions

During the period 2002 through 2004, the Company repurchased common stock under various repurchase programs authorized by the Board. In 2004, the
Company repurchased 16.1 million shares of common stock at a cost of $1.5 billion. In 2003, the Company repurchased 7.6 million shares of common
stock at a cost of $445 million. As of December 31, 2004, the Company has authorization to repurchase up to $750 million of common stock under
remaining Board authorizations. On February 25, 2005, the Company announced that its Board of Directors authorized the Company to repurchase up to
$750 million of common stock. This authorization is in addition to the amount remaining under the September 24, 2004 authorization.

For the full year 2004, the Company had weighted average common shares, including common share equivalents, of approximately 157 million (refer to Note
4 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for more information).

On February 9, 2005, the Board declared a two-for-one stock split of the Company’s common stock to be effected in the form of a 100% common stock
dividend. All shareholders of record on February 25, 2005 will receive one additional share of common stock for each share held on that date. The additional
share of common stock will be distributed to shareholders of record in the form of a stock dividend on March 11, 2005. Refer to Note 23 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes future obligations (estimated) by period as of December 31, 2004, under the Company’s various contractual obligations. The
Company believes that funds from future operating cash flows, together with cash, investments and funds available under its credit agreements or from
public or private financing sources, will be sufficient for existing commitments, future operations and other strategic transactions.
                     
(Millions)  2005  2006 - 2007  2008 - 2009  Thereafter  Total 

Long-term debt obligations (1)  $ —  $ 450.0  $ —  $ 1,150.0  $ 1,600.0 
Operating lease obligations (2)   161.8   223.2   117.6   45.7   548.3 
Purchase obligations (3)   264.6   141.2   45.1   —   450.9 
Other long-term liabilities reflected on the Consolidated Balance Sheet: (4)                     

Future policy benefits (5)   827.6   1,332.7   1,074.2   4,333.6   7,568.1 
Unpaid claims (5)   692.3   301.9   213.3   502.9   1,710.4 
Policyholders’ funds (6)   493.8   88.1   78.6   695.0   1,355.5 
Other long-term liabilities (7)   1,533.4   34.6   11.0   21.5   1,600.5 

Total  $3,973.5  $2,571.7  $1,539.8  $6,748.7  $14,833.7 
(1)  Debt payments exclude interest payments and amounts associated with the Company’s interest rate swap agreements. Debt payments could be accelerated

upon violation of debt covenants, the likelihood of which the Company believes is remote. Refer to Note 14 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for additional information.

(2)  The Company did not have any capital lease obligations as of December 31, 2004. The Company has operating leases for office space and certain
computer and other equipment.

(3)  Purchase obligations include investment commitments and purchase obligations with a total minimum remaining commitment in excess of $1 million at
December 31, 2004 which meet the following criteria:

 •  Commitments to purchase goods or services of either fixed or minimum quantities that are noncancellable.
 •  Commitments to purchase goods or services where the Company could incur a penalty if the agreement was cancelled. If the agreement is cancelable

with a penalty, the amount of the penalty is included.
 •  Commitments to purchase goods or services whereby the Company must make specified minimum payments even if it does not take delivery of the

products or services. In these cases, the minimum amount specified in the contract is included.
Ordinary course of business contracts that do not specify fixed or minimum quantities to be purchased are not considered purchase obligations. Future
claim payments to health care providers or pharmacies are not included in the table since certain terms are not determinable at December 31, 2004 (e.g., the
timing and volume of future services provided under fee-for-service arrangements or the level of future membership levels for capitated arrangements).
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(4)
  Payments of other long-term liabilities exclude Separate Account liabilities of approximately $13.0 billion. Separate Account liabilities represent funds

maintained to meet specific investment objectives of contract holders who bear the investment risk. These liabilities are supported by assets that are legally
segregated (i.e., Separate Account assets) and are not subject to claims that arise out of the business of the Company. The timing of the related cash flows
is unpredictable due to contract holder discretion.

(5)  Future policy benefits consist primarily of reserves for limited payment pension and annuity contracts in the Large Case Pensions business and long-
duration group paid-up life and long-term care insurance contracts in the Group Insurance business. Unpaid claims consist primarily of reserves
associated with certain short-duration group disability and term life insurance contracts, including an estimate for claims incurred but not reported as of
December 31, 2004. Refer to Note 2 in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information. Estimated payments for reserves for future
policy benefits and unpaid claims are computed in accordance with actuarial standards and certain reserves are based on the present value of future net
payments. Future policy benefits and unpaid claims also include certain reserves ceded to other independent insurance companies through reinsurance
contracts. Reserves for contracts subject to reinsurance have been excluded from the table above. The reinsurance carrier, not the Company, is responsible
for cash flows associated with the reinsured contract. The Company’s reinsured reserves are supported by reinsurance recoverables included in total
assets. In the event of insolvency of the reinsurance carrier, the Company would be primarily responsible for cash flows. The Company monitors the
solvency of its reinsurance carriers and does not believe the risk of insolvency is significant. Approximately $1.2 billion (of which, approximately
$25 million is included in current liabilities) of ceded insurance liabilities have been excluded from the table.

(6)  Policyholders’ funds consist primarily of reserves for pension and annuity investment contracts in the Large Case Pensions business and customer funds
associated with group life and health contracts in the Health Care and Group Insurance businesses (refer to Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for additional information). Policyholders’ funds include approximately $183 million related to reserves ceded to other independent insurance
companies through reinsurance contracts. Reserves for contracts subject to reinsurance have been excluded from the table above. The reinsurance carrier,
not the Company, is responsible for cash flows associated with the reinsured contract. The Company’s reinsured reserves are supported by reinsurance
recoverables included in total assets. In the event of insolvency of the reinsurance carrier, the Company would be primarily responsible for cash flows.
The Company monitors the solvency of its reinsurance carriers and does not believe the risk of insolvency is significant. Customer funds associated with
group life and health contracts of approximately $408 million have been excluded from the table, as such funds may be used primarily at the customer’s
discretion to offset future premiums and/or refunds and the timing of the related cash flows cannot be determined. Additionally, net unrealized capital gains
on debt and equity securities supporting experience-rated products of $179 million have been excluded from the table.

(7)  Other long-term liabilities include the following liabilities excluded from the table above:
 •  Employee-related benefit obligations of approximately $833 million including the Company’s pension, other post retirement and post employment

benefit obligations and certain deferred compensation arrangements. These liabilities do not necessarily represent future cash payments required by
the Company, or such payment patterns cannot be determined. However, the payments for other long-term liabilities includes anticipated voluntary
pension contributions to the Company’s defined pension plan of approximately $245 million in 2005.

 •  Deferred gains of approximately $128 million related to prior cash payments which will be recognized in earnings in accordance with GAAP.
 •  Net unrealized capital gains on debt and equity securities of $276 million supporting discontinued products.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
The Company does not have guarantees or other off-balance sheet arrangements that it believes, based on historical experience and current business plans, are
reasonably likely to have a material impact on results of operations, financial condition or cash flows. Refer to Note 19 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for additional detail of the Company’s guarantee arrangements at December 31, 2004.

Restrictions on Certain Payments by the Company

In addition to general state law restrictions on payments of dividends and other distributions to shareholders applicable to all corporations, HMOs and
insurance companies are subject to further state regulations that, among other things, may require those companies to maintain certain levels of equity (referred
to as surplus) and restrict the amount of dividends and other distributions that may be paid to their parent corporations. These regulations are not directly
applicable to Aetna Inc., as a holding company, since it is not an HMO or an insurance company. The additional regulations applicable to Aetna Inc.’s HMO
and insurance company subsidiaries are not expected to affect the ability of Aetna Inc. to service its debt, meet its other financing obligations or pay dividends,
or the ability of any of Aetna Inc.’s subsidiaries to service other financing obligations, if any. Under regulatory requirements, the amount of dividends that
may be paid to Aetna Inc. by its domestic insurance and HMO subsidiaries at December 31, 2004 without prior approval by state regulatory authorities is
approximately $810 million in the aggregate.
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Aetna Inc. derives dividends from its subsidiaries for liquidity to meet its requirements, which include the payment of interest on debt, shareholder dividends,
share repurchase programs, investments in new businesses, maintaining appropriate levels of capitalization in its legal entity operating subsidiaries and other
purposes as considered necessary. Excess capital at operating subsidiaries above targeted and/or regulatory capital levels are periodically remitted to Aetna Inc.
as permitted by regulatory requirements.

Ratings

As of February 28, 2005, the ratings of Aetna Inc. and Aetna Life Insurance Company (“ALIC”) were as follows:
         
      Moody’s   
      Investors  Standard
  A.M. Best  Fitch  Service  & Poor’s

Aetna Inc. (senior debt) (1)  bbb  BBB+  Baa2  BBB+

Aetna Inc. (commercial paper) (1)  AMB-2  F2  P-2  A-2

ALIC (financial strength) (1)  A  A+  A2  A
(1)

  A.M. Best has the ratings on outlook-stable. Fitch has the Aetna Inc. senior debt and ALIC ratings on outlook-positive. Moody’s has the ratings on outlook-
positive. Standard & Poor’s has the Aetna Inc. senior debt and ALIC ratings on outlook-stable.

Solvency Regulation

The National Association of Insurance Commissioners (“NAIC”) utilizes risk-based capital (“RBC”) standards for life insurance companies that are designed
to identify weakly capitalized companies by comparing each company’s adjusted surplus to its required surplus (“RBC ratio”). The RBC ratio is designed to
reflect the risk profile of life insurance companies. Within certain ratio ranges, regulators have increasing authority to take action as the RBC ratio decreases.
There are four levels of regulatory action, ranging from requiring insurers to submit a comprehensive plan to the state insurance commissioner to requiring the
state insurance commissioner to place the insurer under regulatory control. At December 31, 2004, the RBC ratio of each of the Company’s primary insurance
subsidiaries was above the level that would require regulatory action. The RBC framework described above for insurers has been extended by the NAIC to
health organizations, including HMOs. Although not all states had adopted these rules at December 31, 2004, at that date, each of the Company’s active
HMOs had a surplus that exceeded either the applicable state net worth requirements or, where adopted, the levels that would require regulatory action under
the NAIC’s RBC rules. External rating agencies use their own RBC standards as part of determining a company’s rating.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

The accounting policies described below are those the Company considers critical in preparing its Consolidated Financial Statements. These policies include
significant estimates made by management using information available at the time the estimates are made. However, as described below, these estimates could
change materially if different information or assumptions were used. Also, these estimates may not ultimately reflect the actual amounts of the final
transactions that occur. The descriptions below are summarized and have been simplified for clarity. A more detailed description of the significant accounting
policies used by the Company in preparing its financial statements is included in Note 2 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Revenue Recognition (Allowance for Estimated Terminations and Uncollectable Accounts )

The Company’s revenue is principally derived from premiums and fees billed to customers in the Health Care and Group Insurance businesses. In Health
Care, revenue is recognized based on customer billings, which reflect contracted rates per employee and the number of covered employees recorded in
Company records at the time the billings are prepared. Billings are generally sent monthly for coverage during the following month. In Group Insurance,
premium for group life and disability products is recognized as revenue, net of allowances for uncollectable accounts, over the term of coverage. Amounts
received before the period of coverage begins are recorded as unearned premiums.
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Health Care billings may be subsequently adjusted to reflect changes in the number of covered employees due to terminations or other factors. These
adjustments are known as retroactivity adjustments. The Company estimates the amount of future retroactivity each period and adjusts the recorded revenue
accordingly. Such estimates are based on historical trends, premiums billed, the amount of contract renewal activity during the period and other relevant
information. As information regarding actual retroactivity becomes known, the Company refines its estimates and records any required adjustments at that
time. A significant difference in the actual level of retroactivity when compared to the estimated retroactivity would have a significant effect on Health Care’s
results of operations.

The Company also estimates the amount of uncollectable receivables each period and establishes an allowance for uncollectable amounts. The amount of the
allowance is based on the age of unpaid amounts, information about the creditworthiness of customers, and other relevant information. Estimates of
uncollectable amounts are revised each period, and changes are recorded in the period they become known. A significant change in the level of uncollectable
amounts would have a significant effect on the Company’s results of operations.

Health Care and Insurance Liabilities

The Company establishes health care and insurance liabilities for benefit claims that have been reported but not paid, claims that have been incurred but not
reported and future policy benefits earned under insurance contracts. These reserves and the related benefit expenses are developed using actuarial principles
and assumptions that consider, among other things, historical and projected claim submission patterns, historical and projected claim processing time,
medical cost trends, utilization of health care services, claim inventory levels, changes in membership and product mix, seasonality and other relevant factors.
For Health Care, because the average life of most health care claims is less than three-months and a large portion of health care claims are not submitted to the
Company until after the end of the quarter in which services are rendered by providers to members, historical and projected claim submission, processing
time and medical cost trends are key assumptions in the Company’s estimate of health care costs payable. For Group Insurance, the important factors
considered are the level of interest rates, expected investment returns, mortality rates, the rate that covered individuals suffer disability, and the recovery rate of
those with disabilities.

Each period, the Company estimates the relevant factors, based primarily on historical data and uses this information to determine the assumptions
underlying its reserve calculations. Given the extensive degree of judgment in these estimates, it is possible that estimates could develop either favorably or
unfavorably. For health care costs payable, the reserve balances and the related benefit expenses are highly sensitive to changes in the assumptions used in the
reserve calculations. For example, a 100 basis point change in the estimated medical cost trend for Commercial Risk products would have changed annual
after-tax results by approximately $65 million for 2004. Any adjustments to prior period reserves are included in the benefit expense of the period in which the
need for the adjustment becomes known. Due to the considerable variability of health care costs, adjustments to health reserves may occur each quarter and
may sometimes be significant. For Group Insurance, and specifically disability reserves, a 100 basis point change in interest rates would result in
approximately a 10 basis point change in the portfolio return rate for assets supporting these liabilities, due to the long-term nature of disability liabilities and
related assets supporting these liabilities. A 10 basis point change in the portfolio rate assumption would have changed after-tax results by approximately
$3 million for 2004.

The Company discontinued certain Large Case Pensions products in 1993 and established a reserve to cover losses expected during the run-off period. Since
1993, there have been several adjustments to reduce this reserve that have increased net income. These adjustments occurred primarily because investment
experience as well as mortality and retirement experience have been better than was projected at the time the products were discontinued. There were no reserve
adjustments in 2003 and 2004. There can be no assurance that adjustments to the discontinued products reserve will occur in the future or that they will
increase net income. Future adjustments could negatively impact operating earnings.

In cases where estimated health care and group insurance costs are so high that future losses are expected, the Company establishes premium deficiency
reserves for the amount of the expected loss in excess of expected future premiums. Any such reserves established would normally cover expected losses until
the next policy renewal dates for the related policies.
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Investment Securities

Investment securities are classified as available for sale and recorded at fair value, and unrealized investment gains and losses are reflected in shareholders’
equity. Investment income is recorded when earned, and capital gains and losses are recognized in results of operations when investments are sold. Investments
are reviewed periodically to determine if they have suffered an impairment of value that is considered other-than-temporary. If investments are determined to be
impaired, an impairment charge is recognized in results of operations at the date of determination.

Testing for impairment of investments requires significant management judgment. The identification of potentially impaired investments, the determination of
their fair value and the assessment of whether any decline in value is other-than-temporary are key judgment elements. The discovery of new information and
the passage of time can significantly change these judgments. Revisions of impairment judgments are made when new information becomes known, and any
resulting impairment adjustments are made at that time.

Defined Benefit Pension and Other Post-Retirement Benefit Plans

The Company sponsors defined benefit pension (“pension”) and other post-retirement benefit (“OPEB”) plans. Refer to Note 13 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements. Major assumptions used in the accounting for these plans include the expected return on plan assets and the discount rate. Assumptions
are determined based on Company information and market indicators, and are evaluated at each annual measurement date (September 30). A change in any of
these assumptions would have an effect on the Company’s pension and OPEB plan costs.

The expected return on plan assets assumption considers expected capital market returns over a long-term horizon (i.e., 20 years), inflation rate assumptions
and the geometric average (i.e., compounding) of historical returns on invested assets. Declining interest rates and lower equity market returns from 2000 to
2002 resulted in declines in plan asset levels and a reduced funded status. Future expectations for lower sustained interest rates, inflation and nominal capital
market returns led to a reduction in the expected return on pension plan assets assumption to 8.75% (from 9.00% used for 2003 expense recognition) and the
expected return on OPEB plan assets assumption was reduced to 6.50% (from 7.00% used for 2003 expense recognition). The 8.75% expected return on plan
assets is based on an asset allocation assumption of 60% – 70% U.S. and international public and private equity securities, 20% – 30% fixed income
securities and 5% – 15% real estate and other assets. The Company’s asset managers regularly review the actual asset allocation and periodically rebalance
our investments to our targeted allocation when considered appropriate. At December 31, 2004, the Company’s actual asset allocation was consistent with our
asset allocation assumption. A one-percentage point increase/decrease in the expected return on plan assets assumption would decrease/increase annual pension
costs by approximately $27 million after tax and would decrease/increase annual OPEB costs by approximately $.5 million after tax.

The discount rates used for the Company’s pension and OPEB plans are set by benchmarking against investment-grade corporate bonds. A lower discount
rate increases the present value of benefit obligations and increases costs. In 2004, the Company reduced its assumed discount rate to 6.00% (from 6.25%
used at the previous measurement date), reflecting a reduction in corporate long-term bond yields. A one-percentage point decrease in the assumed discount rate
would increase annual pension costs by approximately $36 million after tax and would increase annual OPEB costs by approximately $.4 million after tax.

The declining interest rate environment and varying asset returns compared to expectations in 2002, 2003 and 2004 resulted in an accumulated actuarial loss of
$1.3 billion at December 31, 2004. The actuarial loss is amortized over the remaining service life of pension plan participants to the extent the loss is outside of
a corridor established in accordance with GAAP (i.e., the corridor is established based on the greater of 10% of the plan assets or 10% of the projected benefit
obligation). As of December 31, 2004, $820 million of the actuarial loss was outside of the corridor and will impact 2005 pension expense. The Company’s
expense related to actuarial losses in 2005 will be approximately $49 million after tax.

The changes to the Company’s expected return on plan assets and discount rate discussed above will not impact required cash contributions to the pension
and OPEB plans, as the Company has met all minimum funding requirements as set forth by the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974
(“ERISA”) and further, will not have a minimum funding requirement in 2005. However, the Company currently intends to make voluntary pension
contributions of $245 million in 2005.
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Goodwill and Other Acquired Intangible Assets

The Company has made previous acquisitions that included a significant amount of goodwill and other intangible assets. Effective January 1, 2002, goodwill
is no longer amortized but was subject to a transitional impairment test upon adoption of FAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets , as well as an
annual (or under certain circumstances more frequent) impairment test based on its estimated fair value. Other intangible assets that meet certain criteria
continue to be amortized over their useful lives and are also subject to an impairment test, based on estimated fair value. For these evaluations, the Company is
using an implied fair value approach, which uses a discounted cash flow analysis and other valuation methodologies. These evaluations use many
assumptions and estimates in determining an impairment loss, including certain assumptions and estimates related to future earnings. If the Company does
not achieve its earnings objectives, the assumptions and estimates underlying these goodwill impairment evaluations could be adversely effected.

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Refer to Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of recently issued accounting standards. The Company’s adoption of these new
accounting standards did not have a material effect on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

REGULATORY ENVIRONMENT

General

Our operations are subject to comprehensive state and federal regulation throughout the United States in the jurisdictions in which we do business.
Supervisory agencies, including state health, insurance, managed care and securities departments, have broad authority to:

 •  Grant, suspend and revoke licenses to transact business;
 
 •  Regulate many aspects of the products and services offered;
 
 •  Assess fines, penalties and/or sanctions;
 
 •  Monitor our solvency and reserve adequacy; and
 
 •  Regulate our investment activities on the basis of quality, diversification and other quantitative criteria.

Our operations and accounts are subject to examination at regular intervals by these agencies. In addition, our current and past business practices are subject
to review by other state and federal authorities. These reviews may result, and have resulted, in changes to or clarifications of our business practices, fines,
penalties or other sanctions.

In addition, the federal and state governments continue to enact and seriously consider many legislative and regulatory proposals that have or could materially
impact various aspects of the health care system. Many of these changes are described below. While certain of these measures would adversely affect us, at
this time we cannot predict the extent of this impact.

Page 28



 

Health Care Regulation

General

The federal and state governments have adopted laws and regulations that govern our business activities in various ways. These laws and regulations restrict
how we conduct our business and result in additional burdens and costs to us. Areas of governmental regulation include:

 •  Licensure
 
 •  Policy forms, including plan design and disclosures
 
 •  Premium rates and rating methodologies
 
 •  Underwriting rules and procedures
 
 •  Benefit mandates
 
 •  Eligibility requirements
 
 •  Service areas
 
 •  Market conduct
 
 •  Utilization review activities
 
 •  Payment of claims, including timeliness and accuracy of payment
 
 •  Member rights and responsibilities
 
 •  Sales and marketing activities
 
 •  Quality assurance procedures
 
 •  Disclosure of medical and other information
 
 •  Provider rates of payment
 
 •  Surcharges on provider payments
 
 •  Provider contract forms
 
 •  Delegation of risk and other financial arrangements
 
 •  Producer licensing and compensation
 
 •  Financial condition (including reserves) and
 
 •  Corporate governance

These laws and regulations are different in each jurisdiction.

States generally require health insurers and HMOs to obtain a certificate of authority prior to commencing operations. To establish a new insurance company
or an HMO in a state, we generally would have to obtain such a certificate. The time necessary to obtain such a certificate varies from state to state. Each
health insurer and HMO must file periodic financial and operating reports with the states in which it does business. In addition, health insurers and HMOs
are subject to state examination and periodic license renewal.

Group Pricing and Underwriting Restrictions

Pricing and underwriting regulation by states limit the flexibility of Aetna and other health insurers relative to their underwriting and rating practices,
particularly for small employer groups. These laws vary by state. In general they apply to certain business segments and limit the ability of the Company to
set prices or renew business, or both, based on specific characteristics of the group or the group’s prior claim experience.

Many of these laws limit the differentials in rates carriers may charge between new and renewal business, and/or between groups based on differing
characteristics. They may also require that carriers disclose to customers the basis on which the carrier establishes new business and renewal rates, restrict the
application of pre-existing condition exclusions and limit the ability of a carrier to terminate coverage of an employer group.
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The federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, (“ HIPAA”), generally requires carriers that write small business in any market to
accept for coverage any small employer group applying for a basic and standard plan of benefits. HIPAA also mandates guaranteed renewal of health care
coverage for most employer groups, subject to certain defined exceptions, and provides for specified employer notice periods in connection with product and
market withdrawals. The law further limits exclusions based on preexisting conditions for individuals covered under group policies to the extent the
individuals had prior creditable coverage within a specified time frame. HIPAA is structured as a “floor” requirement, allowing states latitude to enact more
stringent rules governing each of these restrictions. For example, certain states have modified HIPAA’s small group definition (2-50 employees) to include
groups of one.

In addition, a number of states provide for a voluntary reinsurance mechanism to spread small group risk among participating carriers. In a small number of
states, participation in this pooling mechanism is mandatory for all small group carriers. In general, Aetna has elected not to participate in voluntary pools, but
even in these states the Company may be subject to certain supplemental assessments related to the state’s small group experience.

HIPAA Administrative Simplification; Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act
The regulations under the administrative simplification section of HIPAA also impose a number of additional obligations on issuers of health insurance
coverage and health benefit plan sponsors. The law authorizes the United States Department of Health and Human Services (“HHS”) to issue standards for
administrative simplification, as well as privacy and security of medical records and other individually identifiable health information (“Administrative
Simplification”). Administrative Simplification requirements apply to self-funded group health plans, health insurers and HMOs, health care clearinghouses
and health care providers who transmit health information electronically (“Covered Entities”). Regulations adopted to implement Administrative Simplification
also require that business associates acting for or on behalf of these Covered Entities be contractually obligated to meet HIPAA standards. The Administrative
Simplification regulations establish significant criminal penalties and civil sanctions for noncompliance.

Although Administrative Simplification was intended ultimately to reduce administrative expenses and burdens faced within the health care industry, the law
has required significant and, in some cases, costly changes in business practices and operations. We expect that we will incur additional expenses to comply
with these regulations in future periods.

HHS has released rules mandating the use of new standard formats with respect to certain health care transactions (e.g., health care claims information, plan
eligibility, referral certification and authorization, claims status, plan enrollment and disenrollment, payment and remittance advice, plan premium payments
and coordination of benefits). HHS also has published rules requiring the use of standardized code sets and unique identifiers for employers and providers.
We have met all applicable requirements to date. We are required to comply with the provider identifier rules by May 2007.

HHS also sets standards relating to the privacy of individually identifiable health information. In general, these regulations restrict the use and disclosure of
medical records and other individually identifiable health information held by health plans and other affected entities in any form, whether communicated
electronically, on paper or orally, subject only to limited exceptions. In addition, the regulations provide patients new rights to understand and control how their
health information is used. These regulations do not preempt more stringent state laws and regulations that may apply to us. HHS has also published security
regulations designed to protect member health information from unauthorized use or disclosure. We are required to comply with these security regulations by
April 21, 2005.

Page 30



 

In addition, provisions of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act generally require insurers to provide customers with notice regarding how their personal health and
financial information is used and the opportunity to “opt out” of certain disclosures before the insurer shares non-public personal information with a non-
affiliated third party. Like HIPAA, this law sets a “floor” standard, allowing states to adopt more stringent requirements governing privacy protection. The
Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act also gives banks and other financial institutions the ability to affiliate with insurance companies, which may lead to new competitors
in the insurance and health benefits fields.

Legislative and Regulatory Initiatives
There has been a continuing trend of increased health care regulation at both the federal and state levels. The federal government and many states have enacted
or are considering additional legislation or regulation related to health care plans. Legislation, regulation and initiatives relating to this trend include among other
things, the following:

•  Amending or supplementing ERISA to impose greater requirements on the administration of employer-funded benefit plans or limit the scope of current
ERISA pre-emption, which would among other things expose health plans to expanded liability for punitive and other extra-contractual damages.

 
•  Imposing assessments on (or to be collected by) health plans or health carriers, such as assessments for insolvency, assessments for uninsured or high-risk

pools, assessments for uncompensated care, or assessments to defray provider medical malpractice insurance costs.
 
•  Extending malpractice and other liability exposure for decisions made by health plans.
 
•  Mandating coverage for certain conditions and/or specified procedures, drugs or devices (e.g. infertility treatment, experimental pharmaceuticals).
 
•  Mandating direct access to specialists for patients with chronic conditions, and direct access to OB/GYNs, chiropractors or other practitioners.
 
•  Mandating expanded employer and consumer disclosures and notices.
 
•  Mandating expanded coverage for emergency services.
 
•  Prohibiting or limiting certain types of financial arrangements with providers, including among other things incentives based on utilization of services.
 
•  Imposing substantial penalties for failure to pay claims within specified time periods.
 
•  Regulating the composition of provider networks, such as any willing provider and pharmacy laws (which generally provide that providers and pharmacies

cannot be denied participation in a managed care plan where the providers and pharmacies are willing to abide by the terms and conditions of that plan).
 
•  Imposing payment levels for out-of-network care.
 
•  Exempting physicians from the antitrust laws that prohibit price fixing, group boycotts and other horizontal restraints on competition.
 
•  Restricting health plan claim and related procedures.
 
•  Requiring the application of treatment and financial parity between mental health benefits and medical benefits within the same health plan.
 
•  Extending benefits available to workers who lose their jobs and other uninsured.
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•  Mandating liberalized definitions of medical necessity.
 
•  Mandating internal and external grievance and appeal procedures (including expedited decision making and access to external claim review).
 
•  Enabling the creation of new types of health plans or health carriers, which in some instances would not be subject to the regulations or restrictions that

govern our operations.
 
•  Allowing individuals and small groups to collectively purchase health care coverage without any other affiliations.
 
•  Imposing requirements and restrictions on operations of pharmacy benefit managers, including restricting or eliminating the use of formularies for

prescription drugs.
 
•  Making health plans responsible for provider payments in the event of financial failure by a capitated physician group or other intermediary.
 
•  Creating or expanding state-sponsored health benefit purchasing pools, in which we may be required to participate.
 
•  Creating a single payer system where the government oversees or manages the provision of health care coverage.
 
•  Imposing employer or individual health coverage mandates.

It is uncertain whether we can counter the potential adverse effects of such potential legislation or regulation, including whether we can recoup, through higher
premiums or other measures, the increased costs of mandated benefits or other increased costs.

We also may be adversely impacted by court and regulatory decisions that expand the interpretations of existing statutes and regulations or impose medical
malpractice or bad faith liability. Among other issues, the courts, including the U.S. Supreme Court and federal and state courts, continue to consider cases
addressing the pre-emptive effect of ERISA on state laws. In general, limitations to this pre-emption have the effect of increasing our costs, liability exposures,
or both. Legislative initiatives discussed above include proposals in the U.S. Congress to restrict the pre-emptive effect of ERISA and state legislative activity
in several states that, should it result in enacted legislation that is not preempted by ERISA, could increase our liability exposure and could result in greater
state regulation of our operations.

Patients’ Rights Legislation
Various state legislatures and the U.S. Congress continue to debate legislation containing various patient protection initiatives, including provisions that could
expose the Company to unlimited economic damages and certain punitive damages, for making a determination denying benefits or for delaying members’
receipt of benefits as a result of “medical necessity” and other coverage determinations. The Company cannot predict whether these measures will be enacted
into law in 2005 or what form any such legislation might take.

ERISA
The provision of services to certain employee benefit plans, including certain Health Care, Group Insurance and Large Case Pensions benefit plans, is subject
to ERISA, a complex set of laws and regulations subject to interpretation and enforcement by the Internal Revenue Service and the Department of Labor (the
“DOL”). ERISA regulates certain aspects of the relationships between us and employers who maintain employee benefit plans subject to ERISA. Some of our
administrative services and other activities may also be subject to regulation under ERISA. In addition, some states require licensure or registration of
companies providing third-party claims administration services for benefit plans.

DOL regulations under ERISA set standards for claim payment and member appeals along with associated notice and disclosure requirements. We have
invested significant time and attention to compliance with these new standards, which represent an additional regulatory burden for us.
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Certain Large Case Pensions’ and Group Insurance products and services are also subject to potential issues raised by certain judicial interpretations relating
to ERISA. Under those interpretations, together with DOL regulations, the Company may have ERISA fiduciary duties with respect to certain general account
assets held under contracts that are not guaranteed benefit policies. As a result, certain transactions related to those assets are subject to conflict of interest and
other restrictions, and the Company must provide certain disclosures to policyholders annually. We must comply with these restrictions or face substantial
penalties.

Medicare
In 1997, the federal government passed legislation establishing the Medicare+Choice program (renamed “Medicare Advantage”) that changed the method for
determining premiums that the government pays to HMOs for Medicare members. In general, the new method reduced the premiums payable to us compared to
the old method, although the level and extent of the reductions varied by geographic market and depended on other factors. As a result of these and subsequent
changes, as well as other factors including certain Medicare regulations issued by CMS, we either did not renew our Medicare contracts or reduced service
areas in certain areas in each of 2000 through 2003. However, as a result of funding reforms contained in the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and
Modernization Act of 2003 (the “Medicare Act”), we elected to expand our participation in the Medicare Advantage program in selected markets in 2005. We are
encouraged that these funding reforms will allow further expansion within the Medicare Advantage program, although it is not possible to predict the longer
term adequacy of reimbursement under this program.

The Medicare Act added out-patient pharmaceutical products as a benefit under Medicare starting in 2006 and incorporates a number of other reforms to the
Medicare program. Among other changes, this new law increases Medicare Advantage reimbursement starting in 2004, adds disease management programs
and preventive medicine coverage to Medicare, authorizes Health Savings Accounts (HSAs) for non-Medicare beneficiaries, establishes a drug discount card
(for 2004-2005) for Medicare beneficiaries and permits insurers to provide Medicare benefits through regional PPOs. The Company believes the new law has
the potential to expand the role in Medicare for private health plans, although it is too early to predict the extent of the new law’s effect on our business. The
Company began to offer HSAs in connection with its consumer-directed health plans beginning January 1, 2004.

HMO and Insurance Holding Company Laws
A number of states, including Pennsylvania and Connecticut, regulate affiliated groups of HMOs and insurers such as Aetna under holding company
statutes. These laws may require us and our subsidiaries to maintain certain levels of equity. Holding company laws and regulations generally require
insurance companies and HMOs within an insurance holding company system to register with the insurance department of each state where they are domiciled
and to file reports with those states’ insurance departments regarding capital structure, ownership, financial condition, intercompany transactions and general
business operations. In addition, various notice or prior regulatory approval requirements apply to transactions between insurance companies, HMOs and
their affiliates within an insurance holding company system, depending on the size and nature of the transactions. For information regarding restrictions on
certain payments of dividends or other distributions by HMO and insurance company subsidiaries of our company, refer to “Liquidity and Capital
Resources.”

The holding company laws for the states of domicile of Aetna and its subsidiaries also restrict the ability of any person to obtain control of an insurance
company or HMO without prior regulatory approval. Under those statutes, without such approval (or an exemption), no person may acquire any voting
security of an insurance holding company (such as our parent company, Aetna Inc.) that controls an insurance company or HMO, or merge with such a
holding company, if as a result of such transaction such person would “control” the insurance holding company. “Control” is generally defined as the direct or
indirect power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a person and is presumed to exist if a person directly or indirectly owns or
controls 10% or more of the voting securities of another person.

Page 33



 

Guaranty Fund Assessments
Under guaranty fund laws existing in all states, insurers doing business in those states can be assessed (up to prescribed limits) for certain obligations of
insolvent insurance companies to policyholders and claimants. Assessments generally are based on a formula relating to our premiums in the state compared to
the premiums of other insurers. While we historically have recovered more than half of guaranty fund assessments through statutorily permitted premium tax
offsets, significant increases in assessments could jeopardize future recovery of these assessments. Some states have similar laws relating to HMOs.

Regulation of Pharmacy Operations
We own a mail-order pharmacy facility in Kansas City, MO that dispenses pharmaceuticals throughout the U.S. The pharmacy practice is generally regulated
at the state level by state boards of pharmacy. Our mail-order pharmacy is licensed in the state of Missouri, as well as in the states that require registration or
licensure with the state’s board of pharmacy or similar regulatory body.

FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION/RISK FACTORS

The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (the “1995 Act”) provides a “safe harbor” for forward-looking statements, so long as (1) those
statements are identified as forward-looking, and (2) the statements are accompanied by meaningful cautionary statements that identify important factors that
could cause actual results to differ materially from those discussed in the statement. We want to take advantage of these safe harbor provisions.

Certain information contained in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis is forward-looking within the meaning of the 1995 Act or Securities and
Exchange Commission rules. This information includes, but is not limited to: (1) the information in the “Overview” discussion of results of operations and
(2) “Investments - Risk Management and Market-Sensitive Instruments.” Throughout this Management’s Discussion and Analysis, where we use the
following words, or variations of these words and similar expressions, we intend to identify forward-looking statements:

       
· Expects
· Projects  

· Anticipates
· Intends  

· Plans
· Believes  

· Seeks
· Estimates

Forward-looking statements rely on a number of assumptions concerning future events, and are subject to a number of significant uncertainties and other
factors, many of which are outside our control, that could cause actual results to differ materially from those statements. You should not put undue reliance on
forward-looking statements. We disclaim any intention or obligation to update or revise forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information,
future events or otherwise.

Risk Factors
You  should  carefully  consider each of the following risks and all of the other information set forth in this MD&A or elsewhere in the Form 10-K. These
risks and other factors may affect forward-looking statements, including those in this MD&A or made by the Company elsewhere, such as in investor calls
or conference presentations. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones facing our Company. Additional risks and uncertainties not
presently known to us or that we currently believe to be immaterial may also adversely affect our business.

If any of the following risks and uncertainties develops into actual events, this could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or
results of operations. In that case, the trading price of our common stock could decline materially.
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We operate in an industry that is subject to ongoing changes and requires us to anticipate market trends and make changes to differentiate our
products and services.
We operate in a highly competitive environment and in an industry that is subject to significant ongoing changes from market pressures brought about by
customer demands, as well as business consolidations, strategic alliances, legislative reform and marketing practices. These factors require us to anticipate
market trends and make changes to differentiate our products and services versus those of our competitors. We also face the potential of competition from
existing or new companies that have not historically been in the health or group insurance industries. For example, the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act gives banks
and other financial institutions the ability to affiliate with insurance companies, which may lead to new competitors with significant financial resources in the
insurance and health benefits fields. Failure to anticipate market trends and/or to differentiate our products and services can affect our ability to retain or grow
profitable membership in our product offerings.

We face a wide range of risks, and our success depends on our ability to identify, prioritize and appropriately manage our enterprise risk
exposures.
As a large company operating in a complex industry, we encounter a variety of risks. The risks we face include, among other matters, the range of industry,
competitive, regulatory, operational or external risks identified in this Risk Factor discussion. In recent periods, we have devoted additional resources to
developing enterprise-wide risk management processes, in addition to the processes we have for risk management within our businesses. Failure to
appropriately identify and manage or mitigate these risks can affect our profitability, our ability to retain or grow business, or, in the event of extreme
circumstances, our financial condition or viability.

Our ability to forecast and manage health care costs and implement increases in premium rates affects our profitability.
Our profitability depends in large part on accurately forecasting health care costs and on our ability to appropriately manage future health care costs through
underwriting criteria, product design, negotiation of favorable provider contracts and medical management programs. The aging of the population and other
demographic characteristics, advances in medical technology and other factors continue to contribute to rising health care costs. Government-imposed
limitations on Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement have also caused the private sector to bear a greater share of increasing health care costs. Changes in
health care practices, inflation, new technologies, the cost of prescription drugs and direct-to-consumer marketing by pharmaceutical companies, clusters of
high cost cases, changes in the regulatory environment, health care provider or member fraud and numerous other factors affecting the cost of health care are
beyond any health plan’s control and may adversely affect our ability to predict and manage health care costs, as well as our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

We have taken and are taking several actions to address these issues. We continue to be vigilant in our pricing and have increased our premiums for new and
renewal business in 2005. Premiums in the health business are generally fixed for one-year periods. Accordingly, future cost increases in excess of medical cost
projections reflected in pricing cannot be recovered in the contract year through higher premiums. As a result, the Company’s results are particularly sensitive
to the price increases it projects in advance of renewal of the business. There can be no assurance regarding the accuracy of medical cost projections assumed
for pricing purposes and if the rate of increase in medical costs in 2005 were to exceed the levels projected for pricing purposes, our results would be materially
adversely affected.

We face risks related to litigation.
We are party to a number of lawsuits, certain of which may be purported to be class actions. The majority of these cases relate to the conduct of our health care
business and allege various violations of law. Many of these cases seek substantial damages (including punitive damages) and may also seek changes in our
business practices. We may also be subject to additional litigation in the future. Litigation could materially adversely affect us, because of the costs of
defending these cases, costs of settlement or judgments against us, or because of changes in our operations that could result from litigation. For example, we
made certain changes to our business practices in connection with settlement in 2003 of a large provider class action that we must continue to effectively
implement. Refer to Note 19 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for more information.
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Public perception of the health benefits industry and of industry or our Company’s practices, if negative, can adversely affect our profitability.
The health benefits industry is subject to negative publicity, which can arise either from perceptions regarding the industry or our Company’s business
practices and/or products. This risk may be increased as we offer new products, such as products with limited benefits, targeted at market segments, such as
the uninsured, beyond those in which we traditionally have operated. Negative publicity may further increase our costs of doing business and adversely affect
our profitability by:

 •  Adversely affecting the Aetna brand particularly,
 
 •  Adversely affecting our ability to market our products and/or services,
 
 •  Requiring us to change our products and/or services, or
 
 •  Increasing the regulatory and legislative requirements with which we must comply.

We expect that management will need to focus simultaneously on multiple strategic and operational initiatives as we seek to further improve our
financial performance, profitably grow our business and differentiate our products and services; if we do not successfully implement these
initiatives, or if these initiatives do not achieve their objectives, our results could be materially adversely affected.
Our operating earnings have significantly improved over the last three years, and we have begun to profitably grow our business. However, in our next phase
of development management will need to continue to focus on executing multiple strategic and operational projects and initiatives at the same time, including,
among other things, addressing rising medical costs, the new customer market approach we implemented in 2002, further improving the efficiency of
operations, certain significant technology projects, further improving relations with health care providers, customer or provider contracting changes, or other
business process improvements. The future performance of our business will depend in large part on our ability to design and implement these initiatives. If
these initiatives do not achieve their objectives or result in increased medical costs, our results could be adversely affected. Refer to “Overview” for more
information.

We would be adversely affected if there were a significant loss or significant shift in the type of our core insurance membership, or if we fail to
achieve profitable growth in that membership.
Competitive factors and ongoing changes in the industry create pressure to contain premium price increases despite being faced with increasing medical costs.
Our customer contracts are subject to negotiation as customers seek to contain their costs, and customers may elect to reduce benefits in order to constrain
increases in their benefit costs; such an election may result in lower premiums for our products, although it may also reduce our health care costs.
Alternatively, our customers may purchase different types of products from us that are less profitable, or move to a competitor to obtain more favorable
premiums. Among other matters, we compete on the basis of overall cost, coverage, customer services, quality and sufficiency of provider networks and the
quality of our medical management programs. In addition to competitive pressures affecting the ability to obtain new customers or retain existing customers,
our membership can be affected by reductions in workforce by existing customers (as it was in 2003 and 2004) due to soft general economic conditions.

Loss of membership or failure to achieve profitable membership growth in core insurance membership could materially adversely affect our results of
operations.

We are subject to potential changes in public policy that can adversely affect the markets for our products and our profitability.
While it is not possible to predict whether fundamental policy changes would occur, these could include policy changes that fundamentally change the
dynamics of our industry, such as a much larger role of the government in the health care arena.
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Terrorism or the continued threat of terrorism, epidemics or other extreme events could materially increase Health Care utilization and
pharmacy costs and Group Insurance life and disability claims, although we cannot predict whether any such increases will occur.
Terrorism can affect the U.S. economy in general, but also our industry and us specifically. Beyond obtaining coverage for our facilities, there are few, if any,
commercial options through which to transfer the exposure from terrorism away from the Company. In particular, in the event of bioterrorism epidemics or
other extreme events, we could face significant health care costs depending on the government’s actions and the responsiveness of public health agencies and
insurers. In addition, our Group Insurance members are concentrated in certain large, metropolitan areas which may be likely targets of these events.

Sales of our products and services are dependent on our ability to have and provide support to a network of internal sales personnel and third
party brokers and consultants.
Our products are sold primarily through our sales personnel, who frequently work with independent brokers and consultants who assist in the production
and servicing of business. Our sales would be adversely affected if these sales networks deteriorate or if we do not adequately provide support, training and
education to this sales network.

Success of our business depends in part on effective information technology systems and on continuing to develop and implement improvements in
technology; certain significant multiyear strategic information technology projects are currently in process.
Our businesses depend in large part on our technology systems for processing claims and interacting with providers, employer plan sponsors and members,
and our business strategy involves providing customers with easy to use products that leverage information to meet the needs of those customers. Certain of
our information technology systems and software are older, legacy systems that are less efficient and require an ongoing commitment of significant resources
to upgrade to industry standards, maintain and enhance (including adequate back up and recovery processes and business continuity procedures). We need to
develop new systems to meet current standards and keep pace with continuing changes in information processing technology, evolving industry and regulatory
standards, and customer demands. Our success is dependent in large part on maintaining the effectiveness of existing systems and on implementing
improvements and continuing to develop and enhance information systems that support our business processes in a cost efficient manner.

We face risks from the re-deployment of significant capital generated by our operations to be used in acquisitions and other activities.
We have generated a significant amount of cash from operations in recent years, and our strategy includes effectively investing our capital in appropriate
acquisitions, share repurchases or current operations to seek to generate returns. These investments are made based upon management’s projections of
anticipated revenues, earnings and cash flows of our company or an acquired company, and may not be achieved. In addition, with respect to any
acquisitions, some additional risks we face include:

 •  We may assume liabilities, including those that were not disclosed to us;
 
 •  We may be unable to successfully integrate businesses to realize anticipated economic and other benefits on a timely basis, which could result in

substantial costs or delays or other operational or financial problems;
 
 •  Acquisitions could disrupt our ongoing business, distract management, divert resources and make it difficult to maintain our current business

standards, controls and procedures;
 
 •  We may finance future acquisitions by issuing common stock for some or all of the purchase price, which could dilute the ownership interests of our

shareholders;
 
 •  We may also incur additional debt related to future acquisitions; and
 
 •  We could be competing with other firms, some of which may have greater financial and other resources, to acquire attractive companies.
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General market conditions affect our investments in debt and equity securities, mortgage loans and other investments and our income on those
investments.
As an insurer, we have substantial investment portfolios of assets that support our policy liabilities. Generally low levels of interest rates on investments, such
as those experienced in United States financial markets during recent years, have negatively impacted the level of investment income earned by the Company
in recent periods, and such lower levels of investment income would continue if these lower interest rates were to continue. We seek, within guidelines we deem
appropriate, to match the duration of our assets and liabilities and to manage our credit exposures, although a failure to do so could materially adversely affect
our results and our financial condition. See “Investments” for more information. Financial market conditions also affect our capital gains or losses from
investments.

Our pension plan expenses are affected by general market conditions, interest rates and the accuracy of actuarial estimates of future benefit
costs.
We have a pension plan that covers a large number of current employees and retirees. Unfavorable investment performance, interest rate changes or changes in
estimates of benefit costs, if significant, could adversely affect our results of operations or financial condition by significantly increasing our pension plan
expenses.

We hold reserves for expected claims, which are estimated, and these estimates are highly judgmental; if actual claims exceed reserve estimates,
our results could be materially adversely affected.
Health care costs payable reflect estimates of the ultimate cost of claims that have been incurred but not yet reported or reported but not yet paid. Health care
costs payable are estimated periodically, and any resulting adjustments are reflected in current-period operating results within health care costs. Health care
costs payable are based on a number of factors, including those derived from historical claim experience. A large portion of health care claims are not
submitted to the Company until after the end of the quarter in which services are rendered by providers to members. As a result, an extensive degree of
judgment is used in this estimation process, considerable variability is inherent in such estimates, and the adequacy of the estimate is highly sensitive to
changes in medical claims payment patterns and changes in medical cost trends (the rate of increase in medical costs). A worsening (or improvement) of
medical cost trend or changes in claim payment patterns from those that were assumed in estimating health care costs payable at December 31, 2004 would
cause these estimates to change in the near term, and such a change could be material. For example, a 100 basis point change in the estimated medical cost
trend for Commercial Risk products would have changed annual after-tax results for 2004 by approximately $65 million. This estimation process is a critical
accounting policy for the Company. Refer to “Health Care” and “Critical Accounting Policies” for more information.

We are dependent on our ability to manage and engage a very large workforce.
Our products and services and our operations require a large number of employees, and we would be adversely affected if our retention, development,
succession and other human resource management techniques are not aligned with our strategic objectives.

Managing key executive succession is critical to our success.
We would be adversely affected if we fail to adequately plan for succession of our senior management and other key executives. While we have succession
plans and we have employment arrangements with certain key executives, these do not guarantee that the services of these executives will be available to us.

Our profitability may be adversely affected if we are unable to contract with providers on favorable terms and otherwise maintain favorable
provider relationships.
Our profitability is dependent in part upon our ability to contract on favorable terms with hospitals, physicians and other health benefits providers, which is
affected both by the rates for provider services and our provider payment and other provider relations practices. The sufficiency and quality of our networks
of available providers is also an important factor when customers consider our products and services. The failure to maintain or to secure new cost-effective
health care provider contracts may result in a loss in membership and/or higher medical costs.

Page 38



 

We must demonstrate that our products and processes lead to access by members to quality care by their providers.
Failure to demonstrate that our products and processes (such as disease management and patient safety programs, provider credentialing and other quality of
care and information management initiatives) lead to access by members to quality care by providers would adversely affect our ability to differentiate our
product and/or service offerings from those of competitors.

We outsource and obtain certain information technology systems or other services from independent third parties, and also delegate selected
functions to independent practice associations and specialty service providers; portions of our operations are subject to their performance.
Although we take steps to monitor and regulate the performance of independent third parties who provide services to us or to whom we delegate selected
functions, these arrangements may make our operations vulnerable if those third parties fail to satisfy their obligations to us, whether because of our failure to
adequately monitor and regulate their performance, or changes in their own financial condition or other matters outside our control. In recent years, certain
third parties to whom we delegated selected functions, such as independent practice associations and specialty services providers, have experienced financial
difficulties, including bankruptcy, which may subject us to increased costs and potential network disruptions, and in some cases cause us to incur
duplicative claims expense. Certain legislative authorities have in recent periods also discussed or proposed legislation that would restrict outsourcing and, if
enacted, could materially increase our costs.

Government payors can determine premiums.
In government-funded health programs such as Medicare and Medicaid, the government payor determines the premium levels. If the government payor reduces
the premium levels or increases premiums by less than our costs increase and we cannot offset these with supplemental premiums and changes in benefit
plans, then we could be materially adversely affected. In addition, premiums for certain federal government employee groups are subject to retroactive
adjustments by the federal government. Ten percent of our revenues were derived from the federal government in 2004. Any such adjustments could materially
adversely affect us.

Our business activities are highly regulated; further regulation could also materially adversely affect our business.
Our business is subject to extensive regulation and oversight by state and federal governmental authorities. The federal and many state governments have
enacted and continue to consider legislative and regulatory changes related to health products. At this time, we are unable to predict the impact of future
changes, although we anticipate that some of these measures, if enacted, could adversely affect health operations through:

 •  Affecting premium rates,
 
 •  Reducing our ability to manage medical costs,
 
 •  Increasing medical costs and operating expenses,
 
 •  Increasing our exposure to lawsuits,
 
 •  Regulating levels and permitted lines of business,
 
 •  Imposing financial assessments, and
 
 •  Regulating business practices.

Recently, there has been heightened review by regulators of the health care insurance industry’s business practices, including utilization management and
claim payment practices, as well as review of the general insurance industry’s brokerage practices. As one of the largest national health insurers, we are
regularly the subject of regulatory market conduct reviews and several such reviews currently are pending, some of which may be resolved during 2005.
These regulatory reviews could result in changes to or clarifications of our business practices, and also could result in material fines, penalties or other
sanctions. Our business also may be adversely impacted by judicial and regulatory decisions that expand the interpretations of existing statutes and
regulations, impose medical or bad faith liability, increase our responsibilities under ERISA, or reduce the scope of ERISA pre-emption of state law claims. We
also have received subpoenas for information from the New York Attorney General and the Connecticut Attorney General and inquiries from other regulatory
authorities with respect to an industry wide investigation into certain insurance brokerage practices.
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For more information regarding these matters, please refer to “Regulatory Environment” and “Litigation”.

We also face other risks that could adversely affect our business, results of operations or financial condition, which include:
 •  Any requirement to restate financial results in the event of inappropriate application of accounting principles;
 
 •  Financial loss from inadequate insurance coverage due to self insurance levels or unavailability of coverage for credit or other reasons;
 
 •  Failure of our processes to prevent and detect unethical conduct of employees;
 
 •  A significant failure of internal controls over financial reporting;
 
 •  Failure of our prevention and control systems related to employee compliance with internal policies;
 
 •  Provider fraud that is not prevented or detected and impacts our medical costs or those of self-insured customers; and
 
 •  Failure of Corporate Governance policies and procedures.
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Selected Financial Data

                     
  For the Years Ended December 31,  
(Millions, except per common share data)  2004  2003  2002  2001  2000 
Total revenue  $19,904.1  $17,976.4  $19,878.7  $25,190.8  $26,818.9 
Income (loss) from continuing operations   1,215.1   933.8   393.2   (291.5)   (127.4)
Net income (loss)   2,245.1   933.8   (2,522.5)   (279.6)   127.1 
Net realized capital gains (losses), net of tax (included above)   45.9   42.0   22.3   73.6   (14.2)
Total assets   42,133.7   40,950.2   40,047.5   43,196.7   47,673.0 
Short-term debt   —   —   —   109.7   1,592.2 
Long-term debt   1,609.7   1,613.7   1,633.2   1,591.3   — 
Shareholders’ equity   9,081.4   7,924.0   6,980.0   9,890.3   10,127.1 
                     
Per common share data: (1)                     
Dividends declared (2)  $ .04  $ .04  $ .04  $ .04  $ — 
Earnings (loss) per common share:                     

Income (loss) from continuing operations:                     
Basic   8.03   6.12   2.64   (2.03)   (.90)
Diluted (3)   7.74   5.91   2.57   (2.03)   (.90)

Net income (loss):                     
Basic   14.83   6.12   (16.94)   (1.95)   .90 
Diluted (3)   14.30   5.91   (16.49)   (1.95)   .90 

(1)

 
Per common share data is based on the Company’s predecessor’s (former Aetna) common shares and share equivalents through December 13, 2000 and
Aetna Inc. thereafter.

(2)  Prior to December 13, 2000, dividends were declared and paid by former Aetna to its shareholders and therefore such dividends are not included herein.
(3)

 

Since the Company reported a loss from continuing operations in 2001 and 2000, the effect of common stock equivalents has been excluded from
earnings per common share computations for those years since including such securities would be anti-dilutive. As a result, diluted and basic per
common share amounts for 2001 and 2000 are the same.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements and MD&A for significant events affecting the comparability of results as well as material uncertainties.
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Consolidated Statements of Income

             
  For the Years Ended December 31,  
(Millions, except per common share data)  2004  2003  2002 
Revenue:             

Health care premiums  $14,862.8  $ 13,235.5  $ 15,036.1 
Other premiums   1,813.9   1,668.5   1,676.6 
Administrative services contract fees   2,054.9   1,884.7   1,842.6 
Net investment income   1,062.5   1,095.0   1,250.7 
Other income*   39.2   27.5   38.4 
Net realized capital gains   70.8   65.2   34.3 

Total revenue   19,904.1   17,976.4   19,878.7 
Benefits and expenses:             

Health care costs**   11,637.7   10,135.8   12,452.8 
Current and future benefits   2,191.5   2,090.8   2,245.5 
Operating expenses:             

Selling expenses   700.0   567.4   615.3 
General and administrative expenses   3,328.8   3,587.1   3,617.3 

Interest expense   104.7   102.9   119.5 
Amortization of other acquired intangible assets   42.5   50.8   130.8 
Severance and facilities charges   —   —   161.0 
Reduction of reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products   —   —   (8.3)

Total benefits and expenses   18,005.2   16,534.8   19,333.9 
Income from continuing operations before income taxes (benefits)   1,898.9   1,441.6   544.8 
Income taxes (benefits):             

Current   490.2   397.0   193.8 
Deferred   193.6   110.8   (42.2)

Total income taxes   683.8   507.8   151.6 
Income from continuing operations   1,215.1   933.8   393.2 
Discontinued operations, net of tax (Note 22)   1,030.0   —   50.0 
Income before cumulative effect adjustments   2,245.1   933.8   443.2 
Cumulative effect adjustments, net of tax (Note 2)   —   —   (2,965.7)
Net income (loss)  $ 2,245.1  $ 933.8  $ (2,522.5)
             
Earnings (loss) per common share:             
Basic:             

Income from continuing operations  $ 8.03  $ 6.12  $ 2.64 
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax   6.80   —   .34 
Income before cumulative effect adjustments   14.83   6.12   2.98 
Cumulative effect adjustments, net of tax   —   —   (19.92)
Net income (loss)  $ 14.83  $ 6.12  $ (16.94)

Diluted:             
Income from continuing operations  $ 7.74  $ 5.91  $ 2.57 
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax   6.56   —   .33 
Income before cumulative effect adjustments   14.30   5.91   2.90 
Cumulative effect adjustments, net of tax   —   —   (19.39)
Net income (loss)  $ 14.30  $ 5.91  $ (16.49)

*Other income includes co-payment revenue and plan sponsor reimbursements related to the Company’s mail order pharmacy of $14.7 million and
$1.3 million (net of pharmaceutical and processing costs of $632.7 million and $137.5 million) for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003. The
Company’s mail order pharmacy began operations in February 2003.
**Health care costs have been reduced by fully insured member co-payment revenue related to the Company’s mail order pharmacy of $59.5 million and
$38.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003. The Company’s mail order pharmacy began operations in February 2003.

Refer to accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

         
  As of December 31,  
(Millions, except share data)  2004  2003 
Assets         
Current assets:         

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 1,396.0  $ 1,433.4 
Investment securities   14,242.6   14,990.5 
Other investments   57.7   103.1 
Premiums receivable, net   256.1   318.4 
Other receivables, net   314.0   396.0 
Accrued investment income   198.6   221.5 
Collateral received under securities loan agreements   1,173.8   827.4 
Loaned securities   1,150.1   810.6 
Income taxes receivable   226.8   — 
Deferred income taxes   196.0   217.6 
Other current assets   304.5   238.3 

Total current assets   19,516.2   19,556.8 
Long-term investments   1,718.1   1,521.5 
Mortgage loans   1,348.2   1,353.1 
Investment real estate   274.8   270.4 
Reinsurance recoverables   1,173.0   1,196.3 
Goodwill   3,687.8   3,679.5 
Other acquired intangible assets, net   460.3   496.1 
Property and equipment, net   233.6   267.5 
Deferred income taxes   300.0   396.0 
Other long-term assets   405.9   356.2 
Separate Accounts assets   13,015.8   11,856.8 
Total assets  $ 42,133.7  $ 40,950.2 
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity         
Current liabilities:         

Health care costs payable  $ 1,927.1  $ 1,888.7 
Future policy benefits   837.6   811.1 
Unpaid claims   707.7   624.3 
Unearned premiums   121.8   203.7 
Policyholders’ funds   672.5   1,044.5 
Collateral payable under securities loan agreements   1,173.8   827.4 
Income taxes payable   —   154.7 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities   1,570.8   1,813.1 

Total current liabilities   7,011.3   7,367.5 
Future policy benefits   7,859.5   8,085.7 
Unpaid claims   1,081.5   1,159.4 
Policyholders’ funds   1,453.1   1,529.7 
Long-term debt   1,609.7   1,613.7 
Other long-term liabilities   1,021.4   1,413.4 
Separate Accounts liabilities   13,015.8   11,856.8 
Total liabilities   33,052.3   33,026.2 
Commitments and contingent liabilities (Note 19)         
Shareholders’ equity:         

Common stock and additional paid-in capital ($.01 par value, 732,492,499 shares authorized, 146,502,836 shares
issued and outstanding in 2004 and $.01 par value, 748,624,161 shares authorized, 152,578,251 shares issued
and outstanding in 2003)   3,076.5   4,024.8 

Retained earnings   6,546.4   4,307.2 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (541.5)   (408.0)

Total shareholders’ equity   9,081.4   7,924.0 
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  $ 42,133.7  $ 40,950.2 

Refer to accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

                         
  Number of  Common      Accumulated       
  Common  Stock and      Other  Total  Comprehensive 
  Stock Shares  Additional  Retained  Comprehensive  Shareholders’  Income 
(Millions, except per share data)  Outstanding  Paid-in Capital  Earnings  Income (Loss)  Equity  (Loss) 
Balance at December 31, 2001   144,265,912  $ 3,913.8  $ 5,908.0  $ 68.5  $ 9,890.3     
Common shares issued for benefit plans   9,320,601   322.3   —   —   322.3     
Repurchases of common shares   (3,620,431)   (165.2)   —   —   (165.2)     
Comprehensive income:                         

Net loss   —   —   (2,522.5)   —   (2,522.5)  $ (2,522.5)
Other comprehensive loss:                         

Net unrealized gains on securities (1)   —   —   —   215.4   215.4     
Net foreign currency gains   —   —   —   .5   .5     
Net derivative gains (1)   —   —   —   .4   .4     
Pension liability adjustment   —   —   —   (755.2)   (755.2)     

Other comprehensive loss   —   —   —   (538.9)   (538.9)   (538.9)
Total comprehensive loss                      $ (3,061.4)

Dividends ($.04 per share)   —   —   (6.0)   —   (6.0)     
                         
Balance at December 31, 2002   149,966,082   4,070.9   3,379.5   (470.4)   6,980.0     
Common shares issued for benefit plans   10,265,780   399.1   —   —   399.1     
Repurchases of common shares   (7,653,611)   (445.2)   —   —   (445.2)     
Comprehensive income:                         

Net income   —   —   933.8   —   933.8  $ 933.8 
Other comprehensive income:                         

Net unrealized gains on securities (1)   —   —   —   5.6   5.6     
Net foreign currency gains   —   —   —   4.3   4.3     
Net derivative gains (1)   —   —   —   .7   .7     
Pension liability adjustment   —   —   —   51.8   51.8     

Other comprehensive income   —   —   —   62.4   62.4   62.4 
Total comprehensive income                      $ 996.2 

Dividends ($.04 per share)   —   —   (6.1)   —   (6.1)     
                         
Balance at December 31, 2003   152,578,251   4,024.8   4,307.2   (408.0)   7,924.0     
Common shares issued for benefit plans   10,056,247   546.5   —   —   546.5     
Repurchases of common shares   (16,131,662)   (1,494.8)   —   —   (1,494.8)     
Comprehensive income:                         

Net income   —   —   2,245.1   —   2,245.1  $ 2,245.1 
Other comprehensive loss:                         

Net unrealized losses on securities (1)   —   —   —   (41.9)   (41.9)     
Net foreign currency gains   —   —   —   1.5   1.5     
Net derivative gains (1)   —   —   —   1.2   1.2     
Pension liability adjustment   —   —   —   (94.3)   (94.3)     

Other comprehensive loss   —   —   —   (133.5)   (133.5)   (133.5)
Total comprehensive income                      $ 2,111.6 

Dividends ($.04 per share)   —   —   (5.9)   —   (5.9)     
                         
Balance at December 31, 2004   146,502,836  $ 3,076.5  $ 6,546.4  $ (541.5)  $ 9,081.4     
(1)  Net of reclassification adjustments (Refer to Note 11).

Refer to accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Page 44



 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

             
  For the Years Ended December 31,  
(Millions)  2004  2003  2002 
Cash flows from operating activities:             

Net income (loss)  $ 2,245.1  $ 933.8  $ (2,522.5)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:             

Income from discontinued operations   (1,030.0)   —   (50.0)
Cumulative effect adjustments, net   —   —   2,965.7 
Severance and facilities charges   —   —   161.0 
Physician class action settlement charge   —   115.4   — 
Amortization of other acquired intangible assets   42.5   50.8   130.8 
Depreciation and other amortization   139.7   148.8   170.7 
Amortization of net investment premium   45.5   54.2   11.3 
Net realized capital gains   (70.8)   (65.2)   (34.3)
Changes in assets and liabilities:             

Decrease (increase) in accrued investment income   22.9   (7.2)   18.0 
Decrease in premiums due and other receivables   34.0   150.1   352.9 
Net change in income taxes   350.9   16.3   218.4 
Net change in other assets and other liabilities   (621.7)   (369.4)   (64.8)
Net decrease in health care and insurance liabilities   (366.3)   (597.2)   (1,046.7)
Other, net   (21.2)   (59.8)   (4.1)

Net cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations   770.6   370.6   306.4 
Discontinued operations (Note 22)   666.2   —   — 

Net cash provided by operating activities   1,436.8   370.6   306.4 
             
Cash flows from investing activities:             

Proceeds from sales and investment maturities of:             
Debt securities available for sale   9,471.7   12,623.6   15,679.9 
Equity securities   41.6   53.5   251.2 
Mortgage loans   271.3   565.7   602.3 
Investment real estate   50.9   90.4   74.3 
Other investments   2,132.1   2,403.6   3,321.0 

Cost of investments in:             
Debt securities available for sale   (9,469.3)   (13,250.3)   (15,452.3)
Equity securities   (25.6)   (20.7)   (114.9)
Mortgage loans   (212.4)   (239.9)   (296.3)
Investment real estate   (83.5)   (66.8)   (47.6)
Other investments   (1,909.6)   (2,059.2)   (3,251.4)

Increase in property, equipment and software   (190.3)   (210.8)   (155.5)
Cash used for acquisition, net of cash acquired   (9.5)   (53.5)   — 

Net cash provided by (used for) investing activities   67.4   (164.4)   610.7 
             
Cash flows from financing activities:             

Deposits and interest credited for investment contracts   54.5   94.4   127.1 
Withdrawals of investment contracts   (423.2)   (502.4)   (592.1)
Repayment of short-term debt   —   —   (109.7)
Common shares issued under benefit plans   316.0   293.6   233.5 
Common shares repurchased   (1,493.0)   (445.2)   (165.2)
Dividends paid to shareholders   (5.9)   (6.1)   (6.0)
Other, net   10.0   (10.0)   — 

Net cash used for financing activities   (1,541.6)   (575.7)   (512.4)
             
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents   (37.4)   (369.5)   404.7 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year   1,433.4   1,802.9   1,398.2 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year  $ 1,396.0  $ 1,433.4  $ 1,802.9 

Refer to accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Organization

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include Aetna Inc. (a Pennsylvania corporation) (“Aetna”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Company”). The Company’s operations include three business segments: Health Care, Group Insurance and Large Case Pensions. Health Care consists of
health and dental plans offered on both a risk basis (where the Company assumes all or a majority of the risk for health and dental care costs) and an
employer-funded basis (where the plan sponsor under an administrative services contract (“ASC”) assumes all or a majority of this risk). Health plans
include health maintenance organization (“HMO”), point-of-service (“POS”), preferred provider organization (“PPO”) and indemnity benefit (“Indemnity”)
products. Health plans also include Health Savings Accounts (“HSA”) and Aetna HealthFund ®, consumer-directed plans that combine traditional POS or PPO
and/or dental coverage, subject to a deductible, with an accumulating benefit account (which may be funded by the plan sponsor or member in the case of
HSAs), allowing members greater flexibility in utilizing a portion of their benefit dollars. The Group Insurance segment includes group life insurance products
offered on a risk basis, as well as group disability and long-term care insurance products offered on both a risk and an employer-funded basis. Large Case
Pensions manages a variety of retirement products (including pension and annuity products) primarily for defined benefit and defined contribution plans.
These products provide a variety of funding and benefit payment distribution options and other services. The Large Case Pensions segment includes certain
discontinued products. (Refer to Note 21 for additional information.)

The three segments are distinct businesses that offer different products and services. The Company’s Chief Executive Officer evaluates financial performance
and makes resource allocation decisions at these segment levels. The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of
significant accounting policies in Note 2. The Company evaluates performance of these business segments based on operating earnings (net income or loss,
excluding net realized capital gains and losses and any other items, such as severance and facilities charges and reductions of the reserve for anticipated future
losses on discontinued products) (Refer to Note 20 for segment financial information).

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) and
include the accounts of Aetna and subsidiaries that the Company controls. All significant intercompany balances have been eliminated in consolidation.
Certain reclassifications have been made to the 2003 and 2002 financial information to conform to the 2004 presentation.

New Accounting Standards
Accounting for Variable Interest Entities (“VIE”) 
In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities (“FIN 46”).
This interpretation requires the Company to consolidate a VIE if the entity meets certain criteria and the Company is considered the primary beneficiary of the
VIE. In December 2003, the FASB issued a revision to FIN 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities (“FIN 46-R”). FIN 46-R amended certain
provisions of FIN 46 and delayed implementation for entities that are not considered special purpose entities until the first quarter of 2004 with early adoption
permitted. The Company adopted the provisions of FIN 46-R as of December 31, 2003. The adoption of FIN 46-R did not have a material impact on the
Company’s financial position or results of operations.
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The Company does not have any material relationships with VIEs which would require consolidation. The Company does have relationships with certain real
estate and hedge fund partnerships that are considered VIEs. However, the Company would not be considered the primary beneficiary of these investments.
The Company records the amount of its investment in these partnerships as an asset on its Consolidated Balance Sheet and recognizes its share of partnership
income or losses in earnings. The Company’s maximum exposure to loss as a result of its investment in these partnerships is its investment balance at
December 31, 2004 of approximately $153 million and the risk of recapture of tax credits related to the real estate partnerships previously recognized, which
the Company does not believe is significant. The real estate partnerships construct, own and manage low-income housing developments and had total assets of
approximately $1.8 billion as of December 31, 2004. The hedge fund partnership had total assets of approximately $93 million at December 31, 2004.

Disclosures of and Accounting for Other-Than-Temporary Impairments of Certain Investments
In March 2004, the FASB’s Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) reached a consensus on Issue No. 03-01, The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary
Impairments and Its Application to Certain Investments  (“EITF 03-01”). EITF 03-01 provides accounting guidance regarding the determination of when an
impairment (i.e., fair value is less than amortized cost) of debt and marketable equity securities and investments accounted for under the cost method should
be considered other-than-temporary and recognized in earnings. The recognition and measurement guidance of EITF 03-01 was effective July 1, 2004. EITF 03-
01 also requires annual disclosures of certain quantitative and qualitative factors of debt and marketable equity securities classified as available-for-sale or
held-to-maturity that are in an unrealized loss position at the balance sheet date, but for which an other-than-temporary impairment has not been recognized.
The disclosure requirements of EITF 03-01 were effective December 31, 2003.

In September 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (“FSP”) EITF 03-01-1, delaying the original effective date of the recognition and measurement
guidance of EITF 03-01 until the FASB deliberates certain issues related to the implementation of EITF 03-01.

Accounting for the effects of the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003
On December 8, 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (the “Act”) was signed into law. The Act expands
Medicare, primarily by adding a voluntary prescription drug benefit for Medicare eligible individuals starting in 2006. The Act provides employers currently
sponsoring prescription drug programs for Medicare eligible individuals with a range of options for coordinating with the new government-sponsored program
to potentially reduce program cost. These options include supplementing the government program on a secondary payer basis or accepting a direct subsidy
from the Federal government to support a portion of the cost of the employer’s program.

As the Act was signed into law after the Company’s 2003 measurement date (September 30, 2003), any potential financial impact of the Act was not reflected in
2003 results of operations. The FASB’s FSP 106-1, Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement
and Modernization Act of 2003, allowed the Company to begin recognizing any potential impact of the Act in the first quarter 2004 financial statements or to
defer recognizing the potential impact until more definitive accounting guidance is provided. The Company elected to defer recognition of such impacts.

In April 2004, the FASB issued FSP 106-2, Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and
Modernization Act of 2003, relating to the Act, which provided the FASB’s guidance on the accounting for the effects of the Act. Post-retirement medical plans
that are deemed to qualify for the federal subsidy may account for such a benefit in 2004 (affected plans may recognize such a benefit prospectively from the
date of implementation or retroactive to the beginning of 2004). Such benefit must be recognized as a change in actuarial assumptions, which is typically
recognized over several years. The effects of this FSP were effective in the third quarter of 2004. Adoption of this FSP resulted in a reduction in the Company’s
accumulated benefit obligation of approximately $23 million that will be amortized into earnings over future periods. This amortization resulted in an
approximately $2 million pretax reduction in the Company’s net periodic benefit cost for the year ended December 31, 2004 (refer to Note 13 for additional
information).
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Future Application of Accounting Standards
Accounting for Share-Based Payment
In December 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“FAS”) No. 123 Revised, “ Share-Based Payment” (“FAS 123-R”). FAS
123-R requires companies to charge the fair value of all share-based payment awards (including stock options), issued to employees and non-employees, to
expense. The provisions of this standard require the fair value to be calculated using a valuation model (such as the Black-Scholes or binomial-lattice models).
The provisions of this standard are effective for all new share-based arrangements entered into in the third quarter 2005, as well as the fair value of the
unvested portion of existing arrangements. The unvested portion of existing arrangements as of July 1, 2005 is expected to be approximately $66 million
pretax, of which approximately $22 million pretax will be expensed in 2005.

Use of Estimates
The preparation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the amounts reported in the accompanying consolidated financial statements and notes. Actual results could differ from reported results using those
estimates. The Company considers the following accounting policies, requiring significant estimates, critical when preparing its consolidated financial
statements: Revenue Recognition (Allowance for Estimated Terminations and Uncollectable Accounts), Health Care and Insurance Liabilities, Investment
Securities, Goodwill and Other Acquired Intangible Assets, and Defined Benefit Pension and Other Post-Retirement Benefit Plans.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and other debt securities with a maturity of 90 days or less when purchased. The carrying value of cash
equivalents approximates fair value due to the short-term maturity of these instruments.

Investments
Investment Securities
Investment securities consist primarily of U.S. Treasury and agency securities, mortgage-backed securities, corporate and foreign bonds, money market
instruments and other debt and equity securities. The Company has determined that its investment securities are available for use in current operations and,
accordingly, has classified such securities as current without regard to contractual maturity dates. The cost for mortgage-backed and other asset-backed
securities is adjusted for unamortized premiums and discounts, which are amortized using the interest method over the estimated remaining term of the
securities, adjusted for anticipated prepayments. The Company regularly reviews its debt and equity securities to determine whether a decline in fair value
below the carrying value is other-than-temporary. If a decline in fair value is considered other-than-temporary, the cost basis/carrying amount of the security is
written down and the amount of the write-down is included in results of operations. The Company does not accrue interest on debt securities when
management believes the collection of interest is unlikely.

Long-Term Investments
Long-term investments consist primarily of equity securities subject to restrictions on disposition, limited partnerships and restricted assets. Limited
partnerships are accounted for under the equity method when the Company exercises significant influence. Restricted assets consist of debt securities on
deposit as required by regulatory authorities.

Fair Value of Investments
The Company has classified its investment securities as available-for-sale and carries them at fair value. Fair values for such securities are based on quoted
market prices or dealer quotes. Non-traded debt securities are priced independently by a third party vendor, and non-traded equity securities are priced based
on an internal analysis of the investment’s financial statements and cash flow projections.
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Securities Lending
The Company engages in securities lending whereby certain securities from its portfolio are loaned to other institutions for short periods of time. Such
securities are classified as loaned securities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Initial collateral, primarily cash, is required at a rate of 102% of the fair value
of a loaned domestic security and 105% of the fair value of a loaned foreign security. The fair value of the loaned securities is monitored on a daily basis, with
additional collateral obtained or refunded as the fair value of the loaned securities fluctuates. The collateral is deposited by the borrower with an independent
lending agent, and retained and invested by the lending agent according to the Company’s guidelines to generate additional income.

Mortgage Loans
Mortgage loans are carried at unpaid principal balances, net of impairment reserves. A mortgage loan may be impaired when it is a problem loan (i.e., more
than 60 days delinquent, in bankruptcy or in process of foreclosure), a potential problem loan (i.e., high probability of default within 3 years) or a
restructured loan. For impaired loans, a specific impairment reserve is established for the difference between the recorded investment in the loan and the
estimated fair value of the collateral. The Company applies its loan impairment policy individually to all loans in the portfolio and does not aggregate loans for
the purpose of applying such policy. The Company records full or partial charge-offs of loans at the time an event occurs affecting the legal status of the loan,
typically at the time of foreclosure or upon a loan modification giving rise to forgiveness of debt. The Company accrues interest income on impaired loans to
the extent it is deemed collectable and the loan continues to perform under its original or restructured terms. Interest income on problem loans is generally
recognized on a cash basis. Cash payments on loans in the process of foreclosure are generally treated as a return of principal. Mortgage loans with a maturity
date of less than one year from the balance sheet date are reported in other investments in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Mortgage Loan Securitizations
The Company may, from time to time, securitize and sell certain commercial mortgage loans and retain an interest in the securitized mortgage loans. Gains or
losses on the sale of these loans would depend on the previous carrying amount of the transferred loans, allocated between the portion of the loans sold and the
retained interests based on their relative fair value at the date of transfer. Fair values are based on quoted market prices or dealer quotes.

Investment Real Estate
Investment real estate, which the Company intends to hold for the production of income, is carried at depreciated cost, including capital additions, net of write-
downs for other-than-temporary declines in fair value. Depreciation is generally calculated using the straight-line method based on the estimated useful life of
each asset. Properties held-for-sale are carried at the lower of carrying value or fair value less estimated selling costs. Adjustments to the carrying value of
properties held for sale are recorded in a valuation reserve when the fair value less estimated selling costs is below carrying value. Fair value is generally
estimated using a discounted future cash flow analysis in conjunction with comparable sales information. Property valuations are reviewed by the Company’s
investment management group. At the time of the sale, the difference between the sales price and the carrying value is recorded as a realized capital gain or loss.

Net Investment Income and Realized Capital Gains and Losses
Net investment income and realized capital gains and losses on investments supporting Group Insurance and Health Care’s liabilities and Large Case
Pensions’ non-experience-rated products are reflected in the Company’s results of operations. Realized capital gains and losses are determined on a specific
identification basis. Unrealized capital gains and losses are reflected in shareholders’ equity, net of related income taxes, as a component of accumulated other
comprehensive income. Purchases and sales of debt and equity securities are recorded on the trade date. Sales of mortgage loans and investment real estate are
recorded on the closing date.
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Realized and unrealized capital gains and losses on investments supporting experience-rated products in the Large Case Pensions business are reflected in
policyholders’ funds in the Consolidated Balance Sheets and are determined on a specific identification basis. Experience-rated products are products in the
Large Case Pensions business where the contract holder, not the Company, assumes investment (including realized capital gains and losses) and other risks,
subject to, among other things, minimum guarantees provided by the Company. The effect of investment performance is allocated to contract holders’
accounts daily, based on the underlying investment’s experience and, therefore, does not impact the Company’s results of operations (as long as minimum
guarantees are not triggered). Net investment income supporting Large Case Pensions experience-rated products is included in net investment income in the
Consolidated Statements of Income, which is credited to contract holders in current and future benefits.

When the Company discontinued the sale of its fully guaranteed large case pensions products, it established a reserve for anticipated future losses from these
products and segregated the related investments. These investments are managed as a separate portfolio. Investment income and net realized capital gains and
losses on this separate portfolio are ultimately credited/charged to the reserve and, therefore, do not impact the Company’s results of operations. Unrealized
capital gains or losses on this separate portfolio are reflected in other current liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. (Refer to Note 21 for additional
information.)

Derivative Instruments
The Company uses derivative instruments (“derivatives”) in order to manage interest rate, foreign exchange and price risk (collectively, “market risk”). By
using derivatives to manage market risk, the Company exposes itself to credit risk and additional market risk.

Credit risk is the exposure to loss if a counterparty fails to perform under the terms of the derivative contract. The Company generally does not require
collateral or other security for its derivatives, but may be required to post collateral under certain circumstances. However, the Company minimizes its credit
risk by entering into transactions with counterparties that maintain high credit ratings, as well as by limiting single counterparty exposure and monitoring the
financial condition of counterparties. Market risk is the exposure to changes in the market price of the underlying instrument and the related derivative. Such
price changes result from movements in interest rates, foreign exchange and equity markets, and as a result, assets and liabilities will appreciate or depreciate
in market value.

The Company uses primarily futures contracts, forward contracts, interest rate swap agreements and warrants to manage market risk.

Futures contracts represent commitments either to purchase or to sell securities at a specified future date and specified price. Futures contracts trade on
organized exchanges and, therefore, have minimal credit risk. Forward contracts are agreements to exchange fixed amounts of two different financial
instruments or currencies at a specified future date and specified price. Interest rate swap agreements are contracts to exchange interest payments on a specified
principal (notional) amount for a specified period.

From time to time, the Company uses option contracts for the purpose of increasing net investment income. Option contracts grant the purchaser, for a fee, the
right, but not the obligation, to buy or sell a financial instrument at a given price during a specified period.

Derivatives are recognized in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets in Other Investments at fair value. The fair value of derivatives is estimated based
on quoted market prices, dealer quotes or internal price estimates believed to be comparable to dealer quotes. These fair value amounts reflect the estimated
amounts that the Company would have to pay or would receive if the contracts were terminated.

When the Company enters into a derivative contract, if certain criteria are met, it may designate the derivative as one of the following: (i) a hedge of the fair
value of a recognized asset or liability or of an unrecognized firm commitment (“fair value hedge”); (ii) a hedge of a forecasted transaction or of the variability
of cash flows to be received or paid related to a recognized asset or liability (“cash flow hedge”); or (iii) a foreign currency fair value or cash flow hedge
(“foreign currency hedge”).
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At hedge inception, the Company formally documents all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk management
objective and strategy for the hedge transactions. This process includes linking all derivatives that are designated as fair value or cash flow hedges to specific
assets and liabilities in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets or to specific firm commitments or forecasted transactions. The Company also formally
assesses, both at inception and on an ongoing basis, whether the derivatives used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair
values or cash flows of hedged items. If it is determined that a derivative is not highly effective as a hedge, the Company discontinues hedge accounting
prospectively, as discussed below.

For a derivative designated as a fair value hedge, changes in the fair value, along with the gain or loss on the related hedged asset or liability, are recorded in
current period results of operations. For a derivative designated as a cash flow hedge, the effective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative are
recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income and are recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Income when the hedged item affects results of
operations. Any amounts excluded from the assessment of hedge effectiveness, as well as the ineffective portion of the gain or loss, are reported in results of
operations immediately. If the derivative is not designated as a hedge, the gain or loss is recognized in results of operations in the period of change.

The Company’s financial instruments and insurance products are reviewed to determine whether a derivative may be “embedded” in such instruments or
products. The Company assesses whether the economic characteristics of the embedded derivative are clearly and closely related to the remaining component of
the financial instrument or insurance product (that is, the host contract). If it is determined that the embedded derivative is not clearly and closely related to the
host contract and that a separate instrument with the same terms would qualify as a derivative, the embedded derivative is separated from the host contract
and carried at fair value.

The Company discontinues hedge accounting prospectively when it is determined that one of the following has occurred: (i) the derivative is no longer highly
effective in offsetting changes in the fair value or cash flows of a hedged item; (ii) the derivative expires or is sold, terminated or exercised; (iii) the derivative is
undesignated as a hedge instrument because it is unlikely that a forecasted transaction will occur; (iv) a hedged firm commitment no longer meets the definition
of a firm commitment; or (v) management determines that the designation of the derivative as a hedge instrument is no longer appropriate.

If hedge accounting is discontinued, the derivative will continue to be carried in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets at its fair value. When hedge
accounting is discontinued because the derivative no longer qualifies as an effective fair value hedge, the related hedged asset or liability will no longer be
adjusted for fair value changes. When hedge accounting is discontinued because it is probable that a forecasted transaction will not occur, the accumulated
gains and losses included in accumulated other comprehensive income will be recognized immediately in results of operations. When hedge accounting is
discontinued because the hedged item no longer meets the definition of a firm commitment, any asset or liability that was recorded pursuant to the firm
commitment will be removed from the balance sheet and recognized as a gain or loss in current period results of operations. In all other situations in which
hedge accounting is discontinued, changes in the fair value of the derivative are recognized in current period results of operations.

Reinsurance
The Company primarily utilizes reinsurance agreements primarily to facilitate the acquisition or disposition of certain insurance contracts. Ceded reinsurance
agreements permit recovery of a portion of losses from reinsurers, although they do not discharge the Company’s primary liability as direct insurer of the
risks reinsured. Only those reinsurance recoverables deemed probable of recovery are reflected as assets. In the normal course of business, the Company enters
into agreements with other insurance companies to assume reinsurance, primarily related to its health and group life products (Refer to Note 18 for additional
information). The Company does not transfer any portion of the financial risk associated with our HMO business to third parties.
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Goodwill
As of January 1, 2002, the Company adopted FAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets . This standard eliminated goodwill amortization from
the Consolidated Statements of Income and required an evaluation of goodwill for impairment (at the reporting unit level) upon adoption of this standard, as
well as an annual test, or more frequently if circumstances indicate a possible impairment. This impairment test is comprised of two steps. The initial step is
designed to identify potential goodwill impairment by comparing an estimate of the fair value of the applicable reporting unit to its carrying value, including
goodwill. If the carrying value exceeds fair value, a second step is performed, which compares the implied fair value of the applicable reporting unit’s goodwill
with the carrying amount of that goodwill, to measure the amount of goodwill impairment, if any. The Company’s only reporting unit with goodwill and
acquired intangible assets is its Health Care business, which is also a reportable segment. Upon adoption, the Company performed a transitional impairment
test on its Health Care reporting unit. As a result of this impairment test, the Company recorded an impairment of approximately $3 billion during the first
quarter of 2002, which is classified as a cumulative effect adjustment for the year ended December 31, 2002. Subsequent impairments, if any, would be
classified as an operating expense. During the fourth quarter of 2004 and 2003, the Company performed an annual impairment test, in conjunction with its
annual planning process, and determined there were no impairment losses related to goodwill and other acquired intangible assets.

The Company’s measurement of fair value, utilized in its transitional impairment test, was based on an evaluation of future discounted cash flows, public
company trading multiples and merger and acquisition transaction multiples. The Company’s fourth quarter 2004 and 2003 annual impairment test was based
on an evaluation of future discounted cash flows. These evaluations utilized the best information available in the circumstances, including reasonable and
supportable assumptions and projections. The discounted cash flow evaluations considered several earnings scenarios and the likelihood of possible
outcomes. Collectively, these evaluations were management’s best estimates of projected future cash flows. The Company’s discounted cash flow evaluations
used a range of discount rates that corresponds to the Company’s weighted-average cost of capital. This discount rate range is consistent with that used for
investment decisions and takes into account the specific and detailed operating plans and strategies of the Health Care reporting unit. Certain other key
assumptions utilized, including changes in membership, revenue, medical costs, operating expenses and effective tax rates, are based on reasonable estimates
consistent with those utilized in the Company’s annual planning process. If the Company does not achieve its earnings objectives, the assumptions and
estimates underlying these goodwill impairment evaluations could be adversely affected.

Property and Equipment and Other Acquired Intangible Assets
Property and equipment and other acquired intangible assets are reported at historical cost net of accumulated depreciation or amortization. At December 31,
2004 and 2003, the historical cost of property and equipment was approximately $.8 billion and $.9 billion, respectively, and the related accumulated
depreciation was approximately $.6 billion. Depreciation and amortization is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the
respective assets ranging from three to forty years.

The Company regularly evaluates whether events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of property and equipment and other acquired
intangible assets may not be recoverable. If it is determined that an asset may not be recoverable, the Company estimates the future undiscounted cash flows
(grouped at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of cash flows of other assets and liabilities) expected to result from future
use of the asset and its eventual disposition. If the sum of the expected undiscounted future cash flows is less than the carrying amount of the asset, an
impairment loss will be recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value.

Separate Accounts
Separate Account assets and liabilities in the Large Case Pensions business generally represent funds maintained to meet specific objectives of contract holders
who bear the investment risk. Investment income and capital gains and losses generally accrue directly to such contract holders. The assets of each account are
legally segregated and are not subject to claims that arise out of any other business of the Company. These assets and liabilities are carried at fair value.
Deposits, withdrawals, net investment income and realized and unrealized capital gains and losses on Separate Account assets are not reflected in the
Consolidated Statements of Income and Cash Flows. Management fees charged to contract holders are included in other income and recognized over the period
earned.
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Health Care and Insurance Liabilities
Health care costs payable consist principally of unpaid fee-for-service medical, dental and pharmacy claims, capitation costs and other amounts due to health
care providers pursuant to risk-sharing arrangements related to Health Care’s HMO, POS, PPO and Indemnity products. Unpaid health care claims include
estimates of payments to be made on claims reported but not yet paid and health care services rendered but not yet reported to the Company as of the balance
sheet date. Also included in these estimates is the cost of services that will continue to be rendered after the balance sheet date if the Company is obligated to
pay for such services in accordance with contractual or regulatory requirements. Such estimates are developed using actuarial principles and assumptions
which consider, among other things, historical and projected claim submission patterns, historical and projected claim processing time, medical cost trends,
utilization of health care services, claim inventory levels, changes in membership and product mix, seasonality and other relevant factors. Changes in
estimates are recorded in health care costs in the Consolidated Statements of Income in the period they are determined. Capitation costs represent contractual
monthly fees paid to participating physicians and other medical providers for providing medical care. Amounts due under risk-sharing arrangements are
based on the terms of the underlying contracts with the providers and consider experience under the contracts through the balance sheet date.

Unpaid claims consist primarily of reserves associated with certain short-duration group disability and term life insurance contracts, including an estimate for
claims incurred but not reported as of the balance sheet date. Reserves associated with certain short-duration group disability and term life insurance contracts
are based upon the present value of future benefits, which is based on assumed investment yields and assumptions regarding mortality, morbidity and
recoveries from government programs (e.g., social security). Reserves for claims incurred but not reported are developed using actuarial principles and
assumptions which consider, among other things, contractual requirements, claim incidence rates, claim recovery rates, seasonality and other relevant factors.
The Company discounts certain claim liabilities related to group long-term disability and premium waiver contracts. The discounted unpaid claim liabilities
were $1.3 billion at December 31, 2004 and 2003. The undiscounted value of these unpaid claim liabilities were $2.0 billion at December 31, 2004 and 2003.
Generally, the discount rates reflect the expected investment returns for the asset portfolios that support these liabilities and ranged from 5.9% to 6.1% in 2004
and 6.0% to 6.6% in 2003 (except for experience-rated contracts where the discount rates are set at contractually specified levels). The estimates of unpaid
claims are subject to change due to changes in the underlying experience of the contracts, changes in investment yields or other factors, and these changes are
recorded in current and future benefits in the Consolidated Statements of Income in the period they are determined.

Future policy benefits consist primarily of reserves for limited payment pension and annuity contracts in the Large Case Pensions business and long-duration
group paid-up life and long-term care insurance contracts in the Group Insurance business. Reserves for limited payment contracts are computed in accordance
with actuarial principles and are based upon assumptions reflecting anticipated mortality, retirement, expense and interest rate experience. Such assumptions
generally vary by plan, year of issue and policy duration. Assumed interest rates on such contracts ranged from 2.0% to 11.3% in 2004 and 2.0% to 15.9% in
2003. Mortality assumptions are periodically reviewed against both industry standards and experience. Reserves for group paid-up life and long-term care
contracts represent the present value of future benefits to be paid to or on behalf of policyholders less the present value of future net premiums. Assumed
interest rates on such contracts ranged from 2.5% to 9.5% in 2004 and 2003. The present value of future benefits is based upon mortality, morbidity and
interest rate assumptions.

Policyholders’ funds consist primarily of reserves for pension and annuity investment contracts in the Large Case Pensions business and customer funds
associated with group life and health contracts in the Health Care and Group Insurance businesses. Reserves on such contracts are equal to cumulative
deposits less withdrawals and charges plus credited interest thereon, net of experience rated adjustments. In 2004, interest rates for pension and annuity
investment contracts ranged from 1.7% to 11.5% and rates for group life and health contracts ranged from .7% to 5.0%. In 2003, interest rates for pension and
annuity investment contracts ranged from 1.0% to 13.4% and rates for group life and health contracts ranged from .7% to 5.4%. Reserves on contracts subject
to experience rating reflect the rights of policyholders, plan participants and the Company.
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Health care and insurance liabilities are reviewed periodically, with any necessary adjustments reflected during the current period in results of operations.
While the ultimate amount of claims and related expenses are dependent on future developments, it is management’s opinion that the liabilities that have been
established are adequate to cover such costs. The health care and insurance liabilities that are expected to be paid within one year from the balance sheet date
are classified as current liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Deferred Acquisition Costs
Health care products included in the Health Care segment are cancelable by either the customer or the member monthly upon written notice. Acquisition costs
related to the Company’s prepaid health care and health indemnity contracts are expensed as incurred. The Company defers certain acquisition costs related to
its long-term care products. Such deferred costs were not material to the Company’s financial position or results of operations as of December 31, 2004 or 2003
and are included in other long-term assets in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Premium Deficiency
The Company evaluates its health care and insurance contracts to determine if it is probable that a loss will be incurred. A premium deficiency loss is
recognized when it is probable that expected future claims, including maintenance costs (e.g. claim processing costs), will exceed existing reserves plus
anticipated future premiums and reinsurance recoveries on existing contracts. Anticipated investment income is considered in the calculation of premium
deficiency losses for short-duration contracts. For purposes of determining premium deficiency losses, contracts are grouped in a manner consistent with the
Company’s method of acquiring, servicing and measuring the profitability of such contracts.

Revenue Recognition
Health care premiums associated with the Company’s prepaid and other health care plans are recognized as income in the month in which the enrollee is
entitled to receive health care services. Health care premiums are reported net of an allowance for estimated terminations (retroactivity adjustments) and
uncollectable amounts. Other premium revenue for group life, long-term care and disability products is recognized as income, net of allowances for termination
and uncollectable accounts, over the term of the coverage. Other premium revenue for Large Case Pensions’ limited payment pension and annuity contracts is
recognized as revenue in the period received. Premiums related to unexpired contractual coverage periods are reported as unearned premiums in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The balance of the allowance for estimated terminations and uncollectable accounts on premiums receivable was $68 million and $80 million at December 31,
2004 and 2003, respectively, and is reflected as a reduction of premiums receivable in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The balance of the allowance for
uncollectable accounts on other receivables was $61 million and $71 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, and is reflected as a reduction of
other receivables in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Some of the Company’s contracts allow for premiums to be adjusted to reflect actual experience. Such adjustments are reasonably estimable (based on actual
experience of the customer emerging under the contract and the terms of the underlying contract) and are recognized as the experience emerges.

ASC fees are received in exchange for performing certain claims processing and member services for self-insured health and disability members and are
recognized as revenue over the period the service is provided. Some of the Company’s contracts include guarantees with respect to certain functions such as
customer service response time, claim processing accuracy and claim processing turnaround time, as well as certain guarantees that claim expenses to be
incurred by plan sponsors will fall within a certain range. With any of these guarantees, the Company is financially at risk if the conditions of the
arrangements are not met, although the maximum amount at risk is typically limited to a percentage of fees for the customer involved.
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Other income includes charges assessed against contract holders’ funds for contract fees, participant fees and asset charges related to pension and annuity
products in the Large Case Pensions business. Other amounts received on pension and annuity investment-type contracts are reflected as deposits and are not
recorded as revenue. When annuities with life contingencies are purchased under contracts that were initially investment contracts, the accumulated balance
related to the purchase is treated as a single premium and reflected as an offsetting amount in both other premiums and current and future benefits in the
Consolidated Statements of Income. Other income also includes co-payment revenue and ASC plan sponsor reimbursements related to the Company’s mail
order pharmacy of $15 million and $1 million (net of pharmaceutical and processing costs of $633 million and $138 million) for the years ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The Company’s mail order pharmacy began operations in February 2003.

Allocation of Operating Expenses
The Company allocates to the business segments centrally incurred costs associated with specific internal goods or services provided to the Company, such as
employee services, technology services and rent, based on a reasonable method for each specific cost (such as membership, usage, headcount, compensation
or square footage occupied). Interest expense on third-party borrowings is not allocated to the reporting segments since it is not used as a basis for measuring
the operating performance of the segments. Such amounts are reflected in Corporate Interest in segment financial information. (Refer to Note 20 for additional
information.)

Income Taxes
The Company is taxed at regular corporate rates after adjusting income reported for financial statement purposes for certain items. The Company is
responsible for filing two separate consolidated and various standalone federal income tax returns. The results of these separate tax filings are combined for
financial reporting purposes.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the differences between the financial and income tax reporting basis of assets and liabilities based
on enacted tax rates and laws. Valuation allowances are provided when it is considered unlikely that deferred tax assets will be realized. Deferred income tax
expense or benefit primarily reflects the net change in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the year. The current income tax provision reflects the tax
results of revenues and expenses currently taxable or deductible.

Stock-Based Compensation
At December 31, 2004, the Company had various stock-based employee incentive plans. (Refer to Note 13 for additional information). The Company uses the
intrinsic value method of accounting for stock-based awards granted to employees. Accordingly, compensation cost is not recognized when the exercise price of
an employee stock option equals or exceeds the fair value of the stock on the date the option is granted. The following table illustrates the pro forma net income
(loss) and pro forma earnings per common share for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 as if the Company had applied the fair value based
method of accounting to all awards of stock-based employee compensation.

             
(Millions, except per common share data)  2004  2003  2002 
Net income (loss), as reported  $2,245.1  $ 933.8  $(2,522.5)
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense included in reported net income (loss), net of related tax

effects   11.9   40.1   27.4 
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair value based method for all

awards, net of related tax effects   (102.2)   (81.0)   (59.4)
Pro forma net income (loss)  $2,154.8  $ 892.9  $(2,554.5)
             
Net income (loss) per common share:             

Basic - as reported  $ 14.83  $ 6.12  $ (16.94)
Basic - pro forma   14.23   5.85   (17.15)

 
Diluted - as reported   14.30   5.91   (16.49)
Diluted - pro forma   13.71   5.64   (16.69)
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The fair value of the employee stock options included in the pro forma amounts was estimated as of the grant date using a modified Black-Scholes option-
pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions:

             
  2004  2003  2002 
Dividend yield   .1%   .1%   .1%
Expected volatility   34%   40%   40%
Risk-free interest rate   3%   3%   4%
Expected life  4 years  5 years  5 years

The weighted-average grant date fair values for the Company’s options granted in 2004, 2003 and 2002 were $24.63, $16.40, and $15.06, respectively.

3. Acquisitions and Dispositions

Aetna Behavioral Health
In December 2004, the Company announced it will launch a full-service behavioral health business and end its contract with Magellan Health Services
(“Magellan”) for behavioral health services as of December 31, 2005. Pursuant to an existing agreement with Magellan, the Company has decided to exercise
its option to purchase the assets of Magellan that currently service the Company’s behavioral health business effective December 31, 2005. The assets include
certain dedicated behavioral health care service centers and a provider network to service the Company. The cost to exercise the option is expected to be
approximately $50 million, including the settlement of an existing $49 million note from Magellan to the Company and a modest incremental cash payment to
Magellan by the Company. The purchase will be subject to customary conditions, such as the receipt of federal antitrust regulatory approval. Until the exercise
date, Magellan will continue to provide behavioral health services for the Company.

Aetna Specialty Pharmacy, LLC
In August 2004, the Company and Priority Healthcare Corporation (“PHCC”) announced the formation of a new joint venture, Aetna Specialty Pharmacy,
LLC, which will be an Aetna-branded specialty pharmacy operation. Aetna funded its share of the joint venture in September 2004 for a 40% ownership
interest. PHCC owns the remaining 60% ownership interest. Aetna has an option to extend the joint venture or to purchase PHCC’s ownership interest
beginning in 2008, subject to acceleration under certain circumstances. Neither the amount of Aetna’s funding nor the option purchase price is material.

Acquisition of Strategic Resource Company
In August 2004, the Company announced that it had agreed to acquire Strategic Resource Company (“SRC”), a privately held administrator of group limited
benefit products for part-time and hourly workers. The Company closed this transaction in January 2005. For approximately $252 million, financed through
available cash, Aetna acquired 100% of the stock of SRC and reinsured the insurance contracts administered by SRC. Approximately $72 million of the
purchase price is held in escrow pending resolution of certain future events. The Company expects to record approximately $81 million of intangible assets
(primarily customer lists) and goodwill of approximately $123 million, which represents the purchase price in excess of the fair value of the net assets
acquired, associated with this acquisition in the first quarter of 2005.

Acquisition of The Chickering Group
In December 2003, the Company purchased The Chickering Group (“Chickering”). Chickering sells and services health benefits underwritten by Aetna Life
Insurance Company (“ALIC”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, to students enrolled in colleges and universities. The Company will be required to
pay a nominal amount of contingent consideration if certain future premium targets are met. The Company recorded goodwill of approximately $61 million
which represents the purchase price in excess of the fair value of the net assets acquired.
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Certain Medicare Service Areas
The Company’s Medicare Advantage (formerly Medicare+Choice) contracts with the federal government are renewable for a one-year period each January 1.
The Company offered a Medicare Advantage option in 2004 in all of the Markets it served in 2003 and intends to continue to offer such option in 2005. In
February 2005, the Company filed a letter of intent with CMS to become a national provider of the new Medicare prescription drug plan, effective January 1,
2006. The Company expects CMS to award contracts by September 2005. In September 2002, the Company notified the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid
Services (“CMS”) of its intent not to renew its Medicare Advantage contracts for 2003 for individuals in a number of Medicare service areas affecting
approximately 9,000 members, or approximately 8% of the Company’s total Medicare membership prior to this exit. The termination of these Medicare
Advantage contracts became effective on January 1, 2003. In September 2001, the Company notified CMS of its intent to exit a number of Medicare service
areas affecting approximately 95,000 members, or approximately 37% of the Company’s total Medicare membership prior to this exit. The termination of these
Medicare Advantage contracts became effective on January 1, 2002.

4. Earnings Per Common Share

A reconciliation of the numerator and denominator of the basic and diluted earnings per common share (“EPS”) is as follows:

             
  Income  Shares  Per Common 
(Millions, except EPS data)  (Numerator)  (Denominator) Share Amount  
2004             
Basic EPS:             

Income from continuing operations  $ 1,215.1   151.4  $ 8.03 
Effect of dilutive securities:             

Stock options and other       5.6     
Diluted EPS:             

Income from continuing operations and assumed conversions  $ 1,215.1   157.0  $ 7.74 
             
2003             
Basic EPS:             

Income from continuing operations  $ 933.8   152.7  $ 6.12 
Effect of dilutive securities:             

Stock options and other       5.4     
Diluted EPS:             

Income from continuing operations and assumed conversions  $ 933.8   158.1  $ 5.91 
             
2002             
Basic EPS:             

Income from continuing operations  $ 393.2   148.9  $ 2.64 
Effect of dilutive securities:             

Stock options and other (1)       4.0     
Diluted EPS:             

Income from continuing operations and assumed conversions  $ 393.2   152.9  $ 2.57 
(1)

 
For 2002, 7.2 million options to purchase common stock with exercise prices ranging from $40.90 to $54.21 were excluded from the calculation of
diluted earnings per common share because the option’s exercise prices were greater than the average market price of common shares during the year.
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5.  Operating Expenses

For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, selling expenses (which include broker commissions, the variable component of the Company’s
internal sales force compensation and premium taxes) and general and administrative expenses were as follows:

             
(Millions)  2004  2003  2002 
Selling expenses  $ 700.0  $ 567.4  $ 615.3 
General and administrative expenses:             

Salaries and related benefits   2,016.5   2,111.0   2,163.9 
Other general and administrative expenses   1,312.3   1,476.1(1)  1,453.4 

Total general and administrative expenses   3,328.8   3,587.1   3,617.3 
Total operating expenses  $ 4,028.8  $4,154.5  $ 4,232.6 
(1)

 
Other general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2003 include a charge of $115.4 million in connection with the settlement of
a national class action lawsuit by physicians. Refer to Note 19 for further information.

6.  Health Care Costs Payable

The following table shows the components of the change in health care costs payable for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002.

             
(Millions)  2004  2003  2002 
Health care costs payable, beginning of the period  $ 1,888.7  $ 2,194.1  $ 2,986.7 
Less: Reinsurance recoverables   6.5   6.7   10.3 
Health care costs payable, beginning of the period - net   1,882.2   2,187.4   2,976.4 
Add: components of incurred health care costs             

Current period health care costs   11,727.2   10,363.5   12,523.7 
Changes in prior periods’ estimates (1)   (89.5) (2)  (227.7) (3)  (70.9) (4)

Total incurred health care costs   11,637.7   10,135.8   12,452.8 
Less: claims paid             

Current period   10,097.2   8,806.5   10,668.2 
Prior periods   1,501.2   1,634.5   2,573.6 

Total claims paid   11,598.4   10,441.0   13,241.8 
Health care costs payable, end of period - net   1,921.5   1,882.2   2,187.4 
Add: Reinsurance recoverables   5.6   6.5   6.7 
Health care costs payable, end of period  $ 1,927.1  $ 1,888.7  $ 2,194.1 
(1)

 

Changes in prior periods’ estimates represents the effect of favorable development of prior period health care cost estimates on current year results of
operations, at each financial statement date. The favorable development is primarily a result of the actual claim submission time being shorter than the
Company had anticipated, as well as lower than expected health care cost trends, in determining health care costs payable at the prior financial statement
date.

(2)

 

Reflects favorable development of prior period health care cost estimates of approximately $78 million ($50 million after tax) for Commercial Risk and
approximately $12 million ($7 million after tax) for Medicare. Commercial Risk includes all medical and dental risk products, except Medicare and
Medicaid.

(3)

 
Reflects favorable development of prior period health care cost estimates of approximately $215 million ($140 million after tax) for Commercial Risk
and approximately $13 million ($8 million after tax) for Medicare.

(4)

 
Reflects favorable development of prior period health care cost estimates of approximately $36 million ($23 million after tax) for Commercial Risk and
approximately $35 million ($23 million after tax) for Medicare.
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7.  Goodwill and Other Acquired Intangible Assets

On January 1, 2002, the Company adopted FAS No. 142, as discussed in more detail in Note 2. As a result, the Company recorded an impairment loss and
ceased amortizing goodwill. The Company’s only reporting unit with goodwill and other acquired intangible assets is its Health Care business, which also is a
reportable segment. Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill were as follows:

         
(Millions)  2004  2003 
Balance, beginning of the period  $3,679.5  $ 3,618.4 
Goodwill acquired   8.3(2)  61.1(1)

Balance, end of the period  $ 3,687.8  $3,679.5 
(1)

 
In December 2003, the Company purchased The Chickering Group. The Company recorded goodwill of approximately $61.1 million representing the
purchase price in excess of the fair value of the net assets acquired. Refer to Note 3 for additional information.

(2)

 

In September 2004, the Company paid an additional $5.0 million to the sellers of the Chickering Group upon the performance of defined contingencies.
Additionally, the Company recorded $3.3 million of goodwill related to a business acquired in 2004 that was not material to the Company’s financial
condition.

Other acquired intangible assets at December 31, 2004 and 2003 were as follows:

                 
      Accumulated      Amortization 
(Millions)  Cost  Amortization  Net Balance  Period (Years) 
2004                 
Other acquired intangible assets:                 

Provider networks  $ 679.9  $ 225.1  $ 454.8   20-25 
Customer lists   919.0   917.5   1.5   5-7 
Other   4.0   —   4.0   3-5 

Total other acquired intangible assets  $ 1,602.9  $ 1,142.6  $ 460.3     
                 
2003                 
Other acquired intangible assets:                 

Provider networks  $ 677.2  $ 197.2  $ 480.0   20-25 
Customer lists   919.0   903.0   16.0   5-7 
Other   69.2   69.1   .1   3-5 

Total other acquired intangible assets  $1,665.4  $ 1,169.3  $ 496.1     

Annual pretax amortization for other acquired intangible assets over the next five calendar years is estimated to be as follows at December 31, 2004:

     
(Millions)     
2005  $ 30.6 
2006   29.0 
2007   29.0 
2008   29.0 
2009   28.0 
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8.   Investments

Total investments at December 31, 2004 and 2003 were as follows:

                         
  2004   2003  
(Millions)  Current  Long-term  Total  Current  Long-term  Total 
Debt securities available for sale:                         

Available for use in current operations  $ 14,013.6(1)  $ —  $ 14,013.6  $ 14,446.6(1)  $ —  $ 14,446.6 
Loaned securities   1,150.1   —   1,150.1   810.6   —   810.6 
On deposit, as required by regulatory authorities   —   553.4(3)  553.4   —   636.7(3)  636.7 

Debt securities available for sale   15,163.7   553.4   15,717.1   15,257.2   636.7   15,893.9 
Equity securities available for sale   34.5(1)   40.2(3)  74.7   57.8(1)   27.0(3)  84.8 
Short-term investments   194.5(1)   —   194.5   486.1(1)   —   486.1 
Mortgage loans   52.7(2)  1,348.2   1,400.9   98.1(2)  1,353.1   1,451.2 
Investment real estate   —   274.8   274.8   —   270.4   270.4 
Other investments   5.0(2)  1,124.5(3)  1,129.5   5.0(2)  857.8(3)  862.8 
Total investments  $ 15,450.4  $ 3,341.1  $18,791.5  $ 15,904.2  $ 3,145.0  $ 19,049.2 
(1)  Included in investment securities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets totaling $14.2 billion and $15.0 billion for 2004 and 2003, respectively.
(2)  Included in other investments on the Consolidated Balance Sheets totaling $57.7 million and $103.1 million for 2004 and 2003, respectively.
(3)  Included in long-term investments on the Consolidated Balance Sheets totaling $1.7 billion and $1.5 billion for 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Debt securities available for sale (including loaned securities) at December 31, 2004 were as follows:

                 
      Gross  Gross    
  Amortized  Unrealized  Unrealized  Fair 
(Millions)  Cost  Gains  Losses  Value 
Bonds:                 

U.S. government and government agencies and authorities  $ 1,355.9  $ 32.6  $ 4.9  $ 1,383.6 
States, municipalities and political subdivisions   1,403.1   39.8   2.7   1,440.2 
U.S. corporate securities:                 

Utilities   690.6   55.3   1.1   744.8 
Financial   1,745.1   78.4   5.3   1,818.2 
Transportation/capital goods   830.7   86.0   .5   916.2 
Health care/consumer products   1,161.2   88.3   3.4   1,246.1 
Natural resources   688.5   77.8   .2   766.1 
Other corporate securities   1,244.4   147.8   1.0   1,391.2 

Total U.S. corporate securities   9,119.5   606.0   19.1   9,706.4 
Foreign:                 

Government, including political subdivisions   682.4   40.5   .4   722.5 
Utilities   29.6   1.5   —   31.1 
Other   1,254.0   142.5   1.8   1,394.7 

Total foreign securities   1,966.0   184.5   2.2   2,148.3 
Residential mortgage-backed securities:                 

Pass-throughs   1,625.5   23.8   4.4   1,644.9 
Collateralized mortgage obligations   2.8   —   —   2.8 

Total residential mortgage-backed securities   1,628.3   23.8   4.4   1,647.7 
Commercial/multifamily mortgage-backed securities (1)   1,254.8   95.2   9.2   1,340.8 
Other asset-backed securities   587.8   5.2   4.5   588.5 

Total bonds   14,556.4   914.7   39.4   15,431.7 
Redeemable preferred stocks   250.9   34.5   —   285.4 
Total available for sale debt securities  $ 14,807.3  $ 949.2  $ 39.4  $15,717.1 
(1)

 
Includes approximately $143.8 million and $70.3 million of subordinate and residual certificates at December 31, 2004 from a 1997 and 1995,
respectively, commercial mortgage loan securitization which were retained by the Company.
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Debt securities available for sale (including loaned securities) at December 31, 2003 were as follows:

                 
      Gross  Gross    
  Amortized  Unrealized  Unrealized  Fair 
(Millions)  Cost  Gains  Losses  Value 
Bonds:                 

U.S. government and government agencies and authorities  $ 1,399.1  $ 29.7  $ 1.8  $ 1,427.0 
States, municipalities and political subdivisions   1,346.7   50.5   .4   1,396.8 
U.S. corporate securities:                 

Utilities   673.4   54.7   2.1   726.0 
Financial   1,555.0   96.0   4.7   1,646.3 
Transportation/capital goods   1,011.1   83.0   .5   1,093.6 
Health care/consumer products   1,308.1   105.6   1.3   1,412.4 
Natural resources   741.5   68.0   2.7   806.8 
Other corporate securities   1,300.8   138.2   2.2   1,436.8 

Total U.S. corporate securities   9,335.7   625.7   15.7   9,945.7 
Foreign:                 

Government, including political subdivisions   602.4   38.3   1.7   639.0 
Utilities   35.7   1.7   —   37.4 
Other   1,362.1   132.8   4.6   1,490.3 

Total foreign securities   2,000.2   172.8   6.3   2,166.7 
Residential mortgage-backed securities:                 

Pass-throughs   1,684.6   34.9   5.8   1,713.7 
Collateralized mortgage obligations   3.2   —   —   3.2 

Total residential mortgage-backed securities   1,687.8   34.9   5.8   1,716.9 
Commercial/multifamily mortgage-backed securities (1)   1,220.2   107.5   10.9   1,316.8 
Other asset-backed securities   450.7   6.5   .9   456.3 

Total bonds   14,694.6   947.4   39.6   15,602.4 
Redeemable preferred stocks   251.0   40.5   —   291.5 
Total available for sale debt securities  $14,945.6  $ 987.9  $ 39.6  $15,893.9 
(1)

 
Includes approximately $145.5 million and $88.8 million of subordinate and residual certificates at December 31, 2003 from a 1997 and 1995,
respectively, commercial mortgage loan securitization which were retained by the Company.

Debt securities available for sale (including loaned securities) supporting discontinued, experience-rated and remaining products at December 31, 2004 and
2003 were as follows:

                 
      Gross  Gross    
  Amortized  Unrealized  Unrealized  Fair 
(Millions)  Cost  Gains  Losses  Value 
2004                 
Supporting discontinued products  $ 3,358.3  $ 374.2  $ 5.2  $ 3,727.3 
Supporting experience-rated products   1,907.1   181.1   4.3   2,083.9 
Supporting remaining products   9,541.9   393.9   29.9   9,905.9 
Total available for sale debt securities  $ 14,807.3  $ 949.2  $ 39.4  $ 15,717.1 
                 
2003                 
Supporting discontinued products  $ 3,394.6  $ 343.8  $ 9.3  $ 3,729.1 
Supporting experience-rated products   2,061.4   182.7   5.9   2,238.2 
Supporting remaining products   9,489.6   461.4   24.4   9,926.6 
Total available for sale debt securities  $14,945.6  $ 987.9  $ 39.6  $15,893.9 

The carrying and fair value of debt securities as of December 31, 2004 is shown below by contractual maturity. Actual maturities may differ from contractual
maturities because securities may be restructured, called or prepaid.

         
  Amortized  Fair 
(Millions)  Cost  Value 
Due to mature:         

One year or less  $ 680.3  $ 699.8 
After one year, through five years   2,802.6   2,873.3 
After five years, through ten years   3,278.9   3,462.6 
After ten years   4,574.5   5,104.4 
Mortgage-backed securities   2,883.2   2,988.5 



Other asset-backed securities   587.8   588.5 
Total  $14,807.3  $15,717.1 
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At December 31, 2004 and 2003, net unrealized gains on debt securities included $369 million and $335 million, respectively, related to discontinued
products (refer to Note 21 for additional information) and $177 million, related to experience-rated contracts, which were not reflected in accumulated other
comprehensive loss in shareholders’ equity.

Investments in equity securities at December 31, 2004 and 2003 were as follows:

         
(Millions)  2004  2003 
Cost  $ 61.5  $ 64.9 
Gross unrealized capital gains   13.2   20.1 
Gross unrealized capital losses   —   (.2)
Fair value  $ 74.7  $ 84.8 

As of December 31, 2004, the amount of gross unrealized losses and related fair value for debt and equity securities were as follows:

                         
  Less than 12 months   Greater than 12 months   Total  
  Fair  Unrealized  Fair  Unrealized  Fair  Unrealized 
(Millions)  Value  Losses  Value  Losses  Value  Losses 
Supporting discontinued and experience-rated products:                         
Debt securities:                         

U.S. treasury obligations  $ 28.0  $ .2  $ —  $ —  $ 28.0  $ .2 
States and political subdivisions   15.0   .2   —   —   15.0   .2 
Foreign governments   33.1   .2   5.4   —   38.5   .2 
Corporate   251.8   6.0   59.8   2.2   311.6   8.2 
Federal agency mortgage-backed securities   29.2   .1   4.0   —   33.2   .1 
Other   42.3   .3   4.8   .3   47.1   .6 
Total debt securities   399.4   7.0   74.0   2.5   473.4   9.5 

Equity securities   —   —   4.3   —   4.3   — 
Total supporting discontinued and experience-rated products   399.4   7.0   78.3   2.5   477.7   9.5 
                         
Supporting remaining products:                         
Debt securities:                         

U.S. treasury obligations   684.1   4.9   7.0   .1   691.1   5.0 
States and political subdivisions   149.2   1.9   8.0   .2   157.2   2.1 
Foreign governments   84.5   .5   2.8   .1   87.3   .6 
Corporate   624.7   4.3   17.5   .5   642.2   4.8 
Federal agency mortgage-backed securities   395.5   2.4   81.1   1.8   476.6   4.2 
Other   570.3   8.0   57.5   5.2   627.8   13.2 
Total debt securities   2,508.3   22.0   173.9   7.9   2,682.2   29.9 

Equity securities   —   —   —   —   —   — 
Total supporting remaining products   2,508.3   22.0   173.9   7.9   2,682.2   29.9 
Total debt and equity securities  $2,907.7  $ 29.0  $ 252.2  $ 10.4  $3,159.9  $ 39.4 

Unrealized losses greater than twelve months relate primarily to investments in commercial mortgage-backed securities. Based on the Company’s evaluation,
there has not been an adverse change in the expected cash flows for these investments and therefore, no other-than-temporary impairment was determined to
have occurred during 2004.
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At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company’s mortgage loan balances, net of specific impairment reserves, by geographic region and property type were as
follows:

         
(Millions)  2004  2003 
South Atlantic  $ 414.5  $ 365.0 
Middle Atlantic   232.4   356.4 
New England   60.7   51.0 
South Central   31.8   53.0 
North Central   280.6   276.1 
Pacific and Mountain   380.8   349.5 
Non-U.S.   .1   .2 
Total  $1,400.9  $1,451.2 
         
(Millions)  2004  2003 
Office  $ 448.6  $ 549.8 
Retail   249.9   204.7 
Apartment   241.3   268.8 
Hotel/Motel   28.9   35.0 
Industrial   386.3   339.0 
Mixed Use   45.8   42.0 
Other   .1   11.9 
Total  $1,400.9  $1,451.2 

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the total recorded investment in mortgage loans that are considered to be impaired (including problem, restructured and
potential problem loans) and related specific reserves were as follows:

                 
  2004   2003  
  Total      Total    
  Recorded  Specific  Recorded  Specific 
(Millions)  Investment  Reserves  Investment  Reserves 
Supporting discontinued products  $ .5  $ —  $ 38.3  $ 4.5 
Supporting experience-rated products   .7   —   36.8   5.5 
Supporting remaining products   18.6   3.5   9.6   8.9 
Total impaired loans (1)  $ 19.8  $ 3.5  $ 84.7  $ 18.9 
(1)

 
Includes impaired loans of $2.1 million and $30.1 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, for which no specific reserves are considered
necessary.

The activity in the specific and general mortgage loan impairment reserves for the periods indicated is summarized below:

                 
      Supporting       
  Supporting  Experience-  Supporting    
  Discontinued  Rated  Remaining    
(Millions)  Products  Products  Products  Total 
Balance at December 31, 2001 (1)  $ 14.9  $ 12.4  $ 5.3  $ 32.6 
Provision (charged to realized capital loss)   —   .3   .3   .6 
Recoveries of previously charged off amounts   (6.2)   (4.5)   (.7)   (11.4)
Principal write-offs   (8.7)   (1.3)   (.4)   (10.4)
Balance at December 31, 2002   —   6.9   4.5   11.4 
Provision (charged to realized capital loss)   4.5   1.3   4.4   10.2 
Recoveries of previously charged off amounts   —   (1.6)   —   (1.6)
Principal write-offs   —   (1.1)   —   (1.1)
Balance at December 31, 2003   4.5   5.5   8.9   18.9 
Provision (charged to realized capital loss)   —   —   —   — 
Recoveries of previously charged off amounts   (.9)   (2.6)   (.8)   (4.3)
Principal write-offs   (3.6)   (2.9)   (4.6)   (11.1)
Balance at December 31, 2004  $ —  $ —  $ 3.5  $ 3.5 
(1)

 
Total reserves at December 31, 2001 include $25.5 million of specific reserves and $7.1 million of general reserves. There were no general reserves at
December 31, 2004, 2003 or 2002.
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Income (loss) (pretax) and cash received on the average recorded investment in impaired loans for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 were as
follows:

                                     
  2004   2003   2002  
  Average          Average          Average        
  Impaired  Income  Cash  Impaired      Cash  Impaired      Cash 
(Millions)  Loans  (Loss)  Received  Loans  Income  Received  Loans  Income  Received 
Supporting discontinued products  $ 10.7  $ (.1)  $ .2  $ 23.1  $ 1.6  $ 1.6  $ 20.4  $ 1.6  $ 1.6 
Supporting experience-rated products   2.2   .1   .1   25.9   1.6   1.8   41.1   2.9   2.6 
Supporting remaining products   27.7   .8   1.0   9.1   .8   .5   13.4   .8   .6 
Total  $ 40.6  $ .8  $ 1.3  $ 58.1  $ 4.0  $ 3.9  $ 74.9  $ 5.3  $ 4.8 

Significant non-cash investing and financing activities include the acquisition of real estate through foreclosures of mortgage loans amounting to $3 million for
2004 and $7 million for 2002. There were no such acquisitions in 2003.

Investment real estate holdings at December 31, 2004 and 2003 were as follows:

         
(Millions)  2004  2003 
Properties held for sale  $ —  $ 27.9 
Investment real estate   285.8   257.9 
Gross carrying value of real estate   285.8   285.8 
Valuation reserve   (11.0)   (15.4)
Investment real estate  $ 274.8  $ 270.4 

Accumulated depreciation for investment real estate was $15 million and $47 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Total real estate write-downs included in the net carrying value of the Company’s real estate holdings at December 31, 2004 and 2003 were $12 million and
$8 million, respectively.

9. Net Investment Income

Sources of net investment income were as follows for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002:

             
(Millions)  2004  2003  2002 
Debt securities  $ 872.4  $ 855.0  $ 967.1 
Mortgage loans   133.2   129.5   224.0 
Other   70.2   119.1   23.5 
Investment real estate   (6.8)   11.3   69.0 
Cash equivalents   16.9   17.9   28.3 
Equity securities   1.7   1.5   1.9 
Other investment securities   13.4   10.7   14.6 
Gross investment income   1,101.0   1,145.0   1,328.4 
Less: investment expenses   38.5   50.0   77.7 
Net investment income (1)  $1,062.5  $1,095.0  $1,250.7 
(1)

 
Includes amounts related to experience-rated contract holders of $156.4 million, $167.5 million and $221.5 million during the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Interest credited to contract holders is included in current and future benefits.
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10.   Capital Gains and Losses on Investments and Other

Net realized capital gains (losses) for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, excluding amounts related to experience-rated contract holders and
discontinued products, on investments were as follows:

             
(Millions)  2004  2003  2002 
Debt securities  $ 57.0  $ 81.7  $ 25.6 
Equity securities   13.0   (.5)   (15.1)
Mortgage loans   .8   (4.4)   4.8 
Investment real estate   1.3   (5.8)   (10.5)
Sales of subsidiaries (1)   1.3   —   46.0 
Other   (2.6)   (5.8)   (16.5)
Pretax realized capital gains  $ 70.8  $ 65.2  $ 34.3 
             
After-tax realized capital gains  $ 45.9  $ 42.0  $ 22.3 
(1)

 
Includes a pretax realized capital gain of approximately $60.0 million in 2002 related to contingent consideration earned by the Company following the
sale of its behavioral health subsidiary, Human Affairs International, in 1997.

Net realized capital gains of $13 million, $45 million and $8 million for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, related to experience-rated contract holders were
deducted from net realized capital gains and an offsetting amount was reflected in policyholders’ funds. Net realized capital gains (losses) of $38 million,
$111 million and $(58) million for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively, related to discontinued products were deducted from net
realized capital gains and an offsetting amount was reflected in the reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products.

Proceeds from the sale of debt securities and the related gross gains and losses were as follows (excludes experience-rated contract holders and discontinued
products):

             
(Millions)  2004  2003  2002 
Proceeds on sales  $9,471.7  $12,623.6  $15,679.9 
Gross gains   101.5   139.2   225.2 
Gross losses   44.0   53.5   133.0 
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11.   Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Shareholders’ equity included the following activity in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (excluding amounts related to experience-rated contract
holders and discontinued products) for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002.

                     
  Net Unrealized Gains (Losses)   Minimum  Total Other 
  Foreign   Pension  Comprehensive 
(Millions)  Securities  Currency  Derivatives  Liability  Income (Loss) 
Balance at December 31, 2001  $ 66.6  $ 5.0  $ (3.1)  $ —  $ 68.5 
Net unrealized gains on securities ($330.6 pretax)   214.9   —   —   —   214.9 
Net foreign currency gains ($.7 pretax)   —   .5   —   —   .5 
Pension liability adjustment ($(1,161.8) pretax)   —   —   —   (755.2)   (755.2)
Reclassification to earnings ($1.4 pretax)   .5   —   .4   —   .9 
Balance at December 31, 2002   282.0   5.5   (2.7)   (755.2)   (470.4)
Net unrealized gains on securities ($35.7 pretax)   23.2   —   —   —   23.2 
Net foreign currency gains ($6.7 pretax)   —   4.3   —   —   4.3 
Net derivative gains ($.5 pretax)   —   —   .3   —   .3 
Pension liability adjustment ($79.6 pretax)   —   —   —   51.8   51.8 
Reclassification to earnings ($ (26.5)pretax)   (17.6)   —   .4   —   (17.2)
Balance at December 31, 2003   287.6   9.8   (2.0)   (703.4)   (408.0)
Net unrealized losses on securities ($(40.0) pretax)   (26.0)   —   —   —   (26.0)
Net foreign currency gains ($2.4 pretax)   —   1.5   —   —   1.5 
Net derivative gains ($1.2 pretax)   —   —   .8   —   .8 
Pension liability adjustment ($(145.0) pretax)   —   —   —   (94.3)   (94.3)
Reclassification to earnings ($(23.9) pretax)   (15.9)   —   .4   —   (15.5)
Balance at December 31, 2004  $ 245.7  $ 11.3  $ (.8)  $ (797.7)  $ (541.5)

12.   Income Taxes

Income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 consist of the following:

             
(Millions)  2004  2003  2002 
Current taxes (benefits):             

Federal  $ 450.7  $ 352.4  $ 216.6 
State   39.5   44.6   (22.8)

Total current taxes (benefits)   490.2   397.0   193.8 
Deferred taxes (benefits):             

Federal   206.2   94.6   (43.1)
State   (12.6)   16.2   .9 

Total deferred income taxes (benefits)   193.6   110.8   (42.2)
Total income taxes  $ 683.8  $ 507.8  $ 151.6 
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Income taxes were different from the amount computed by applying the federal income tax rate to income before income taxes as follows:

             
(Millions)  2004  2003  2002 
Income from continuing operations before income taxes  $1,898.9  $1,441.6  $ 544.8 
Tax rate   35%  35%  35%
Application of the tax rate   664.6   504.6   190.7 
Tax effect of:             

State income taxes   26.4   33.1   (14.2)
Tax credits   (21.8)   (22.5)   (18.5)
Tax-exempt interest   (11.5)   (10.1)   (10.5)
Other, net   26.1   2.7   4.1 

Income taxes  $ 683.8  $ 507.8  $ 151.6 

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities at December 31, 2004 and 2003 are as follows:

         
(Millions)  2004  2003 
Deferred tax assets:         

Reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products  $ 199.6  $ 190.7 
Employee and post-retirement benefits (including minimum pension liability)   278.8   381.0 
Severance and facilities reserve   16.0   9.8 
Deferred income   22.1   36.8 
Expenses not currently deductible   2.7   1.7 
Allowance for doubtful accounts   8.7   9.5 
Deferred policy costs   44.3   39.6 
Investments, net   98.8   107.6 
Net operating loss carry forwards   35.1   34.2 
Insurance reserves   60.4   80.0 
Physician Class Action Settlement   30.2   40.4 
State deferred income taxes   7.4   — 
Other   17.1   3.1 

Total gross assets   821.2   934.4 
Less: valuation allowance   32.8   34.2 
Assets, net of valuation allowance   788.4   900.2 
Deferred tax liabilities:         

Amortization of goodwill and other acquired intangible assets   81.5   74.0 
Accumulated other comprehensive income   137.9   159.1 
Depreciation and amortization   70.6   49.8 
State deferred income taxes   —   2.9 
Other   2.4   .8 

Total gross liabilities   292.4   286.6 
Net deferred tax asset (1)  $ 496.0  $ 613.6 
(1)

 
Includes $196.0 million and $217.6 million classified as current assets at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, and $300.0 million and
$396.0 million classified as noncurrent assets at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Valuation allowances are provided when it is considered unlikely that deferred tax assets will be realized. Management believes that it is more likely than not
that the Company will realize its net deferred tax asset of $496 million, net of a valuation allowance of $33 million. The valuation allowance is principally on
acquired net operating losses and state net operating losses, which are subject to limitations as to future utilization. The Company has recognized $184 million
of net deferred tax assets on Aetna Life Insurance Company (which is not consolidated for tax purposes) and $312 million on the remaining consolidated
group. Management’s beliefs are based on historic and anticipated taxable income for each group. However, the amount of the deferred tax asset considered
realizable could be adjusted in the future if estimates of taxable income are revised.

The Policyholders’ Surplus Account, which arose under prior tax law, is generally that portion of a life insurance company’s statutory income that has not
been subject to taxation. As of December 31, 1983, no further additions could be made to the Policyholders’ Surplus Account for tax return purposes under the
Deficit Reduction Act of 1984. The balance in such account was $918 million at December 31, 2004, adjusted for Internal Revenue Service (the “Service”)
audits finalized to date. This amount would be taxed only under certain conditions. On October 11, 2004 the President signed into law the American Jobs
Creation Act of 2004 (the “Job Act”) which suspends taxation of the Policyholders’ Surplus Account for a two year period. The Job Act will allow the
Company to reduce the Policyholders’ Surplus Account in 2005 and 2006 at
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no tax cost. Management believes that its current capital plans will result in elimination of the potential tax on Policyholders’ Surplus Account by the end of the
suspension period.

In 2004, the Service completed the audit of the Company’s predecessor’s (“former Aetna’s”) 1984 through 2000 (prior to December 13, 2000) and the
Company’s 2000 (subsequent to December 13, 2000) through 2001 tax returns. In conjunction with completion of the audit, the Company was notified that the
Congressional Joint Committee on Taxation (the “Joint Committee”) approved a tax refund of approximately $740 million, including interest, relating to
businesses that were sold in the 1990s by former Aetna. As a result of the resolution of these audits, the Company recorded favorable adjustments of
approximately $290 million to existing tax liabilities for a total of $1.0 billion of income from discontinued operations in 2004 (refer to Note 22).

In 2004, the Service commenced an audit of the Company’s 2002 through 2003 returns and a limited examination of the Company’s 2001 life insurance
subsidiary return. The Company has received proposed adjustments for each of these audits and is currently reviewing such adjustments. The proposed
adjustments are not material to the Company.

In 2002, the Service completed its audit of the consolidated federal income tax returns of former Aetna and its affiliates for the years 1979 through 1983. The
Service also completed its audit of former Aetna’s 1984 through 1997 tax returns in 2002. As a result of these audits, the Service proposed certain
adjustments. The majority of these adjustments were agreed to by the Company, and as a result, in 2002 the Company reduced liabilities held for potential tax
exposure by $50 million for federal taxes associated with the discontinued Property and Casualty insurance operations and by $25 million related to its
acquisition of U.S. Healthcare, Inc. in 1996, which was credited to goodwill.

The Company believes that it has established adequate reserves for additional taxes and interest that may result from the ultimate resolution of the audits noted
above. These reserves will be changed as necessary upon final resolution of agreements tentatively reached with the Service or identification of additional
adjustments.

The Company paid (received refunds of) net income taxes of $(331) million, $488 million and $(65) million in the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively.

13.   Benefit Plans

Defined Benefit Pension Plans

The Company’s noncontributory defined benefit pension plans cover substantially all of its employees. Effective January 1, 1999, the Company, in
conjunction with former Aetna, changed the formula from the previous final average pay formula to a cash balance formula, which will credit employees
annually with an amount equal to a percentage of eligible pay based on age and years of service, as well as an interest credit based on individual account
balances. The formula also provides for a transition period until December 31, 2006, which allows certain employees to receive vested benefits at the higher of
the previous final average pay or cash balance formula. For employees hired after January 1, 2002, the Company changed the cash balance formula to provide
greater initial credits and make the benefit less dependent on length of service. Existing employees will receive the larger of the pension credit under the previous
formula or this new formula. These changes did not have a material effect on the Company’s results of operations, liquidity or financial condition.
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Components of the net periodic benefit cost of the Company’s noncontributory defined benefit pension plan for the years ended December 31, were as follows:

             
(Millions)  2004  2003  2002 
Service cost  $ 75.9  $ 74.8  $ 74.3 
Interest cost   261.4   258.5   259.9 
Expected return on plan assets   (310.6)   (255.4)   (295.6)
Amortization of prior service cost   5.6   4.6   4.0 
Recognized net actuarial loss   64.2   76.0   6.9 
Net periodic benefit cost  $ 96.5  $ 158.5  $ 49.5 

Weighted average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost for the years ended December 31, were as follows:

             
  2004  2003  2002 
Weighted average discount rate   6.25%  6.75%  7.50%
Expected long-term return on plan assets   8.75%  9.00%  9.25%
Rate of increase in future compensation levels   3.25%  3.75%  4.50%

As of the measurement date (September 30), the status of the Company’s defined benefit pension plans was as follows:

         
(Millions)  2004  2003 
Projected benefit obligation, beginning of year  $ 4,302.9  $ 3,945.7 
Service cost   75.9   74.8 
Interest cost   261.4   258.6 
Actuarial loss   328.5   260.6 
Plan amendments/other   —   7.4 
Benefits paid   (269.0)   (244.2)
Projected benefit obligation, end of year   4,699.7   4,302.9 
         
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year   3,494.5   2,943.2 
Actual return on plan assets   421.4   534.5 
Employer contributions   574.3   261.0 
Benefits paid   (269.0)   (244.2)
Fair value of plan assets, end of year   4,221.2   3,494.5 
         
Fair value of plan assets less than projected benefit obligation   (478.5)   (808.4)
Unrecognized net loss   1,290.0   1,136.5 
Unrecognized prior service cost   30.7   40.8 
Net amount recognized  $ 842.2  $ 368.9 
         
Amounts recognized in the statement of financial position consist of:         
Accrued pension liability  $ (418.2)  $ (751.2)
Intangible asset   33.3   37.9 
Accumulated other comprehensive income   1,227.1   1,082.2 
Net amount recognized  $ 842.2  $ 368.9 

Weighted average assumptions used to determine projected benefit obligations at September 30, 2004 and 2003 were as follows:

         
  2004  2003 
Weighted average discount rate   6.00%  6.25%
Rate of increase in future compensation levels   3.00%  3.25%

For 2004 and 2003, the Company’s defined benefit plans had accumulated benefit obligations of approximately $4.6 billion and $4.3 billion, respectively.
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The expected benefit payments, which reflect future employee service, as appropriate, of the defined benefit pension plan to be paid for each of the next five
years in the aggregate for the next five years thereafter, as of December 31, 2004 is as follows:

     
(Millions)     
2005  $ 260.6 
2006   271.0 
2007   275.8 
2008   283.3 
2009   359.2 
2010-2014   1,678.1 

The defined benefit pension plan asset allocation as of the measurement date (September 30) and the target asset allocation, presented as a percentage of total
plan assets, were as follows:

             
          Target 
  2004  2003  Allocation 
Debt securities   26%  26%  20 – 30%
Equity securities   67   6 6   60 – 70%
Real estate/other   7   8   5 – 15%
Total   100%  100%    

The Company’s defined benefit plan invests in a diversified mix of traditional asset classes. Investments in U.S. and foreign equity securities, fixed income
securities, real estate and cash are made to maximize long-term returns while recognizing the need for adequate liquidity to meet on-going benefit and
administrative obligations. Risk tolerance of unexpected investment and actuarial outcomes is continually evaluated by understanding the pension plan’s
liability characteristics. This is performed through forecasting and assessing ranges of investment outcomes over short and long-term horizons, and by
assessing the Company’s financial condition and its future potential obligations from both the pension and general corporate requirements. Complementary
investment styles, such as growth and value equity investing techniques, are utilized by multiple investment advisors to further improve portfolio and
operational risk characteristics. Equity investments, both active and passively managed, are used primarily to increase overall plan returns. Real estate
investments are viewed favorably for their diversification benefits and above-average dividend generation. Fixed income investments provide diversification
benefits and liability hedging attributes that are desirable, especially in falling interest rate environments.

Asset allocations and investment performance is formally reviewed quarterly by the plan’s Benefit Finance Committee. Forecasting of asset and liability
growth is performed at least annually. More thorough analysis of assets and liabilities are also performed periodically.

The expected long-term rate of return is estimated based on many factors including the expected forecast for inflation, risk premiums for each asset class,
expected asset allocation, current and future financial market conditions, and diversification and rebalancing strategies. Historical return patterns and
correlations, consensus return forecasts and other relevant financial factors are analyzed to check for reasonability and appropriateness.

The Company does not have any regulatory contribution requirements for 2005, however the Company currently intends to make voluntary contributions to
the defined benefit pension plan of $245 million in 2005.

Other Post-Retirement Benefit Plans

In addition to providing pension benefits, the Company currently provides certain health care, dental and life insurance benefits for retired employees,
including those of former Aetna. A comprehensive medical plan is offered to all full-time employees who terminate employment at age 45 or later with 10 or
more years of service. The Company provides subsidized benefits to certain employees as of December 31, 2002 whose sum of age and service is at least equal
to 65 (due to a plan amendment, employees hired after January 1, 2002 and all employees under the age of 35 at that date are not eligible for subsidized retiree
health benefits). There is a cap on the portion of the cost paid by the Company relating to medical and dental benefits. The plan assets are held in trust and the
plan is administered by ALIC.
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In January 2003, the Company amended the post-retirement medical and dental plans. Beginning January 1, 2004, the Company has begun to phase-out the
retiree medical subsidy for active employees (and eligible dependents) who terminate employment after December 31, 2004. The subsidy will decrease 25%
each year until it is eliminated for employees terminating employment on or after January 1, 2007. The 2003 amendment also included the elimination of the
retiree dental subsidy for active employees who terminate employment on or after January 1, 2003. As a result of these plan amendments announced in January
of 2003, the Company recorded a curtailment benefit of approximately $34 million pretax in 2003. In January 2004, the Company made an additional plan
amendment to eliminate the dental subsidy for all retirees. As a result of this 2004 amendment, the Company recorded a curtailment benefit of approximately
$32 million pretax in 2004. Current retirees and employees who terminate employment at age 45 or later with at least 10 years of service are eligible to
participate in the Company’s group health plans at their own cost.

On December 8, 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (the “Act”) was signed into law. The Act expands
Medicare, primarily by adding a voluntary prescription drug benefit for Medicare eligible individuals starting in 2006. The Act provides employers currently
sponsoring prescription drug programs for Medicare eligible individuals with a range of options for coordinating with the new government-sponsored program
to potentially reduce program cost. These options include supplementing the government program on a secondary payer basis or accepting a direct subsidy
from the government to support a portion of the cost of the employer’s program. As described in Note 2, the Company adopted FSP 106-2 in 2004, recognizing
the impact of the Act. Adoption of this FSP resulted in a reduction in the Company’s accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation of approximately
$23 million that will be amortized into earnings over future periods.

Components of the net periodic benefit cost of the Company’s other post-retirement plans for the years ended December 31, were as follows:

             
(Millions)  2004  2003  2002 
Service cost  $ .4  $ .3  $ 7.8 
Interest cost   24.7   28.2   31.8 
Expected return on plan assets   (4.4)   (4.7)   (4.8)
Curtailment benefit   (31.8)(1)  (34.0)(2)  (11.8)(3)

Amortization of prior service cost   (1.3)   (.6)   (4.4)
Recognized net actuarial loss/other   2.5   .2   — 
Net periodic benefit (income) cost  $ (9.9)  $ (10.6)  $ 18.6 
(1)  Reflects a plan amendment related to the elimination of the dental subsidy for all retirees, as discussed in more detail above.
(2)

 
Reflects plan amendments related to the phase-out of the retiree medical subsidy for certain employees and elimination of the retiree dental subsidy for
certain employees as discussed in more detail above.

(3)

 
Reflects a plan amendment, effective January 1, 2002, whereby the Company no longer provides subsidized benefits to employees who had not reached
age 35 by this date.

Weighted average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost of the Company’s other post-retirement plans for the years ended December 31, are as
follows:

             
  2004  2003  2002 
Weighted average discount rate   6.25%(1)  6.75%  7.50%
Expected long-term return on plan assets   6.50%   7.00%  7.00%
(1)

 

The Company adopted FSP 106-2 in the third quarter of 2004. The adoption of this FSP required the Company to re-measure its net periodic benefit
cost for its post-retirement medical plan. Therefore, effective in the third quarter of 2004, the Company used a 6.00% discount rate to determine net
periodic benefit cost for its post-retirement medical plan. Refer to Note 2 for additional information.

Page 71



 

As of the measurement date (September 30), the status of the Company’s post-retirement benefit plans (other than pensions) was as follows:

         
(Millions)  2004  2003 
Accumulated benefit obligation, beginning of year  $ 477.8  $ 541.2 
Service cost   .4   .3 
Interest cost   24.7   28.1 
Actuarial loss/other   102.8   61.2 
Plan amendments   (10.7)   (10.4)
Impact of Medicare Act (1)   (23.3)   — 
Curtailment benefit   (30.7)   (98.4)
Benefits paid   (46.4)   (44.2)
Accumulated benefit obligation, end of year   494.6   477.8 
         
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year   69.0   67.5 
Actual return on plan assets   3.4   3.6 
Employer contribution   44.3   42.1 
Benefits paid   (46.5)   (44.2)
Fair value of plan assets, end of year   70.2   69.0 
         
Accumulated benefit obligation in excess of fair value of plan assets   424.4   408.8 
Unrecognized net loss   (144.8)   (65.7)
Prior service cost   19.6   10.2 
Accrued post-retirement benefit costs  $ 299.2  $ 353.3 
(1)

 
The Company adopted FSP 106-2 in 2004, requiring the Company to re-measure its post-retirement medical plan. The adoption of this FSP resulted in a
reduction in the accumulated benefit obligation of approximately $23.3 million (refer to Note 2 for additional information).

Weighted average discount rate assumptions used to determine accumulated benefit obligations at September 30, 2004 and 2003 were 6.00% and 6.25%,
respectively.

The health care cost trend rates for the 2004 valuation were 9.0% for pre-65 and 11.5% for post-65 for 2005 decreased gradually to 5.0% by the year 2009 for
pre-65 and 2012 for post-65. For the 2003 valuation, the rates decreased gradually from 8.0% for pre-65 and 10.0% for post-65 for 2004 to 5.0% by the year
2007 for pre-65 and 2009 for post-65. This assumption reflects the Company’s historical as well as expected future trend rates. In addition, trend assumption
reflects factors specific to the Company’s retiree medical plan, such as plan design, cost-sharing provisions, benefits covered, and the presence of subsidy
caps.

A one-percentage-point change (increase or decrease) in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following effects:

         
(Millions)  Increase  Decrease 
Effect on total of service and interest cost components  $ 1.0  $ (.9)
Effect on post-retirement benefit obligation   16.6   (14.3)

The expected benefit payments of the defined post-retirement benefit plans to be paid for each of the next five years and in the aggregate for the next five years
thereafter, as of December 31, 2004 is as follows:

          
  Excluding the Impact of  (1) Projected Impact of (1) Including the Impact of  (1)

(Millions)  the Direct Subsidy the Direct Subsidy the Direct Subsidy

2005  $ 40.8 $ — $ 40.8
2006   42.8  (2.7)  40.1
2007   43.2  (2.9)  40.3
2008   42.6  (3.0)  39.6
2009   42.0  (3.1)  38.9
2010 – 2014   194.8  (15.3)  179.5
(1)

 
In accordance with FSP 106-2, the Company presents expected benefit payments inclusive and exclusive of the projected direct subsidy expected under
the Act.
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The asset allocation of the other post-retirement benefit plan as of the measurement date (September 30) and the target asset allocation, presented as a percentage
of total plan asset, were as follows:

             
          Target 
  2004  2003  Allocation 
Debt securities   85%  88%  80 – 90%
Equity securities   12   9   5 – 15%
Real estate/other   3   3   2 – 10%
Total   100%  100%    

The Company has several benefit plans for retired employees currently supported by these plan assets. Investments are directly and indirectly invested in a
diversified mix of traditional asset classes, primarily high-quality fixed income securities.

The expected long-term rate of return for post-retirement plan assets is estimated based on many factors including the expected forecast for inflation, risk
premiums for each asset class, expected asset allocation, current and future financial market conditions, and diversification and rebalancing strategies.
Historical return patterns and correlations, consensus return forecasts and other relevant financial factors are analyzed to check for reasonability and
appropriateness.

401(k) Plans – Substantially all of the Company’s employees are eligible to participate in a savings plan under which designated contributions, which may be
invested in common stock of the Company or certain other investments, are matched by the Company. Effective January 1, 2002, the Company provided for
a match of up to 50% of the first 6% of eligible pay contributed to the plan. Effective January 2003, matching contributions by the Company are made in cash
and invested according to each participant’s investment elections. Prior to January 2003, matching contributions by the Company were made in Aetna common
stock instead of being contributed in cash. In addition, the plan provides for an annual performance-based contribution by the Company of up to 3% of
eligible pay (up to a maximum of $6,000), provided the Company exceeds specified performance targets for the year. The performance-based contribution may
be made in cash, stock, or a combination of both at the election of the Company. Based on the Company’s results for 2003 and 2002, performance-based
contributions of 3% of eligible pay in 2003 and 2002 (up to a maximum of $6,000) were contributed by the Company. In 2004, there was no performance-
based contribution as the Company did not exceed the specified performance targets. Effective January 1, 2005, the Company eliminated the performance-
based contribution. The costs to the Company associated with these plans, including the performance-based contributions, for 2004, 2003 and 2002, were $33
million, $75 million and $79 million, respectively. The plan trustee held 3.9 million, 5.0 million and 5.4 million shares of the Company’s common stock for
plan participants at December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Employee Incentive Plans

Stock-based Employee Incentive Plans - The Company’s Stock-based Employee Incentive Plans (the “Plans”) provide for stock option awards (see “Stock
Options” below), deferred contingent common stock (see “Performance Units” below), restricted stock awards to employees and the ability for employees to
purchase common stock at a discount. At December 31, 2004, 18 million shares were available for grant under the Plans.

Stock Options - Executive, middle management and non-management employees may be granted options to purchase common stock of the Company at or
above the market price on the date of grant. Options generally become 100% vested three years after the grant is made, with one-third of the options vesting each
year. From time to time, the Company has issued options with different vesting provisions (refer to Note 15). Vested options may be exercised at any time
during the 10 years after grant, except in certain circumstances, generally related to employment termination or retirement. At the end of the 10-year period, any
unexercised options expire.
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The Company’s stock option transactions for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 were as follows:

                         
  2004   2003   2002  
      Weighted      Weighted      Weighted 
      Average      Average      Average 
  Number  Exercise  Number  Exercise  Number  Exercise 
  of Shares  Price  of Shares  Price  of Shares  Price 
Outstanding, beginning of year   22,829,857  $ 34.96   28,277,951  $ 32.55   32,256,675  $ 30.72 
Granted   3,793,525   77.88   5,310,121   42.42   5,280,044   36.28 
Exercised   (9,408,032)   33.78   (9,595,970)   31.58   (8,393,059)   27.82 
Expired or forfeited   (427,553)   54.42   (1,162,245)   38.21   (865,709)   31.77 
Outstanding, end of year   16,787,797  $ 44.82   22,829,857  $ 34.96   28,277,951  $ 32.55 
Options exercisable, end of year   12,649,330  $ 45.97   14,994,262  $ 32.40   20,535,382  $ 32.21 

The following is a summary of information regarding options outstanding and options exercisable at December 31, 2004:

                     
  Options Outstanding   Options Exercisable  
      Weighted           
      Average  Weighted      Weighted 
      Remaining  Average      Average 
  Number  Contractual  Exercise  Number  Exercise 
Range of Exercise Prices  Outstanding  Life (Years )  Price  Exercisable  Price 
$11.01 — $22.03   535,768     4.3   $ 19.73   535,768  $ 19.73 
22.03 — 33.04   2,866,342     5.3    25.86   2,866,342   25.86 
33.04 — 44.06   9,473,274     6.4    39.38   5,558,230   38.94 
44.06 — 55.07   304,926     4.4    50.67   240,962   51.27 
55.07 — 66.08   109,496     8.6    61.09   16,336   61.30 
66.08 — 77.10   10,866     8.9    67.66   267   67.46 
77.10 — 88.11   3,433,025     8.9    77.75   3,396,425   77.70 
88.11 — 99.13   53,100     9.3    90.00   35,000   89.26 
99.13 — 110.14   1,000     9.9    110.14   —   — 

$11.01 — $110.14   16,787,797     6.6   $ 44.82   12,649,330  $ 45.97 

Performance Units – During 2004, the Company granted performance unit awards to certain executives as part of a long-term incentive program. The value of
the performance units is equal to $100. The performance units granted in 2004 vest on December 31, 2005. The number of vested performance units at
December 31, 2005 is dependent upon the degree to which the Company achieves performance goals as determined by the Board of Director’s Committee on
Compensation and Organization. The vesting could go as high as 163% of target for the 2004 grants if certain defined performance metrics are achieved.

During 2002 and 2001, the Company granted performance stock units to certain executives. The value of the performance stock units were equal to the
Company’s stock price, although the units were not actual shares of stock and did not pay dividends (but were payable in shares of stock or cash, except as
discussed below). The performance stock units granted in 2002 and 2001 were established with the ability to vest as early as December 31, 2003 and
December 31, 2002, respectively, (“accelerated vesting”) if the Company met or exceeded performance goals set by the Board of Directors. The determination of
whether or not performance goals were achieved was made by the Board of Director’s Committee on Compensation and Organization. The number of vested
performance stock units at the end of each performance measurement period was dependent upon the degree to which the Company achieved the performance
goals. The vesting could go as high as 200% of target for 2002 and 2001 grants, if operating earnings, as defined, were 25% above performance goals. In 2003
and 2002, the Board of Director’s Committee on Compensation and Organization determined that accelerated vesting at 200% of target applied to grants made
in 2002 and 2001 respectively, as the Company exceeded performance goals set by the Board of Directors. Accordingly, the Company recognized all remaining
compensation expense associated with these grants in 2003 and 2002, respectively. Distributions to participants occurred after approval by the Board of
Director’s Committee on Compensation and Organization in the first quarter of 2004, for 2002 grants, and in the first quarter of 2003, for 2001 grants.
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The Company’s performance and incentive unit transactions for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 were as follows:

             
  Number of Incentive Units    
  2004  2003  2002 
Outstanding, beginning of year   —   466,400   442,325 
Granted   218,430   —   531,140 
Vested   —   (463,400)   (482,665)
Expired or forfeited   (3,650)   (3,000)   (24,400)
Outstanding, end of year   214,780   —   466,400 

The weighted-average grant date fair values for incentive units granted in 2002 and 2001 were $46.48 and $26.55, respectively.

The costs to the Company associated with the Company’s performance and incentive units for 2004, 2003 and 2002 were $17 million, $60 million and
$39 million, respectively.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan - The Company’s shareholders approved the Aetna Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”) at the Company’s
Annual Meeting on April 26, 2002. At December 31, 2004, 6.0 million of the Company’s common shares were reserved for issuance in accordance with the
ESPP’s provisions. All employees of the Company are eligible to participate in the ESPP if employed immediately prior to the first day of the offering period.
Employees may contribute a percentage of their base salary through payroll deductions. Contributions are accumulated for a six-month period and used to
purchase stock at the end of the offering period (the “Purchase Date”). On the Purchase Date, stock is purchased for all participating employees based on the
contributions accumulated (subject to a $25,000 annual limit per employee). The purchase price of the stock is based on a discounted percentage (such
discount may not exceed 15%) of the lesser of the stock price at the beginning or the end of the offering period. During 2004 and 2003, activity in the ESPP
was as follows:

             
      Approximate  Per Share 
  Discount  Number of  Purchase 
Six-month Accumulation Period (Offering Period)  Offered  Shares Purchased  Price (1) 
January 3, 2003 to June 20, 2003   10%  97,000  $ 38.10 
July 3, 2003 to December 19, 2003   10%  112,000   55.77 
January 2, 2004 to June 18, 2004   10%  96,000   60.90 
June 21, 2004 to December 17, 2004   10%  85,000   75.54 
(1)

 
The purchase price of the stock is based on the lesser of the fair market value of the stock price at the beginning or end of the offering period, reduced
by the discount offered. The shares were purchased at the end of the offering period.

On December 20, 2004, another six-month accumulation period commenced. This accumulation period ends June 17, 2005 and the purchase price for this
offering is at a 10% discount from the lesser of the stock’s fair market value on December 20, 2004 or June 17, 2005.

14.   Debt

The carrying value of long-term debt at December 31, 2004 and 2003 were as follows:

         
(Millions)  2004  2003 

Senior notes, 7.375% due 2006  $ 449.6  $ 449.4 
Senior notes, 7.875% due 2011   447.7   447.3 
Senior notes, 8.50% due 2041   712.4   717.0 

Total  $1,609.7  $1,613.7 
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In February 2001, the Company filed a shelf registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission to sell debt securities, from time to time, up
to a total of $2 billion, with the amount, price and terms to be determined at the time of the sale. In March 2001, the Company issued $900 million of senior
notes under this shelf registration statement consisting of $450 million of 7.375% senior notes due in 2006 and $450 million of 7.875% senior notes due in
2011. In June 2001, the Company issued, under this shelf registration statement, an additional $700 million of 8.5% senior notes due in 2041 (Refer to Note
16 for information on the Company’s interest rate swap agreements and effective interest rate for 2004 relating to these senior notes).

During 2004, there were no short-term borrowings outstanding. The Company’s short-term borrowings consist of an $800 million credit facility which
terminates in November 2009. The credit facility also provides for the issuance of letters of credit at the Company’s request, up to $150 million, which count
as usage of the available commitments under the facility. The credit facility permits the aggregate commitments under the facility to be expanded to a maximum
of $1 billion upon the agreement of the Company and one or more financial institutions. Various interest rate options are available under the facility. Any
revolving borrowings mature on the termination date of the credit facility. The Company pays facility fees on the facility ranging from .08% to .225% per
annum, depending upon its long-term senior unsecured debt rating. The facility fee at December 31, 2004 was at an annual rate of .11%.

The Company’s revolving credit facility contains financial covenants. Under the terms of the facility, the Company is required to maintain a minimum level
of shareholders’ equity, excluding any minimum pension liability adjustment and any net unrealized capital gains and losses (“Adjusted Consolidated Net
Worth”), as of each fiscal quarter end. The required minimum level is increased by 50% of the Company’s consolidated net income each quarter beginning
with the quarter ending December 31, 2004. At December 31, 2004, the Company met its required minimum level of Adjusted Consolidated Net Worth of
approximately $6.9 billion. The Company is also required to maintain its ratio of total debt to consolidated capitalization as of each fiscal quarter end at or
below .4 to 1.0. For this purpose, consolidated capitalization equals the sum of Adjusted Consolidated Net Worth and total debt (as defined in the facility). The
Company met this requirement at December 31, 2004.

Total interest paid by the Company was $104 million, $104 million and $119 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

15.  Capital Stock

On February 11, 2005, the Board of Directors’ Committee on Compensation and Organization (the “Compensation Committee”) granted approximately
2.0 million stock options to employees to purchase common shares of the Company at $133.50 per share. The February 11, 2005 grants will become 100%
vested three years from the grant date, with one-third of the options vesting on June 30, 2005 and the remaining grants vesting on the second and third
anniversaries of the grant date. On January 30, 2004, the Compensation Committee approved a grant to employees of approximately 3.6 million stock options
to purchase common shares of the Company at $77.50 per share. The January 30, 2004 grants vested December 31, 2004. On February 27, 2003, the
Compensation Committee approved a grant to employees of approximately 5 million stock options to purchase common shares of the Company at $41.88 per
share. The February 27, 2003 grants will become 100% vested three years from the grant date, with one-third of the options vesting each year. During 2004, the
Company issued approximately 10.1 million shares of common stock for benefit plans, including approximately 9.4 million shares related to stock option
exercises.

On September 24, 2004, the Board of Directors declared an annual cash dividend of $.04 per common share to shareholders of record at the close of business
on November 16, 2004. The $6 million dividend was paid on November 30, 2004.

On June 28, 2002, the Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program for the repurchase of up to 5 million shares of common stock (not to exceed
an aggregate purchase price of $250 million). Under this authorization, the Company repurchased 4.8 million shares of common stock at a cost of
$250 million (1.5 million shares of common stock at a cost of $61 million were repurchased during 2002 and 3.3 million shares of common stock at a cost of
$189 million were repurchased during 2003 under this program), completing the June 28, 2002 authorization.
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On June 27, 2003, the Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program for the repurchase of up to 7.5 million shares of common stock (not to exceed
an aggregate purchase price of $500 million). During 2003, the Company repurchased 4.2 million shares of common stock at a cost of $249 million under
this authorization. On December 5, 2003, the Board of Directors replaced the June 27, 2003 authorization with a new authorization to repurchase up to
10 million shares of common stock (not to exceed an aggregate purchase price of $750 million). During 2003, the Company repurchased .1 million shares of
common stock at a cost of $7 million under this authorization.

In aggregate in 2003, the Company repurchased 7.6 million shares of common stock at a cost of $445 million. As of December 31, 2003, the Company had
authorization to repurchase 9.9 million shares (not to exceed an aggregate purchase price of $743 million) remaining from the December 5, 2003 authorization.

On April 30, 2004 and September 24, 2004, the Board of Directors authorized two additional share repurchase programs for the repurchase of up to
$750 million of common stock ($1.5 billion in aggregate) (these additional authorizations supplemented the December 5, 2003 authorization). During 2004,
the Company repurchased 16.1 million shares of common stock at a cost of $1.5 billion, completing the December 5, 2003 and April 30, 2004 authorizations.
As of December 31, 2004, the Company has authorization to repurchase up to $750 million of common stock remaining under the September 24, 2004
authorization.

On February 25, 2005, the Company announced that its Board of Directors authorized the Company to repurchase up to $750 million of common stock.
This authorization is in addition to the amount remaining under the September 24, 2004 authorization.

In addition to the capital stock disclosed on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, Aetna has authorized 7.6 million shares of Class A voting preferred stock, $.01
par value per share. There are also 85.0 million undesignated shares that the Board has the power to divide into such classes and series, with such voting
rights, designations, preferences, limitations and special rights as the Board determines. At December 31, 2004, 28.9 million common shares of Aetna were
reserved for issuance under its stock option plans and 8.5 million common shares were reserved for issuance under its 401(k) plan.

16. Financial Instruments

Estimated Fair Value

The carrying values and estimated fair values of certain of the Company’s financial instruments at December 31, 2004 and 2003 were as follows:
                 
  2004   2003  
  Cost Basis/      Cost Basis/    
  Carrying  Estimated Fair  Carrying  Estimated Fair 
(Millions)  Value  Value  Value  Value 
Assets:                 

Debt securities  $14,807.3  $ 15,717.1  $14,945.5  $ 15,893.9 
Equity securities   61.5   74.7   64.9   84.8 
Mortgage loans   1,400.9   1,464.4   1,451.2   1,505.6 
Derivatives   23.2   24.1   26.2   26.2 

Liabilities:                 
Investment contract liabilities:                 

With a fixed maturity   128.6   127.0   519.3   520.3 
Without a fixed maturity   667.2   606.7   678.8   618.9 

Derivatives   4.1   4.1   3.6   3.6 
Long-term debt   1,609.7   1,743.9   1,613.7   1,791.0 

Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time, based on available market information and judgments about a given financial instrument, such as
estimates of timing and amount of future cash flows. Such estimates do not reflect any premium or discount that could result from offering for sale at one time
the Company’s entire holdings of a particular financial instrument, and do not consider the tax impact of the realization of unrealized capital gains or losses. In
many cases, the fair value estimates cannot be substantiated by comparison to
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The following valuation methods and assumptions were used by the Company in estimating the fair value of the financial instruments included in the table
above:

Debt and equity securities: Fair values are based on quoted market prices or dealer quotes. Non-traded debt securities are priced independently by a third
party vendor and non-traded equity securities are priced based on an internal analysis of the investment’s financial statements and cash flow projections. Cost
for mortgage-backed securities is adjusted for unamortized premiums and discounts, which are amortized using the interest method over the estimated
remaining term of the securities, adjusted for anticipated prepayments and any collateral shortfall issues.

Mortgage loans: Fair values are estimated by discounting expected mortgage loan cash flows at market rates that reflect the rates at which similar loans would
be made to similar borrowers. These rates reflect management’s assessment of the credit quality and the remaining duration of the loans. The fair value
estimates of mortgage loans of lower credit quality, including problem and restructured loans, are based on the estimated fair value of the underlying collateral.

Derivatives: Fair values are estimated based on quoted market prices, dealer quotes or internal price estimates believed to be comparable to dealer quotes.

Investment contract liabilities:
•  With a fixed maturity: Fair value is estimated by discounting cash flows at interest rates currently being offered by, or available to, the Company for similar

contracts.

•  Without a fixed maturity: Fair value is estimated as the amount payable to the contract holder upon demand. However, the Company has the right under
such contracts to delay payment of withdrawals that may ultimately result in paying an amount different than that determined to be payable on demand.

Long-term debt: Fair values are based on quoted market prices for the same or similar issued debt or, if no quoted market prices were available, on the
current rates estimated to be available to the Company for debt of similar terms and remaining maturities.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company is using interest rate swap agreements to manage certain exposures related to changes in interest rates on investments supporting experience-rated
and discontinued products in the Large Case Pensions business. The use of these derivatives does not impact the Company’s results of operations.

In December 2002, the Company entered into an interest rate swap agreement to convert the fixed rate of 8.5% on $200 million of its senior notes to a variable
rate of three-month LIBOR plus 254.0 basis points (approximately 4.94% at December 31, 2004). In December 2001, the Company entered into an interest rate
swap agreement to convert the fixed rate of 8.5% on $350 million of its senior notes to a variable rate of three-month LIBOR plus 159.5 basis points
(approximately 3.99% at December 31, 2004). As a result of these swap agreements, the Company’s effective interest rate on its long-term debt was 6.27%
during 2004. The change in the fair value of the interest rate swaps and the loss or gain on the hedged senior notes attributable to the hedged interest rate risk
are recorded in current period earnings. Because the terms of the interest rate swap agreements match the terms of the senior notes, the gain or loss on the swaps
and the senior notes will generally be offsetting (no material change in value occurred during the periods ended December 31, 2004 or 2003). The swap
agreements contain bilateral credit protection covenants which, depending on credit ratings, obligate each party to post collateral equal to the fair value of the
swap. As of December 31, 2004, the Company was not required to post collateral for either interest rate swap.
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17. Dividend Restrictions and Statutory Surplus

The Company’s business operations are conducted through subsidiaries that principally consist of HMOs and insurance companies. In addition to general
state law restrictions on payments of dividends and other distributions to shareholders applicable to all corporations, HMOs and insurance companies are
subject to further state regulations that, among other things, may require such companies to maintain certain levels of equity, and restrict the amount of
dividends and other distributions that may be paid to their parent corporations. These regulations generally are not directly applicable to Aetna, as a holding
company, since it is not an HMO or insurance company. The additional regulations applicable to Aetna’s HMO and insurance company subsidiaries are not
expected to affect Aetna’s ability to service its debt or to pay dividends or the ability of any of Aetna’s subsidiaries to service its debt or other financing
obligations, if any.

Under regulatory requirements, the amount of dividends that may be paid during 2005 to Aetna by its domestic insurance and HMO subsidiaries without
prior approval by state regulatory authorities as calculated at December 31, 2004 is approximately $810 million in the aggregate. There are no such restrictions
on distributions from Aetna to its shareholders.

The combined statutory net income for the years ended and statutory surplus as of December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 for the domestic insurance and HMO
subsidiaries of the Company, were as follows:

             
(Millions)  2004  2003  2002 
Statutory net income  $ 1,221.4  $ 1,047.3  $ 689.2 
Statutory surplus   3,847.1   3,806.0   3,606.7 

18. Reinsurance

The Company utilizes reinsurance agreements primarily to facilitate the acquisition of disposition of certain insurance contracts. These reinsurance agreements
permit recovery of a portion of losses from reinsurers, although they do not discharge the Company’s primary liability as direct insurer of the risks reinsured.
Failure of reinsurers to indemnify the Company could result in losses, however, management does not expect charges for unrecoverable reinsurance to have a
material effect on the Company’s results of operations or financial position. The Company evaluates the financial condition of its reinsurers and monitors
concentrations of credit risk arising from similar geographic regions, activities or economic characteristics of its reinsurers. As of December 31, 2004,
reinsurance recoverables consisted primarily of amounts due from third parties that maintain independent agency ratings that are consistent with those
companies that are considered to have a strong ability to meet their obligations.
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Earned premiums for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 were as follows:

                   Percentage 
      Ceded to  Assumed      of Amount  
  Direct  Other  from Other  Net  Assumed 
(Millions)  Amount  Companies  Companies  Amount  to Net 
2004 (1)                     
Accident and Health Insurance - HMO (2)  $ 10,894.6  $ —  $ —  $ 10,894.6   —%
Accident and Health Insurance - Other (3)   4,361.9   8.8   13.6   4,366.7   .3%
Life Insurance   1,365.0   35.6   86.0   1,415.4   6.1%

Total premiums  $16,621.5  $ 44.4  $ 99.6  $16,676.7   .6%
                     
2003 (1)                     
Accident and Health Insurance - HMO (2)  $ 10,053.2  $ —  $ .1  $ 10,053.3   —%
Accident and Health Insurance - Other (3)   3,519.3   14.1   37.4   3,542.6   1.1%
Life Insurance   1,315.4   70.2   62.9   1,308.1   4.8%

Total premiums  $ 14,887.9  $ 84.3  $ 100.4  $ 14,904.0   .6%
                     
2002 (1)                     
Accident and Health Insurance - HMO (2)  $ 11,876.5  $ —  $ 3.6  $ 11,880.1   —%
Accident and Health Insurance - Other (3)   3,482.3   28.8   67.0   3,520.5   1.9%
Life Insurance   1,318.7   68.7   62.1   1,312.1   4.7%

Total premiums  $16,677.5  $ 97.5  $ 132.7  $ 16,712.7   .8%
(1)  Excludes intercompany transactions.
(2) Includes Commercial HMO (includes premiums related to POS members who access primary care physicians and referred care through an HMO

Network), Medicare HMO and Medicaid HMO business.
(3) Includes all other medical, dental and Group Insurance products offered by the Company.

Effective November 1, 1999, the Company reinsured certain policyholder liabilities and obligations related to paid-up group life insurance. Effective
October 1, 1998, the Company reinsured certain policyholder liabilities and obligations related to individual life insurance (in conjunction with former
Aetna’s sale of this business). These transactions were in the form of indemnity reinsurance arrangements, whereby the assuming companies contractually
assumed certain policyholder liabilities and obligations, although the Company remains directly obligated to policyholders. The liability related to the
Company’s obligation is recorded in future policy benefits on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Assets related to and supporting these policies were transferred
to the assuming companies, and the Company recorded a reinsurance recoverable. Reinsurance recoverables related to these obligations was approximately
$1.1 billion at December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002.

There is not a material difference between premiums on a written basis versus an earned basis. Reinsurance recoveries were approximately $85 million,
$96 million and $120 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. At December 31, 2004, reinsurance recoverables with a carrying value of approximately
$1.1 billion were associated with three reinsurers.

19. Commitments and Contingent Liabilities

Guarantees
The Company has the following guarantee arrangements as of December 31, 2004.

Mortgage-Backed Securities Obligation – In June of 1992, the Company securitized 98 apartment mortgage loans totaling $325 million into 21 FNMA
(“Fannie Mae”) mortgage-backed securities (“MBS”). The Company subsequently sold those MBSs for cash. Fannie Mae required that the Company continue
to retain a portion of the risk of default of the underlying loans, and therefore the Company guaranteed the first $59 million of such losses. As of
December 2004, $19 million of the original mortgage loans were outstanding, and the Company’s guarantee was reduced to the first $19 million of losses.
Therefore, the maximum exposure the Company had on its guarantee to Fannie Mae for loans default, as of December 31, 2004 was $19 million. The
Company has no recourse for this guarantee.
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ASC Claim Funding Accounts - The Company has arrangements with certain banks for the processing of claim payments for its ASC customers. The banks
maintain accounts to fund ASC customers claims. The customer is responsible to fund the amount paid by the bank each day. In these arrangements, the
Company guarantees that the banks will not sustain losses if the responsible ASC customer does not properly fund its account. The aggregate maximum
exposure under these arrangements is $250 million. The Company could limit its exposure to this guarantee by suspending the payment of claims for ASC
customers that have not adequately funded the amount paid by the bank.

Indemnification Agreements - In connection with certain acquisitions and dispositions of assets and/or businesses, the Company has incurred certain
customary indemnification obligations to the applicable seller or purchaser, respectively. In general, the Company has agreed to indemnify the other party for
certain losses relating to the assets or business that the Company purchased or sold. Certain portions of the Company’s indemnification obligations are capped
at the applicable purchase price, while other arrangements are not subject to such a limit. As of December 31, 2004, the Company believes it has established
reserves and/or obtained insurance sufficient to cover such potential losses.

Guaranty Fund Assessments, Market Stabilization and Other Non-voluntary Risk Sharing Pools
Under guaranty fund laws existing in all states, insurers doing business in those states can be assessed (up to prescribed limits) for certain obligations of
insolvent insurance companies to policyholders and claimants. Assessments generally are based on a formula relating to the Company’s premiums in the state
compared to the premiums of other insurers. While the Company has historically recovered more than half of guaranty fund assessments through statutorily
permitted premium tax offsets, significant increases in assessments could jeopardize future recovery of these assessments. Some states have similar laws
relating to HMOs. HMOs in certain states in which the Company does business are subject to assessments, including market stabilization and other risk
sharing pools for which the Company is assessed charges based on incurred claims, demographic membership mix and other factors. The Company
establishes liabilities for these assessments based on applicable laws and regulations. In certain states, the ultimate assessments to be paid by the Company are
dependent upon the Company’s experience relative to other entities subject to the assessment and the ultimate liability is not known at the balance sheet date.
While the ultimate amount of the assessment is dependent upon the experience of all pool participants, the Company believes it has adequate reserves to cover
such assessments. There were no material charges to earnings for guaranty fund and other assessments during 2004 or 2003.

Litigation
Managed Care Class Action Litigation
Since 1999, the Company has been involved in purported class action lawsuits that are part of a wave of similar actions targeting the health care payor
industry and, in particular, the conduct of business by managed care companies.

The Judicial Panel on Multi-district Litigation transferred all of the federal actions, including several actions originally filed in state courts, to the United States
District Court for the Southern District of Florida (the “Florida Federal Court”) for consolidated pretrial proceedings. The Florida Federal Court created a
separate track for all cases brought on behalf of health care providers (the “Provider Cases”).

Thirteen Provider Cases were presided over by the Florida Federal Court, and a similar action is pending in Louisiana state court, on behalf of purported
classes of physicians. These Provider Cases alleged generally that the Company and each of the other defendant managed care organizations employed coercive
economic power to force physicians to enter into economically unfavorable contracts, imposed unnecessary administrative burdens on providers and
improperly denied claims in whole or in part, and that the defendants did not pay claims timely or did not pay claims at proper rates. These Provider Cases
further charged that the Company and the other defendant managed care organizations conspired and aided and abetted one another in the alleged wrongdoing.
These actions alleged violations of the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act, the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, state unfair
trade statutes, state consumer fraud statutes, state laws regarding the timely payment of claims, and various common law doctrines and sought various forms
of relief, including unspecified damages, treble damages, punitive damages and injunctive relief.
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independent markets, and the disclosed value cannot be realized upon immediate settlement of the instrument. In evaluating the Company’s management of
interest rate, price and liquidity risks, the fair values of all financial instruments are taken into consideration. Effective May 21, 2003, the Company and
representatives of over 900,000 physicians, state and other medical societies entered into an agreement (the “Physician Settlement Agreement”) settling the lead
physician Provider Case pending in the Florida Federal Court. Judicial approval of the Physician Settlement Agreement became final on January 18, 2005. The
Company believes that the Physician Settlement Agreement resolves all pending Provider Cases filed on behalf of physicians that did not opt out of the
settlement, including the Louisiana state court action. During the second quarter of 2003, the Company recorded an after-tax charge of $75 million
($115 million pretax) (included in other operating expenses) in connection with the Physician Settlement Agreement, net of an estimated insurance recoverable
of $72 million pretax. The Company has not received any insurance recoveries as of December 31, 2004.

A Provider Case brought on behalf of the American Dental Association made similar allegations on behalf of a purported class of dentists. Effective
August 22, 2003, the Company and representatives of approximately 150,000 dentists entered into an agreement (the “Dentist Settlement Agreement”) settling
the dentist action. The Dentist Settlement Agreement was approved by the Florida Federal Court on July 20, 2004. The approval of the Dentist Settlement
Agreement concludes this Provider Case. The cost of this settlement was not material to the Company and was included in the second quarter 2003 Physician
Settlement Agreement charge.

Several Provider Cases filed in 2003 on behalf of purported classes of chiropractors and/or all non-physician health care providers also make factual and legal
allegations similar to those contained in the other Provider Cases. These Provider Cases have been transferred to the Florida Federal Court for consolidated
pretrial proceedings. The Company intends to defend each of these new Provider Cases vigorously.

Securities Class Action Litigation
Laborers Tri-County Pension Fund, Goldplate Investment Partners Ltd. and Sheila Shafran filed a consolidated and amended purported class action
complaint (the “Securities Complaint”) on June 7, 2002 in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York (the “New York Federal
Court”). The Securities Complaint supplanted several complaints, filed beginning November 6, 2001, which have been voluntarily dismissed or
consolidated. Plaintiffs contend that the Company and two of its current or former officers and directors, William H. Donaldson and John W. Rowe, M.D.,
violated federal securities laws. Plaintiffs allege misrepresentations and omissions regarding, among other things, the Company’s ability to manage and control
medical costs and the appropriate reserve for medical costs as of December 31, 2000, for which they seek unspecified damages, among other remedies. On
October 15, 2002, the New York Federal Court heard argument on defendants’ motion to dismiss the Securities Complaint.

Effective February 9, 2005, the Company and class representatives entered into an agreement (the “Securities Settlement Agreement”) to settle the Securities
Complaint. The Securities Settlement Agreement is subject to court approval. The settlement amount is not material to the Company.

Insurance Industry Brokerage Practices Matters
The Company has received subpoenas for information from the New York Attorney General and the Connecticut Attorney General and requests for
information from various insurance regulators with respect to an industry wide investigation into certain insurance brokerage practices, including broker
compensation arrangements, bid quoting practices and potential antitrust violations. The Company is cooperating with these inquiries.

On October 20, 2004, Ronald Scott Shirley filed an action (the “Shirley Action”) in the United States District Court for the Southern District of California
against the Company, Universal Life Resources (“ULR”), a broker, and others, including other major insurance companies, alleging a conspiracy to
fraudulently market, sell and administer a variety of insurance products through employee benefit plans. By virtue of an amended complaint filed in the
Shirley Action, the Company was dismissed from that action in January 2005.

In connection with this industry wide review, the Company may receive additional subpoenas and requests for information from other attorneys general and
other regulators and the Company could be named in other related litigation.
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Other Litigation and Regulatory Proceedings
The Company is involved in numerous other lawsuits arising, for the most part, in the ordinary course of its business operations, including employment
litigation and claims of bad faith, medical malpractice, non-compliance with state regulatory regimes, marketing misconduct, failure to timely pay medical
claims, investment activities, intellectual property and other litigation in its Health Care and Group Insurance businesses. Some of these other lawsuits are or
are purported to be class actions. The Company intends to defend these matters vigorously.

In addition, the Company’s current and past business practices are subject to review by, and the Company from time to time receives subpoenas and other
requests for information from, various state insurance and health care regulatory authorities and other state and federal authorities. There also continues to be
heightened review by regulatory authorities of the managed health care industry’s business practices, including utilization management, delegated arrangements
and claim payment practices. As a leading national managed care organization, the Company regularly is the subject of such reviews. These reviews may
result in changes to or clarifications of the Company’s business practices, and may result in fines, penalties or other sanctions.

The Company is unable to predict at this time the ultimate outcome of the remaining Provider Cases, the insurance industry brokerage practices investigations
or other litigation and regulatory proceedings, and it is reasonably possible that their outcome could be material to the Company.

Leases
The Company has operating leases for office space and certain computer and other equipment. Rental expenses for these items were $174 million,
$166 million and $168 million for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The future net minimum payments under noncancelable leases for 2005 through 2009
are estimated to be $162 million, $125 million, $98 million, $72 million and $46 million, respectively.

The Company also has funding obligations relating to equity limited partnership investments and commercial mortgage loans. The funding requirements for
equity limited partnership investments and commercial mortgage loans for 2005 through 2009 are estimated to be $154 million, $46 million, $62 million,
$20 million and $12 million, respectively.
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20. Segment Information

Summarized financial information for the Company’s principal operations for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 were as follows:

                         
      Group  Large Case  Corporate  Discontinued  Total 
2004 (Millions)  Health Care  Insurance  Pensions  Interest  Operations  Company 
Revenues from external customers (1)  $ 16,914.4  $1,655.5  $ 200.9  $ —  $ —  $18,770.8 
Net investment income   262.1   274.1   526.3   —   —   1,062.5 
Total revenue excluding realized capital gains  $17,176.5  $ 1,929.6  $ 727.2  $ —  $ —  $ 19,833.3 
                         
Interest expense  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 104.7  $ —  $ 104.7 
Amortization of other intangible assets  $ 42.5  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 42.5 
Income taxes (benefits)  $ 639.5  $ 59.7  $ 21.3  $ (36.7)  $ —  $ 683.8 
Operating earnings (losses) (2)  $ 1,079.4  $ 126.5  $ 31.3  $ (68.0)  $ —  $ 1,169.2 
Realized capital gains, net of tax   15.6   19.8   10.5   —   —   45.9 
Income (loss) from continuing operations   1,095.0   146.3   41.8   (68.0)   —   1,215.1 
Discontinued operations, net of tax (3)   —   —   —   —   1,030.0   1,030.0 
Net income (loss)  $ 1,095.0  $ 146.3  $ 41.8  $ (68.0)  $ 1,030.0  $ 2,245.1 
Segment assets (4)  $ 14,684.7  $ 5,322.6  $22,126.4  $ —  $ —  $ 42,133.7 
Expenditures for long-lived assets  $ 25.2  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 25.2 
(1)  Revenues from external customers include revenues earned from one major customer (the federal government) amounting to 9.9% of total revenue from

external customers.
(2) Operating earnings (losses) excludes net realized capital gains or losses and any other items as described below. Operating earnings for Health Care

includes $29.3 million after tax ($45.0 million pretax) for voluntary contributions to the Aetna Foundation Inc., a separate and distinct charitable
organization. While operating earnings is the measure of profit or loss used by the Company’s management when assessing performance or making
operating decisions, it does not replace net income (loss) as a measure of profitability.

(3) Income from discontinued operations of $1.03 billion related to the Congressional Joint Committee on Taxation’s approval of a tax refund and the
completion of certain Internal Revenue Service audits associated with businesses sold by the Company’s predecessor (former Aetna) (refer to Note 22 for
additional information).

(4) Large Case Pensions assets include $5.4 billion attributable to discontinued products (excludes the receivable from Large Case Pensions’ continuing
products which is eliminated in consolidation).
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      Group  Large Case  Corporate  Total 
2003 (Millions)  Health Care  Insurance  Pensions  Interest  Company 
Revenues from external customers (1)  $15,098.1  $ 1,541.6  $ 176.5  $ —  $16,816.2 
Net investment income   244.6   268.7   581.7   —   1,095.0 
Total revenue excluding realized capital gains  $ 15,342.7  $ 1,810.3  $ 758.2  $ —  $ 17,911.2 
                     
Interest expense  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 102.9  $ 102.9 
                     
Amortization of other intangible assets  $ 50.8  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 50.8 
                     
Income taxes (benefits)  $ 461.5  $ 61.2  $ 21.1  $ (36.0)  $ 507.8 
                     
Operating earnings (losses) (2)  $ 862.4  $ 134.8  $ 36.5  $ (66.9)  $ 966.8 
Other item (3)   (75.0)   —   —   —   (75.0)
Realized capital gains, net of tax   22.2   14.5   5.3   —   42.0 
Net income (loss)  $ 809.6  $ 149.3  $ 41.8  $ (66.9)  $ 933.8 
                     
Segment assets (4)  $ 14,302.9  $5,251.5  $21,395.8  $ —  $ 40,950.2 
                     
Expenditures for long-lived assets  $ 87.6  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 87.6 
(1)  Revenues from external customers include revenues earned from one major customer (the federal government) amounting to 10.1% of total revenue from

external customers.
(2) Operating earnings (loss) excludes net realized capital gains or losses and any other items as described below. While operating earnings is the measure of

profit or loss used by the Company’s management when assessing performance or making operating decisions, it does not replace net income (loss) as a
measure of profitability.

(3) The other item excluded from operating earnings is the $75.0 million after tax charge in the Health Care segment related to the Physician Class Action
Settlement (refer to Note 19 for additional information).

(4) Large Case Pensions assets include $5.2 billion attributable to discontinued products (excludes the receivable from Large Case Pensions’ continuing
products which is eliminated in consolidation).
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      Group  Large Case  Corporate  Discontinued  Total 
2002 (Millions)  Health Care  Insurance  Pensions  Interest  Operations  Company 
Revenues from external customers (1)  $16,858.3  $ 1,497.4  $ 238.0  $ —  $ —  $18,593.7 
Net investment income   295.7   269.5   685.5   —   —   1,250.7 
Total revenue excluding realized capital gains (losses)  $ 17,154.0  $1,766.9  $ 923.5  $ —  $ —  $ 19,844.4 
                         
Interest expense  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 119.5  $ —  $ 119.5 
Amortization of other intangible assets  $ 130.8  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 130.8 
                         
Income taxes (benefits)  $ 119.5  $ 57.6  $ 16.3  $ (41.8)  $ —  $ 151.6 
                         
Operating earnings (losses) from continuing operations (2)  $ 361.6  $ 142.2  $ 24.2  $ (77.7)  $ —  $ 450.3 
Other items (3)   (81.6)   (3.2)   5.4   —   —   (79.4)
Realized capital gains (losses), net of tax   36.4   (14.0)   (.1)   —   —   22.3 
Income (loss) from continuing operations   316.4   125.0   29.5   (77.7)   —   393.2 
Discontinued operations, net of tax (4)   —   —   —   —   50.0   50.0 
Cumulative effect adjustments, net of tax   (2,965.7)   —   —   —   —   (2,965.7)
Net income (loss)  $ (2,649.3)  $ 125.0  $ 29.5  $ (77.7)  $ 50.0  $ (2,522.5)
Segment assets (5)  $ 13,805.6  $ 5,409.0  $20,832.9  $ —  $ —  $ 40,047.5 
Expenditures for long-lived assets  $ 40.4  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 40.4 
(1)  Revenues from external customers include revenues earned from one major customer (the federal government) amounting to 10.1% of total revenue from

external customers.
(2) Operating earnings (loss) from continuing operations is comprised of income (loss) from continuing operations excluding net realized capital gains or

losses, any other items described below and the cumulative effect adjustment. While operating earnings is the measure of profit or loss used by the
Company’s management when assessing performance or making operating decisions, it does not replace net income (loss) as a measure of profitability.

(3) The following other items were excluded from operating earnings (losses) from continuing operations: a $19.8 million income tax benefit resulting from
the release of state income tax related reserves in connection with the favorable conclusion of several state tax audits in the Health Care segment,
severance and facilities charges of $104.6 million after tax consisting of $101.4 million after tax in the Health Care segment and $3.2 million after tax in
the Group Insurance segment and $5.4 million after tax from a reduction of the reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products in the
Large Case Pensions segment.

(4) As discussed in more detail in Note 22, the Company released $50.0 million of federal income tax reserves resulting from the resolution of several
Internal Revenue Service audit issues during 2002 that related to the property and casualty insurance business of one of Aetna’s predecessors, which
was sold in 1996.

(5) Large Case Pensions assets include $5.4 billion attributable to discontinued products (excludes the receivable from Large Case Pensions’ continuing
products which is eliminated in consolidation).

Revenues from external customers (all within the United States) by product for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 were as follows:

             
(Millions)  2004  2003  2002 
Health risk  $14,863.5  $ 13,236.8  $ 15,039.4 
Health ASC   2,050.9   1,861.3   1,818.9 
Group life   1,229.8   1,150.3   1,097.0 
Group disability   342.2   318.1   336.0 
Group long-term care   83.5   73.2   64.4 
Large case pensions   200.9   176.5   238.0 
Total revenue from external customers  $ 18,770.8  $16,816.2  $18,593.7 

Long-lived assets, all within the United States, were $234 million and $268 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
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21. Discontinued Products

The Company discontinued the sale of its fully guaranteed large case pension products (single-premium annuities (“SPAs”) and guaranteed investment
contracts (“GICs”)) in 1993. Under the Company’s accounting for these discontinued products, a reserve for anticipated future losses from these products
was established and is reviewed by management quarterly. As long as the reserve continues to represent management’s then best estimate of expected future
losses, results of operations of the discontinued products, including net realized capital gains and losses, are credited/charged to the reserve and do not affect
the Company’s results of operations. The Company’s results of operations would be adversely affected to the extent that future losses on the products are
greater than anticipated and positively affected to the extent future losses are less than anticipated. The current reserve reflects management’s best estimate of
anticipated future losses.

The factors contributing to changes in the reserve for anticipated future losses are: operating income or loss, realized capital gains or losses and mortality gains
or losses. Operating income or loss is equal to revenue less expenses. Realized capital gains or losses reflect the excess (deficit) of sales price over (below) the
carrying value of assets sold. Mortality gains or losses reflect the mortality and retirement experience related to SPAs. A mortality gain (loss) occurs when an
annuitant or a beneficiary dies sooner (later) than expected. A retirement gain (loss) occurs when an annuitant retires later (earlier) than expected.

At the time of discontinuance, a receivable from Large Case Pensions’ continuing products equivalent to the net present value of the anticipated cash flow
shortfalls was established for the discontinued products. Interest on the receivable is accrued at the discount rate that was used to calculate the reserve. The
offsetting payable, on which interest is similarly accrued, is reflected in continuing products. Interest on the payable generally offsets the investment income on
the assets available to fund the shortfall. At December 31, 2004, the receivable from continuing products, net of related deferred taxes payable of $116 million
on the accrued interest income, was $395 million. At December 31, 2003, the receivable from continuing products, net of the related deferred taxes payable of
$106 million on the accrued interest income, was $375 million. These amounts were eliminated in consolidation.
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Results of discontinued products for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 were as follows (pretax):

             
      Charged (Credited)    
      to Reserve for    
(Millions)  Results  Future Losses  Net(1) 
2004             
Net investment income  $ 320.6  $ —  $ 320.6 
Net realized capital gains   37.5   (37.5)   — 
Interest earned on receivable from continuing products   30.2   —   30.2 
Other income   24.8   —   24.8 

Total revenue   413.1   (37.5)   375.6 
Current and future benefits   356.1   6.5   362.6 
Operating expenses   13.0   —   13.0 

Total benefits and expenses   369.1   6.5   375.6 
Results of discontinued products  $ 44.0  $ (44.0)  $ — 
 
2003             
Net investment income  $ 334.6  $ —  $ 334.6 
Net realized capital gains   111.3   (111.3)   — 
Interest earned on receivable from continuing products   28.3   —   28.3 
Other income   36.9   —   36.9 

Total revenue   511.1   (111.3)   399.8 
Current and future benefits   373.1   21.6   394.7 
Operating expenses   5.1   —   5.1 

Total benefits and expenses   378.2   21.6   399.8 
Results of discontinued products  $ 132.9  $ (132.9)  $ — 
 
2002             
Net investment income  $ 375.2  $ —  $ 375.2 
Net realized capital losses   (57.5)   57.5   — 
Interest earned on receivable from continuing products   26.8   —   26.8 
Other income   28.4   —   28.4 

Total revenue   372.9   57.5   430.4 
Current and future benefits   393.9   23.8   417.7 
Operating expenses   12.7   —   12.7 

Total benefits and expenses   406.6   23.8   430.4 
Results of discontinued products  $ (33.7)  $ 33.7  $ — 
(1) Amounts are reflected in the 2004, 2003 and 2002 Consolidated Statements of Income, except for interest earned on the receivable from continuing

products, which was eliminated in consolidation.

Net realized capital gains (losses) from the sale of bonds supporting discontinued products were $20 million, $83 million and $(82) million (pretax) for 2004,
2003 and 2002, respectively.
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Assets and liabilities supporting discontinued products at December 31, 2004 and 2003 were as follows: (1)

         
(Millions)  2004  2003 
Assets:         

Debt securities available for sale  $ 3,383.6  $ 3,427.1 
Equity securities   57.2   49.9 
Mortgage loans   560.3   626.7 
Investment real estate   114.8   75.2 
Loaned securities   322.8   180.2 
Other investments (2)   514.4   553.7 
Total investments   4,953.1   4,912.8 
Collateral received under securities loan agreements   329.6   184.0 
Current and deferred income taxes   120.8   150.6 
Receivable from continuing products (3)   511.6   481.4 

Total assets  $5,915.1  $5,728.8 
         
Liabilities:         

Future policy benefits  $ 4,065.6  $ 4,217.9 
Policyholders’ funds   24.0   35.2 
Reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products   1,079.8   1,035.8 
Collateral payable under securities loan agreements   329.6   184.0 
Other liabilities   416.1   255.9 

Total liabilities  $5,915.1  $5,728.8 
(1)  Assets supporting the discontinued products are distinguished from assets supporting continuing products.
(2) Includes debt securities on deposit as required by regulatory authorities of $20.9 million and $121.8 million at December 31, 2004 and 2003,

respectively. These securities are considered restricted assets and were included in long-term investments on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
(3) The receivable from continuing products is eliminated in consolidation.

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, net unrealized capital gains on available-for-sale debt securities are included above in other liabilities and are not reflected in
consolidated shareholders’ equity. The reserve for anticipated future losses is included in future policy benefits on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products represents the present value (at the risk-free rate at the time of discontinuance, consistent
with the duration of the liabilities) of the difference between the expected cash flows from the assets supporting discontinued products and the cash flows
expected to be required to meet the obligations of the outstanding contracts. Calculation of the reserve for anticipated future losses requires projection of both the
amount and the timing of cash flows over approximately the next 30 years, including consideration of, among other things, future investment results,
participant withdrawal and mortality rates and the cost of asset management and customer service. Since 1993, there have been no significant changes to the
assumptions underlying the calculation of the reserve related to the projection of the amount and timing of cash flows.

The projection of future investment results considers assumptions for interest rates, bond discount rates and performance of mortgage loans and real estate.
Mortgage loan cash flow assumptions represent management’s best estimate of current and future levels of rent growth, vacancy and expenses based upon
market conditions at each reporting date. The performance of real estate assets has been consistently estimated using the most recent forecasts available. Since
1997, a bond default assumption has been included to reflect historical default experience, since the bond portfolio increased as a percentage of the overall
investment portfolio and reflected more bond credit risk, concurrent with the decline in the commercial mortgage loan and real estate portfolios.

The previous years’ actual participant withdrawal experience is used for the current year assumption. Prior to 1995, the Company used the 1983 Group
Annuitant Mortality table published by the Society of Actuaries (the “Society”). In 1995, the Society published the 1994 Uninsured Pensioner’s Mortality
table which the Company has used since then.

The Company’s assumptions about the cost of asset management and customer service reflect actual investment and general expenses allocated over invested
assets.
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The activity in the reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 was as follows
(pretax):

             
(Millions)  2004  2003  2002 
Reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products, beginning of the period  $ 1,035.8  $ 902.9  $ 944.9 
Operating income (loss)   (6.6)   (3.3)   8.2 
Net realized capital gains (losses)   37.5   111.3   (57.5)
Mortality and other   13.1   24.9   15.6 
Reserve reduction   —   —   (8.3)
Reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products, end of the period  $ 1,079.8  $1,035.8  $ 902.9 

Management reviews the adequacy of the reserve for anticipated future losses on discontinued products quarterly. The reserve was found to be adequate, and
no release or charge was required during 2004 and 2003. A review in the second quarter of 2002 resulted in the release of $8 million ($5 million after tax) of the
reserve primarily due to favorable mortality and retirement experience and certain reductions in administrative expenses, partially offset by lower portfolio
returns. The current reserve reflects management’s best estimate of anticipated future losses.

The anticipated run-off of the December 31, 2004 reserve balance (assuming that assets are held until maturity and that the reserve run-off is proportional to
the liability run-off) is as follows:

     
(Millions)     
2005  $ 40.3 
2006   40.6 
2007   40.7 
2008   41.0 
2009   41.3 
2010 – 2014   206.2 
2015 – 2019   188.7 
2020 – 2024   155.6 
2025 – 2029   119.5 
Thereafter   205.9 

The liability expected as of December 31, 1993 and actual liability balances as of December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 for the GIC and SPA liabilities are as
follows:

                 
  Expected   Actual  
(Millions)  GIC  SPA  GIC  SPA 
2002  $ 169.5  $4,114.6  $ 82.9  $ 4,361.1 
2003   51.7   3,984.7   35.2   4,217.9 
2004   31.8   3,849.1   24.0   4,065.6 

The GIC balances were lower than expected in each period as several contract holders redeemed their contracts prior to contract maturity. The SPA balances in
each period were higher than expected because of additional amounts received under existing contracts.

22. Discontinued Operations

On July 8, 2004, the Company was notified that the Congressional Joint Committee on Taxation (the “Joint Committee”) approved a tax refund of
approximately $740 million, including interest, relating to businesses that were sold in the 1990s by the Company’s predecessor (former Aetna). The tax
refund was recorded as income from discontinued operations in 2004. The Joint Committee approval also finalizes the Internal Revenue Service’s (the
“Service”) audits of the Company’s tax returns for the years 1991 through 2001. In 2004, the Company also finalized the Service’s audits of the Company’s
tax returns for the years 1984 through 1990. As a result of the resolution of these audits, the Company recorded favorable adjustments of approximately
$290 million to existing tax liabilities in 2004 as income from discontinued operations, for a total of $1,030 million of income. The Company received
approximately $666 million of the tax refund during 2004 and expects to receive the remaining refund in 2005.
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In 2002, the Company released $50 million of income tax reserves resulting from the resolution of the Service’s audit issues that related to the property and
casualty insurance business, which was sold by the Company’s predecessor (former Aetna) in 1996.

23. Subsequent Event

On February 9, 2005, the Board declared a two-for-one stock split of the Company’s common stock to be effected in the form of a 100% common stock
dividend. All shareholders of record on February 25, 2005 will receive one additional share of common stock for each share held on that date. The additional
share of common stock will be distributed to shareholders of record in the form of a stock dividend on March 11, 2005.

Information pertaining to shares and earnings per share has not been restated in the accompanying financial statements and notes to the consolidated financial
statements to reflect this split. This information will be presented effective after the stock dividend is distributed (i.e. with the Company’s March 31, 2005
interim condensed financial statements). Information on a pro forma basis, reflecting the impact of this split for the years ending December 31, 2004, 2003 and
2002 is as follows:

             
  Income (Loss)  Shares  Per Common 
(Millions, except per common share data)  (Numerator)  (Denominator)  Share Amount  
2004             
Basic EPS:             

Income from continuing operations  $ 1,215.1   302.8  $ 4.01 
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax   1,030.0       3.40 
Net Income  $ 2,245.1   302.8  $ 7.41 

 
Diluted EPS:             

Income from continuing operations and assumed conversions  $ 1,215.1   314.0  $ 3.87 
Income from discontinuing operations, net of tax   1,030.0       3.28 
Net income and assumed conversions  $ 2,245.1   314.0  $ 7.15 

             
2003             
Basic EPS:             

Net Income  $ 933.8   305.4  $ 3.06 
 
Diluted EPS:             

Net income assumed conversions  $ 933.8   316.2  $ 2.95 
             
2002             
Basic EPS:             

Income from continuing operations  $ 393.2   297.8  $ 1.32 
Income from discontinued operations   50.0       0.17 
Income before cumulative effect adjustments   443.2       1.49 
Cumulative effect adjustments, net of tax   (2,965.7)       (9.96)
Net loss  $ (2,522.5)   297.8  $ (8.47)

             
Diluted EPS:             

Income from continuing operations and assumed conversions  $ 393.2   305.8  $ 1.29 
Income from discontinued operations   50.0       0.16 
Income before cumulative effect adjustments   443.2       1.45 
Cumulative effect adjustments, net   (2,965.7)       (9.70)
Net loss and assumed conversions  $ (2,522.5)   305.8  $ (8.25)
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Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting of Aetna Inc. and its subsidiaries (the
“Company”). The internal control over financial reporting is defined as a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”).

The Company’s internal control over financial reporting process includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the Company’s assets; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions
are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP, and that receipts and expenditures are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the Company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or dispositions of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Further, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Under the supervision and with the participation of management, including the Company’s Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officers, management
assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s system of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004. In making this assessment,
management used the framework set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in “ Internal Control – Integrated
Framework.” Based on this assessment, management concluded that the Company’s system of internal control over financial reporting was effective as of
December 31, 2004. Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s system of internal control over financial reporting has been audited by
KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their attestation report which is included herein. KPMG LLP has also audited the
Company’s consolidated financial statements, which report is also included herein.

Management’s Responsibility for Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the consolidated financial statements of the Company, which have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. Management
believes the consolidated financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
position, results of operations and cash flows of the Company as of and for the periods presented in this report.

The financial statements are the product of a number of processes that include the gathering of financial data developed from the records of the Company’s
day-to-day business transactions. Informed judgments and estimates are used for those transactions not yet complete or for which the ultimate effects cannot be
measured precisely. The Company emphasizes the selection and training of personnel who are qualified to perform these functions. In addition, Company
personnel are subject to rigorous standards of ethical conduct that are widely communicated throughout the organization.

The Company’s Audit Committee engages KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, to audit the Company’s consolidated financial
statements and express their opinion thereon. Members of that firm also have the right of full access to each member of management in conducting their audits.
The report of KPMG LLP on their audit of the Company’s consolidateds financial statements appears below.

Audit Committee Oversight
The Company’s Audit Committee is comprised solely of independent directors. The Audit Committee meets regularly with management, the internal auditors
and KPMG LLP to oversee and monitor the work of each and to inquire of each as to their assessment of the performance of the others in their work relating to
the Company’s consolidated financial statements and internal control over financial reporting. Both KPMG LLP and the Company’s internal auditors have, at
all times, the right of full access to the Audit Committee, without management present, to discuss any matter they believe should be brought to the attention of
the Audit Committee.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Aetna Inc.:

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, that Aetna Inc.
maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Aetna Inc.’s management is responsible for maintaining
effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our
audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Aetna Inc. maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, is fairly
stated, in all material respects, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Also, in our opinion, Aetna Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO).
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We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets
of Aetna Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for
each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2004, and our report dated March 1, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion on those
consolidated financial statements.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Hartford, Connecticut
March 1, 2005
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders 
Aetna Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Aetna Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated
statements of income, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2004. These consolidated financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based
on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Aetna Inc. and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2004, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness of Aetna Inc.’s
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated March 1, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion on
management’s assessment of, and the effective operation of, internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Hartford, Connecticut
March 1, 2005
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Quarterly Data (Unaudited)

                 
2004 (Millions, except per common share data)  First  Second  Third  Fourth 
Total revenue  $4,821.3  $4,875.0  $5,039.5  $5,168.3 
 

Income from continuing operations before income taxes  $ 510.6  $ 447.7  $ 471.7  $ 468.9 
Income taxes   184.8   161.4   169.4   168.2 
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax   40.0(1)  —   990.0(2)  — 
Net income  $ 365.8  $ 286.3  $ 1,292.3  $ 300.7 
 

Per common share results: (3)                 
Net income                 

Basic  $ 2.38  $ 1.87  $ 8.55  $ 2.04 
Diluted   2.28   1.79   8.21   1.95 

Common stock data:                 
Dividends declared  $ —  $ —  $ .04  $ — 
Common stock prices, high   89.91   94.70   99.93   126.89 
Common stock prices, low   66.00   77.75   78.98   83.26 

(1)

 
Income from discontinued operations of $40 million for the first quarter of 2004 related to the completion of certain Internal Revenue Service audits
associated with businesses sold by the Company’s predecessor (former Aetna) (refer to Note 22 for additional information).

(2)

 

Income from discontinued operations of $990 million for the third quarter of 2004 related to the Congressional Joint Committee on Taxation’s approval of
a tax refund and the completion of certain Internal Revenue Service audits associated with businesses sold by the Company’s predecessor (former Aetna)
(refer to Note 22 for additional information).

(3)

 
Calculation of the earnings per share is based on weighted average shares outstanding during each quarter and, accordingly, the sum may not equal the
total for the year.

                 
2003 (Millions, except per common share data)  First  Second(1) Third  Fourth 
Total revenue  $4,466.5  $4,466.0  $4,469.1  $4,574.8 
 

Income from continuing operations before income taxes  $ 512.0  $ 223.4  $ 334.8  $ 371.4 
Income taxes   182.0   85.0   118.9   121.9 
Net income  $ 330.0  $ 138.4  $ 215.9  $ 249.5 
 

Per common share results: (2)                 
Net income                 

Basic  $ 2.19  $ .90  $ 1.41  $ 1.63 
Diluted   2.12   .87   1.35   1.56 

Common stock data:                 
Dividends declared  $ —  $ —  $ .04  $ — 
Common stock prices, high   49.64   64.42   68.49   67.94 
Common stock prices, low   40.82   47.03   52.70   55.99 

(1)  Second quarter includes a $75 million after-tax charge related to the Physician Class Action Settlement (refer to Note 19 for additional information).
(2)

 
Calculation of the earnings per share is based on weighted average shares outstanding during each quarter and, accordingly, the sum may not equal the
total for the year.
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Subsidiaries of Aetna Inc.
At December 31, 2004  

Exhibit 21.1

         
  State of     
Subsidiary  Incorporation  Ownership (1)  Subsidiary
Aetna Inc.  PA  —   
Aetna Risk Indemnity Company Limited  Bermuda   100%  Owned by Aetna Inc.
Aetna Health Holdings, LLC  DE   100%  Owned by Aetna Inc.
Aetna Life Insurance Company  CT   100%  Owned by Aetna Inc.
Aetna Health and Life Insurance Company  CT   100%  Owned by Aetna Inc.
AUSHC Holdings, Inc.  CT   100%  Owned by Aetna Inc.
Aetna Health Insurance Company of New York  NY   100%  Owned by Aetna Inc.
Corporate Health Insurance Company  PA   100%  Owned by Aetna Inc.
Aetna Financial Holdings, LLC  DE   100%  Owned by Aetna Inc.
Aetna Criterion Communications, Inc.  DE   100%  Owned by Aetna Inc.
Luettgens Limited  CT   100%  Owned by Aetna Inc.
ASI Wings, L.L.C.  DE   100%  Owned by Aetna Inc.
Aelan Inc.  CT   100%  Owned by Aetna Inc.
Aetna Health Inc.  AZ   100%  Owned by Aetna Health Holdings, LLC
Aetna Health of California Inc.  CA   100%  Owned by Aetna Health Holdings, LLC
Aetna Health Inc.  CO   100%  Owned by Aetna Health Holdings, LLC
Aetna Health Inc.  CT   100%  Owned by Aetna Health Holdings, LLC
Aetna Health Inc.  DE   100%  Owned by Aetna Health Holdings, LLC
Aetna Health Inc.  FL   100%  Owned by Aetna Health Holdings, LLC
Aetna Health Inc.  GA   100%  Owned by Aetna Health Holdings, LLC
Aetna Health of Illinois Inc.  IL   100%  Owned by Aetna Health Holdings, LLC
Aetna Health Inc.  LA   100%  Owned by Aetna Health Holdings, LLC
Aetna Health Inc.  MD   5 6%  Owned by Aetna Health Holdings, LLC (2)

Aetna Health Inc.  MA   100%  Owned by Aetna Health Holdings, LLC
Aetna Health Inc.  MI   100%  Owned by Aetna Health Holdings, LLC
Aetna Health Inc.  MO   100%  Owned by Aetna Health Holdings, LLC
Aetna Health Inc.  NH   100%  Owned by Aetna Health Holdings, LLC
Aetna Health Inc.  NJ   100%  Owned by Aetna Health Holdings, LLC
Aetna Health Inc.  NY   100%  Owned by Aetna Health Holdings, LLC
Aetna Health of the Carolinas Inc.  NC   100%  Owned by Aetna Health Holdings, LLC
Aetna Health Inc.  OH   100%  Owned by Aetna Health Holdings, LLC
Aetna Health Inc.  OK   100%  Owned by Aetna Health Holdings, LLC
Aetna Health Inc.  PA   100%  Owned by Aetna Health Holdings, LLC
Aetna Health Inc.  TN   100%  Owned by Aetna Health Holdings, LLC
Aetna Health Inc.  TX   100%  Owned by Aetna Health Holdings, LLC
AET Health Care Plan, Inc.  TX   100%  Owned by Aetna Health Holdings, LLC
Aetna Dental of California Inc.  CA   100%  Owned by Aetna Health Holdings, LLC
Aetna Dental Inc.  NJ   100%  Owned by Aetna Health Holdings, LLC
Aetna Dental Inc.  TX   100%  Owned by Aetna Health Holdings, LLC
Aetna RX Home Delivery, LLC  DE   100%  Owned by Aetna Health Holdings, LLC
Aetna Health Management, LLC  DE   100%  Owned by Aetna Health Holdings, LLC
NYLCare Health Plans, Inc.  DE   100%  Owned by Aetna Health Holdings, LLC
Chickering Claims Administrators, Inc.  MA   100%  Owned by Aetna Health Holdings, LLC
Aetna Specialty Pharmacy, LLC  DE   40%  Owned by Aetna Health Holdings, LLC
AET Health Care Plan of California, Inc.  CA   100%  Owned by Aetna Health Holdings, LLC
Aetna Dental Maintenance Organization, Inc.  TX   100%  Owned by Aetna Health Holdings, LLC
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  State of     
Subsidiary  Incorporation  Ownership (1)  Subsidiary
Chickering Benefit Planning Insurance Agency, Inc.  MA  100%    Owned by Aetna Health Holdings, LLC
Provider Networks of America, Inc  DE  100%    Owned by Aetna Health Holdings, LLC
CMBS Holdings, L.L.C.  CT  99%    Owned by Aetna Life Insurance Company (3)

AHP Holdings, Inc.  CT  100%    Owned by Aetna Life Insurance Company
PE Holdings, LLC  CT  100%    Owned by Aetna Life Insurance Company
Tanker Six, LLC  DE  100%    Owned by Aetna Life Insurance Company
Azalea Mall, L.L.C.  DE  100%    Owned by Aetna Life Insurance Company
BPC Equity, Inc.  DE  100%    Owned by Aetna Life Insurance Company (4)

BPC Equity, LLC  DE  99%    Owned by Aetna Life Insurance Company (4)

Canal Place, LLC  DE  100%    Owned by Aetna Life Insurance Company
Aetna Government Health Plans, LLC  DE  100%    Owned by Aetna Life Insurance Company
Aetna Partners Diversified Fund, LLC  DE  90%    Owned by Aetna Life Insurance Company (5)

Trumbull One, Inc.  CT  100%    Owned by Aetna Life Insurance Company
Trumbull Four, Inc.  CT  100%    Owned by Aetna Life Insurance Company
Aetna Health Administrators, LLC  PA  100%    Owned by Aetna Life Insurance Company
Commercial Avenue and First Street Investors LLC  DE  100%    Owned by Aetna Life Insurance Company
Montebello Town Center Investors LLC  DE  100%    Owned by Aetna Life Insurance Company
Aetna Partners Diversified Fund, LLC  DE  10%    Owned by Aetna Health and Life Insurance Company (5)

PHPSNE Parent Corporation  DE  55%    Owned by AUSHC Holdings, Inc.
U.S. Healthcare Advantage, LLC  DE  100%    Owned by Aetna Financial Holdings, LLC
Aetna Health Information Solutions, Inc.  DE  100%    Owned by Aetna Financial Holdings, LLC
@Credentials Inc.  DE  100%    Owned by Aetna Financial Holdings, LLC
U.S. Healthcare Properties, Inc.  PA  100%    Owned by Aetna Financial Holdings, LLC
Aetna Intelihealth Inc.  DE  100%    Owned by Aetna Financial Holdings, LLC
Integrated Pharmacy Solutions, Inc.  FL  100%    Owned by Aetna Financial Holdings, LLC
Aetna Capital Management, LLC  DE  100%    Owned by Aetna Financial Holdings, LLC
Bentana Technologies, Inc.  CT  20%    Owned by Aetna Financial Holdings, LLC (6)

Aetna Workers’ Comp Access, LLC  DE  100%    Owned by Aetna Financial Holdings, LLC
Aetna Behavioral Health, LLC  DE  100%    Owned by Aetna Financial Holdings, LLC
Aetna Health Inc.  WA  100%    Owned by NYLCare Health Plans, Inc.
Aetna Health Inc.  MD  44%    Owned by NYLCare Health Plans, Inc. (2)

Aetna Health Inc.  ME  100%    Owned by NYLCare Health Plans, Inc.
NYLCare of Texas, Inc.  TX  100%    Owned by NYLCare Health Plans, Inc.
NYLCare of New England, Inc.  DE  100%    Owned by NYLCare Health Plans, Inc.
Sanus of New York and New Jersey, Inc.  NY  100%    Owned by NYLCare Health Plans, Inc.
Managed Care Coordinators, Inc.  DE  100%    Owned by U.S. Healthcare Advantage, LLC
Aetna Integrated Informatics, Inc.  PA  100%    Owned by U.S. Healthcare Advantage, LLC
Aetna Insurance Company of Connecticut  CT  100%    Owned by AHP Holdings, Inc.
CMBS Holdings, Inc.  TX  100%    Owned by AHP Holdings, Inc.
CMBS Holdings, Inc. - II  CT  100%    Owned by AHP Holdings, Inc. (3)

Aetna Affordable Housing, Inc.  CT  100%    Owned by AHP Holdings, Inc.
AE Fourteen, Incorporated  CT  100%    Owned by AHP Holdings, Inc.
Aetna Life Assignment Company  CT  100%    Owned by AHP Holdings, Inc.
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  State of     
Subsidiary  Incorporation  Ownership (1)  Subsidiary
Aetna/Area Corporation  CT   100%  Owned by AHP Holdings, Inc.
Aetna Real Estate Properties, Inc.  CT   100%  Owned by AHP Holdings, Inc.
Bentana Technologies, Inc.  CT   80%  Owned by AHP Holdings, Inc. (6)

Aetna Life & Casualty (Bermuda) Limited  Bermuda   100%  Owned by Aelan Inc.

(1)  Percentages are rounded to the nearest whole percent and are based on ownership of voting rights.
(2)  Aetna Health Holdings, LLC owns 56% directly and NYLCare Health Plans, Inc. owns 44% directly of Aetna Health Inc. (MD).
(3)  CMBS Holdings, Inc. - II owns 1% of CMBS Holdings, L.L.C.
(4)  BPC Equity, Inc. owns 1% of BPC Equity, LLC.
(5)  Aetna Life Insurance Company owns 90% and Aetna Health and Life Insurance Company owns 10% of Aetna Partners Diversified Fund, LLC.
(6)  Aetna Financial Holdings, LLC owns 20% and AHP Holdings, Inc. owns 80% of Bentana Technologies, Inc.
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Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors
Aetna Inc.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statement (No. 333-54046) on Form S-3 and the registration statements (No. 333-52120, 52122,
52124, 73052, 87722, 87726) on Form S-8 of Aetna Inc. of our reports dated March 1, 2005 with respect to the consolidated balance sheets of Aetna Inc.
and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the
years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2004, and the related financial statement schedule, Management’s Assessment of the Effectiveness of Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting as of December 31, 2004 and the Effectiveness of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting as of December 31, 2004, which
reports appear in the December 31, 2004, Annual Report on Form 10-K of Aetna Inc.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Hartford, Connecticut
March 1, 2005

 



 

Exhibit 24.1

Power of Attorney

We, the undersigned directors of Aetna Inc. (the “Company”), hereby severally constitute and appoint Alan M. Bennett, William J. Casazza and Ronald M.
Olejniczak, and each of them individually, our true and lawful attorneys-in-fact, with full power to them and each of them to sign for us, and in our names
and in the capacities indicated below, the Company’s 2004 Annual Report on Form 10-K and any and all amendments thereto to be filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, hereby ratifying and confirming our signatures as they may be signed by our said
attorneys to such Form 10-K and to any and all amendments thereto.

Dated as of February 25, 2005

 

       
/s/ Betsy Z. Cohen    /s/ Michael H. Jordan   
Betsy Z. Cohen, Director    Michael H. Jordan, Director   
       
/s/ Barbara Hackman Franklin    /s/ Jack D. Kuehler   
Barbara Hackman Franklin, Director    Jack D. Kuehler, Director   
       
/s/ Jeffrey E. Garten    /s/ Edward J. Ludwig   
Jeffrey E. Garten, Director    Edward J. Ludwig, Director   
       
/s/ Earl G. Graves    /s/ Joseph P. Newhouse   
Earl G. Graves, Director    Joseph P. Newhouse, Director   
       
/s/ Gerald Greenwald    /s/ Judith Rodin   
Gerald Greenwald, Director    Judith Rodin, Director   
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Exhibit 31.1

Certification

I, John W. Rowe, M.D., certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Aetna Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter
(the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

       
Date: March 1, 2005    /s/ John W. Rowe, M.D.   

   John W. Rowe, M.D.   
   Chairman and Chief Executive Officer   

 



 

Exhibit 31.2

Certification

I, Alan M. Bennett, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Aetna Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter
(the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

       
Date: March 1, 2005    /s/ Alan M. Bennett   

   Alan M. Bennett   
   Chief Financial Officer   

 



 

Exhibit 32.1

Certification

The certification set forth below is being submitted to the Securities and Exchange Commission in connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Aetna
Inc. for the period ended December 31, 2004 (the “Report”) solely for the purpose of complying with Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the
“Exchange Act”) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code.

John W. Rowe, M.D., the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Aetna Inc., certifies that, to the best of his knowledge:

1.  the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act; and

2.  the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Aetna Inc.

       
Date: March 1, 2005    /s/ John W. Rowe, M.D.   

   John W. Rowe, M.D.   
   Chairman and   
   Chief Executive Officer   

 



 

Exhibit 32.2

Certification

The certification set forth below is being submitted to the Securities and Exchange Commission in connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Aetna
Inc. for the period ended December 31, 2004 (the “Report”) solely for the purpose of complying with Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the
“Exchange Act”) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code.

Alan M. Bennett, the Chief Financial Officer of Aetna Inc., certifies that, to the best of his knowledge:

1.  the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act; and

2.  the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Aetna Inc.

       
Date: March 1, 2005    /s/ Alan M. Bennett   

   Alan M. Bennett   
   Chief Financial Officer   
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